
1 
 

Planning, Taxi Licensing & Rights of Way 
Committee 

 
Meeting Venue 
By Teams 

 

 
 

County Hall 
Llandrindod Wells 

Powys 
LD1 5LG 

 
Meeting Date 
Thursday, 2 December 2021 

 
Meeting Time 
10.00 am 

 
For further information please contact 
Carol Johnson 
01597826206 
carol.johnson@powys.gov.uk 

 25 November 2021 
 

 

Mae croeso i chi siarad yn Gymraeg neu yn Saesneg yn y cyfarfod, a bydd 
gwasanaeth cyfieithu ar y pryd ar gael.  
You are welcome to speak Welsh or English in the meeting, and a simultaneous 
translation service will be provided. 

 

AGENDA 

 
1.  APOLOGIES  

 
To receive apologies for absence. 
 
 

2.  MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING  

 
To authorise the Chair to sign the minutes of the previous meeting of the Committee 
held on 11 November 2021 as a correct record. 
(Pages 3 - 6) 
 

Planning 
 

 

3.  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

 
a) To receive any declarations of interest from Members relating to items to be 
considered on the agenda.  
b) To receive Members' requests that a record be made of their membership of 
town or community councils where discussion has taken place of matters for the 
consideration of this Committee.  
c) To receive declarations from Members of the Committee that they will be 
acting as 'Local Representative' in respect of an individual application being 
considered by the Committee.  

Public Document Pack



d) To note the details of Members of the County Council (who are not Members 
of the Committee) who will be acting as 'Local Representative' in respect of an 
individual application being considered by the Committee. 
 
 

4.  PLANNING APPLICATIONS FOR CONSIDERATION BY THE COMMITTEE  

 
To consider the reports of the Head of Property, Planning and Public Protection and 
to make any necessary decisions thereon. 
 
(Pages 7 - 8) 
 

4.1.  Updates 

 Any Updates will be added to the Agenda, as a Supplementary Pack, 
wherever possible, prior to the meeting. 
 
 
 

4.2.  20/1314/FUL Land at Brynygroes Farm, Ystradgynlais, SA9 1LF 

 (Pages 9 - 80) 
 
 

4.3.  21/1399/FUL Station House, Talerddig, Llanbrynmair, Powys, SY19 
7AL 

 (Pages 81 - 94) 
 
 

5.  DECISIONS OF THE HEAD OF PROPERTY, PLANNING AND PUBLIC 
PROTECTION ON DELEGATED APPLICATIONS  

 
To receive for information a list of decisions made by the Head of Property, Planning 
and Public Protection under delegated powers. 
(Pages 95 - 118) 
 

6.  PLANNING PROTOCOL  

 
To consider revisions to the Planning Protocol. 
(Pages 119 - 162) 
 
 
 



Planning, Taxi Licensing & Rights of Way Committee Thursday, 11 November 2021 

 

MINUTES OF A MEETING OF THE PLANNING, TAXI LICENSING & RIGHTS OF 
WAY COMMITTEE HELD AT BY TEAMS ON THURSDAY, 11 NOVEMBER 2021 

 
PRESENT 
County Councillor K Lewis (Chair) 
 
County Councillors G Jones, L V Corfield, L George, E M Jones, M J Jones, H Lewis, 
D R Price, K Laurie-Parry, G Pugh, D Selby, K S Silk, L Skilton, M Weale, 
G I S Williams, R Williams and J Wilkinson 
 

1.  APOLOGIES  

 
Apologies for absence were received from County Councillors F H Jump, P C 
Pritchard, E Vaughan and D H Williams. 

 

2.  MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING  

 
The Chair was authorised to sign as a correct record the minutes of the meeting 
held on 21 October 2021 subject to the following amendments to minute 5: 

5(a) to read as follows - County Councillor K Laurie-Parry declared a 
personal and prejudicial interest in application 20/0311/FUL because she 
was a tenant of the applicant. 
5 (c) to read as follows - The Committee noted that Councillor K Laurie-
Parry (who is a member of the Committee) due to her significant personal 
and prejudicial interest was seeking another member to act as ‘local 
representative’ in respect of 20/0311/FUL.   

and subject to the following amendment to minute 6.5: 
6.5 to read: As Councillor K Laurie-Parry was unable to find a member to 
speak as a local representative, the Solicitor read her statement out on 
her behalf. 

 

Planning 
 

 

3.  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

 
(a) There were no declarations of interest. 
 
(b) The Committee noted that no Member requested that a record be made of 
their membership of a Community Council where discussion had taken place of 
matters for the consideration of this Committee. 
 
(c) The Committee noted that no Member (who is a member of the 
Committee) would be acting as ‘local representative’ in respect of any application 
on the agenda. 
 
(d) The Committee noted that no Member (who is not a member of the 
Committee) would be speaking as the ‘local representative’ in respect of any 
application on the agenda. 
 

Page 3

2



Planning, Taxi Licensing & Rights of Way Committee Thursday, 11 November 2021 

 

In respect of a councillors’ membership of the Campaign for the Protection of 
Rural Wales [CPRW] the Solicitor advised that where they are an ordinary 
member of the organisation they do not have an interest to declare. 
 
County Councillor K Silk left the meeting due to technical difficulties. 
  

4.  PLANNING APPLICATIONS FOR CONSIDERATION BY THE COMMITTEE  

 
The Committee considered the report of the Head of Property, Planning and 
Public Protection (copies filed with the signed minutes). 
 

 
4.1 Updates 

 
The Members confirmed that they had received and had time to read the update 
circulated the previous day and prior to the meeting. 
 
 

4.2 19/0743/FUL  Llanshay Farm, Llanshay Lane, Knighton, Powys LD7 
1LW 

 
Grid Ref:   E: 329700 N: 271835 
 
Valid Date:   03.06.2019 
 
Community Council: Knighton Town Council 
 
Applicant:   Mr Thomas Price 
 
Location: Llanshay Farm, Llanshay Lane, Knighton, Powys, 

LD7 1LW 
 
Proposal: Erection of 2 no. poultry buildings and associated 

infrastructure 
 
Application Type:  Full Application 
 
Holly Adams-Evans spoke on behalf of Knighton Town Council. 
Karen Plant and Camilla Saunders spoke on behalf of Sustainable Food 
Knighton against the application. 
Tom Price spoke as the applicant and Ian Pick spoke as the agent. 
 
In response to a question regarding the management of the manure the Senior 
Planning Officer advised that in the application as originally submitted the 
manure would be taken to another farm for spreading.  However, in this 
amended application the manure would be transported to an anaerobic digester 
plant in Whitchurch.  A condition was recommended which would prohibit the 
spread of manure on the land and if the applicant wished to do so, a new 
application would need to be made.  She advised that the application indicated 
that of the 46 lorry movements per flock, six lorry movements would be for the 
transport of the manure.  The capacity of the Whitchurch Biogas plant to take the 
manure was questioned.  The Senior Planning Officer advised that there are 
contingency measures included in the manure management plan, which could 

Page 4



Planning, Taxi Licensing & Rights of Way Committee Thursday, 11 November 2021 

 

include some storage at the application site but the intention was that the manure 
would be collected by Whitchurch Biogas.  
 
She advised that the applicant had demonstrated a need for the development 
through the application process and the report looked at the balance between the 
proposed development and its impact and benefit of home grown food.  
However, she advised that the application had to be determined in line with 
planning policy and officers considered that it was not contrary to any planning 
policy.  The Committee was advised that the approved housing development 500 
metres from the application site was a material consideration.  The Senior 
Planning Officer advised that the housing development had been considered and 
the current application does not have an unacceptable impact on the housing 
development. 
 
In response to question regarding cumulative impact the Senior Planning Officer 
advised that there is no guidance or planning policy regarding the definition of 
intensive agriculture.  However, the Planning Authority had agreed that units in a 
5km radius should be taken into account when considering cumulative impact.  
Therefore, all intensive poultry units [IPUs] had been taken into account when 
considering the impact of this application in terms of noise and odour. She also 
advised that the Environmental Statement concludes that there is no impact at 
this point in time.  
 
In response to a question regarding the rights of way the Senior Planning Officer 
advised that Countryside Services had not objected to the application.  The 
Professional Lead – Planning advised that an Informative Note was proposed to 
ensure the applicant was aware that a Temporary Traffic Regulation Order would 
be required when any works were needed on the highway in respect of the 
installation of pipework. 
 
In response to a question regarding the control of flies the Environmental Health 
Officer advised that the Environmental Permit had been granted by Natural 
Resources Wales [NRW] and a condition was recommended in respect of the 
control of pests. 
 
It was moved and duly seconded to approve the application as recommended by 
the officer. 
 

RESOLVED: Reason for decision: 

that the application be granted 
consent, subject to the 
conditions set out in the report 
which is filed with the signed 
minutes. 

As officer’s recommendation as 
set out in the report which is 
filed with the signed minutes. 

 
County Councillor K Silk re-joined the meeting. 

 

5.  DECISIONS OF THE HEAD OF PROPERTY, PLANNING AND PUBLIC 
PROTECTION ON DELEGATED APPLICATIONS  

 
The Committee received for information a list of decisions made by the Head of 
Property, Planning and Public Protection during the period between 15 October 
2021 and 3 November 2021. 

Page 5



Planning, Taxi Licensing & Rights of Way Committee Thursday, 11 November 2021 

 

 

Rights of Way 
 

 
 

6.  APPLICATION TO CORRECT THE REGISTER OF COMMON LAND  

 
The Committee considered the application to correct the Register of Common 
Land, sections 22 and Schedule 2 of the Commons Act 2006 – Application 20-
002CA, Register unit RCL026, Bryngwyn and Newchurch Hills, community of 
Painscastle. 
 
In response to a question the Assistant Commons Registration and Definitive 
Map Officer advised that the application had been advertised and processed in 
accordance with the relevant regulations. 
 
 

RESOLVED 
that application 20-002CA be granted as made and that 0.44 hectares 
of land be removed from the Register of Common Land, as shown on 
the plan at appendix 3. 

 
 
The Professional Lead – Planning updated the Committee on River SACs and 
phosphate issues.  He advised that he chairs an All Wales Planning sub-group 
which is considering these issues.  A range of work is being undertaken by 
interested parties including the following: 

 Carmarthenshire Planning Authority working with NRW – development of 
a nutrient calculator, which will be made available to all authorities in due 
course. 

 NRW – the management of sludge from septic tanks and waste water 
treatment works. 

The Committee noted that this work would probably lead to updated guidance 
being issued by NRW and this would be shared with the Committee. 
 
The Committee also noted that NRW and Welsh Water were looking at the use 
of wetlands for the removal of phosphates.  Work was also being done on 
“additionality” to determine whether developments could be screened out from 
the need to consider phosphates. 
 
In response to a question the Professional Lead – Planning advised that 
betterment schemes such as adding in additional septic tanks for a neighbour, as 
part of a proposed development, had yet to be permitted.  He advised an 
application was currently being considered and NRW had not raised any issues 
under the Habitat Regulations when consulted.   
 
The Committee noted that the solutions to the phosphates issues would result in 
increased costs and that it was an environmental constraint and not just a 
planning issue.  

 
County Councillor K Lewis (Chair) 

Page 6



Planning, Taxi Licensing and Rights of Way Committee 
2nd  December 2021 

 
For the purpose of the Government (Access to Information) Act 1985, the 

background papers relating to each individual planning application constitute all the 
correspondence on the file as numbered in the left hand column. 

Applications for consideration by Committee: 
 

Application No:                                     Nature of Development: 
Community:                                          Location of Development: 
O.S. Grid Reference:                            Applicant: 
Date Received:                                     Recommendation of Head of Planning: 
 

20/1314/FUL 
 
 
Ystradgynlais Community 
 
 
299115 2677477 
 
 
21:08:2020 
 
 

 Full: Residential development and 
associated works 
 

Land at Brynygoes Farm, Ystradgynlais  
SA9 1LF 
 
Matthew Morgan 
 
Recommendation: 
 
Conditional Consent 
 

21/1399/FUL 
 
Llanbrynmair Community 
 
 
293092 299437 
 
 
06/08/2021 
 

Change of Use of Residential Dwelling into 
a Registered Childrens Home 
 
Station House, Talerddig, Llanbrynmair, 
Powys SY19 7AL 
 
Ms Jan Coles 
 
Recommendation: 
 
Conditional Consent 

 

Page 7

4



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Planning, Taxi Licensing and Rights of Way Committee Report 
 

Application 
Number: 

20/1314/FUL 
 

Grid Ref: E: 299115 

N: 267747 

Community 
Council: 

 Ystradgynlais Community Valid Date: 21.08.2020 

 
Applicant: Mr Matthew Morgan 
 
Location: Land at Brynygroes Farm, Ystradgynlais, SA9 1LF. 
 
Proposal: Full planning application for residential development and associated works 
 
Application Type: Full Application 
 
 
The reason for Committee determination 
 
The application has been called in by the Local Member.  
 
Consultee Responses 
 
Consultee Received 

  

 
PCC-Contaminated Land Officer – first 

response  

6th Jan 2021 

The subject site is identified as being an area of mining and quarrying, and a 'High Risk 

Development Area' as it is a coal mining area which is potential contaminated land. 

In relation to planning application, the following advice is provided for the consideration of 

Development Control. 

Firstly, the consultants must qualify themselves as 'appropriately qualified' to undertake a 

mine gas risk assessment. When specialist assessments are undertaken the LPA should 

be confident that the organisation making that assessment has a level of professional 

accreditation that can be relied upon. This is discussed in various best practice 

documents and is expanded upon in the forthcoming Ciria 'good practice of for risk 

assessment for mine gas emissions' i.e. 

'Anyone carrying out a mine gas risk assessment and mitigation design should be suitably 

qualified or experienced as required under the definition of 'competent persons" in the 

Page 9

4.2



 

 

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) in England and equivalents in the devolved 

regions. They should be a Chartered professional member of an appropriate organisation 

and with additional accreditation (e.g. SoBRA6 accredited risk assessor for permanent 

gases or a similar level of qualification such as SiLC7 or RoGEP8 ). They should have 

demonstrated competence in geology, understanding of mining and the processes that 

can cause gas to be produced in mines and how it can migrate to the surface and into 

buildings, as well as gas risk assessment techniques'. 

I have asked the consultant for such qualification, but none has been forthcoming to date. 

Whilst I provide specific comments to their desk study below, I will be unable to 

recommend conditions until this matter has been resolved (because the conditions 

specify 'an appropriately qualified person'). 

Secondly, gas protection measures to CS2 standard must be installed in all properties in 

a coal mining area. However, one of the objectives of the mine gas risk assessment must 

be that this level of protection is sufficient to mitigate the gas risk. We will not accept 

these measures in lieu of a gas monitoring programme. 

Thirdly, it is accepted there is a body of previous work undertaken at the site of which 

there is likely useful data that the desk study has not fully explored. This is particularly 

relevant in respect of the potential for the presence of groundwater. The consultant does 

not appear to have identified the correlation between groundwater and mine gas, this is a 

significant omission. 

Finally, I will not make comments on the intrusive investigation as this would be accepting 

of the desk study, which I am not for the reasons detailed below. 

Specific comments 

Terra Firma Desk Study Review 

1. The qualifications of the author, checker and authoriser are not shown?; 

2. The desk study includes reports that are not licenced for use by a third party; 

3. S2.1 states that three properties in the centre of the site are excluded from the 

development, however these properties must still be considered as viable receptors. 

Furthermore, the property that is subject to a planning application has not been signed off 

and therefore is still at risk; 

4. Fig 2.12 and following plans have been taken directly from a third party report - this 

should be removed and not relied on, the consultant must produce their own versions; 

5. S.2.6.1 states 'Surface and shallow groundwater flows will follow the site topography. 

Page 10



 

 

Surface waters in the west of the site may be received by the unnamed stream that flows 

along or close to the western site boundary' this information appears to have been 

referenced from an envirocheck report rather than from field data - which will be required 

to verify such statements; 

6. S.3.2.2 states 'As the farm was for raising livestock no fertiliser of pesticides would 

have been applied to the land'. Evidence of the land use is required? 

7. S.3.2.2 states 'There are no records for animal burial pits on site.' How was this 

information sourced? 

8. S.3.2.2 makes reference to assessment criteria without plant uptake - what is the 

justification for this? 

9. S.3.2.3 discusses gas risk and correctly identifies mine gas as a potential source of 

risk. However, I cannot agree the level of risk assigned in Table 3.1 without a robust, 

developed CSM. Significant factors have not been considered which should be 

addressed: 

o Groundwater has only been considered as a receptor to contamination rather than 

consideration of its impact on mine gas - this is a significant omission; 

o Groundwater levels and rebound. Consideration of pathways requires greater 

investigation/assessment than provided, data from previous investigations may be of use 

such as groundwater levels and permeability tests (rather than generic statements on an 

opinion of permeability from logs); 

o Are groundwater levels recovered or rising - provide evidence; 

o If recovering what is the rate of rise? 

o Are any workings flooded or not? 

o Are water levels linked to other mine systems? 

o A schematic showing the relevant seams, workings in respect of the site is 

recommended. 

10. Site investigation proposals. I have significant concerns in respect of the proposals 

particularly around characterising gas risk and monitoring which does not appear to be 

specific to understanding mine gas risk. The monitoring proposals are not acceptable to 

characterise risk at this site and appear to be little different to a A.N.Other low risk site, for 

example, evidenced by an intention to monitor on a fortnightly basis over three months 

and suggesting where an installation will be before drilling has taken place. This is not 

best practice by existing guidance, or in the context of the draft 'good practice for risk 

Page 11



 

 

assessment for mine gas emissions 'guidance which states the following aspects should 

be considered in a mine gas investigation: 

o A sufficient number of boreholes that should be drilled to an adequate depth to 

determine whether former workings are present at shallow depth. Often boreholes are 

drilled to at least 30m but the depth is site specific. 

o A sufficient number of boreholes should be drilled to an adequate depth to determine 

the significance of potential migration pathways and the variation in any superficial 

deposits that may act as a barrier to mine gas migration. 

o Investigation of shafts may require close spaced probes, trenches or geophysical 

methods. 

o Gas monitoring at the bottom of the hole, every 1m as drilling progresses provides 

useful information for gas risk assessment (as well as being a useful indicator for 406 

health and safety of the drillers). This is typically a condition of a Coal Authority license to 

drill into Coal Measures. 

o Careful logging of rock cores is necessary to identify fracture spacing, infill and 

direction. 

o Logging of nearby rock exposures can provide useful information on fracturing. 

o Gas monitoring well response zones should be designed to ensure that they are within 

a single stratum, i.e. within made ground, any superficial deposits, in a worked coal seam 

or in the surrounding Coal Measures strata. Response zones should not span multiple 

strata or worked seams and surrounding strata. The response zone for each monitoring 

well should be designed after completion of drilling and the ground conditions in the well 

are known. This requires close communication between the drillers and the site 

geotechnical/geo-environmental engineer or engineering geologist. 

o If the superficial deposits are thick then gas monitoring may only be required in those 

deposits in order to show gas migration is not occurring from deeper workings. 

o Surface emissions measurements and flux chamber testing can provide valuable 

information when combined with gas monitoring data from wells. 

o If workings are shallow and flooded then timeseries groundwater monitoring may be 

necessary to confirm variations do not result in levels dropping and exposing the 

workings to air. 

11. The investigation in the plant hire area should be supplemented with trial pits as 

window samples do not provide sufficient coverage; 

Page 12



 

 

12. S4.4 excludes an assessment of controlled waters. Given the concern over 

understanding the water regime on site this is not acceptable; 

13. The CSM does not consider all reasonably foreseeable changes caused by the 

development such as drainage and service channels, hard standings, foundations etc. 

Additionally, there is a 'cover all' statement that grouting mitigates all potential pathways 

whilst making no acknowledgement of the limitations of grouting i.e. levels checked to 

ensure it has not dropped, ensuring all holes are grouted etc. 

Intrusive mining risk assessment report, Terra Firma, November 2020 

14. Plans from an unlicenced third party report should be removed or reproduced by the 

consultant; 

15. The investigation has been undertaken without the desk study or proposals being 

approved; 

16. I will provide no further comments on this report until the mine gas issues raised in 

respect of the desk study have been resolved. 

 

Land Contamination – second response              5th October, 2021 

 

The subject site is identified as potential contaminated land due to being a former 

mining of coal and lignite, and a Coal Authority defined Development High Risk Area. I 

have reviewed previous reports and the following latest submissions: • Terra Firma 

letter report dated 10th September 2021, ref: RH/15761/GRA-P1; and • EPG letter 

dated 23rd September 2021, ref: EPG/2021/TFW_BFY_L1.  

My previous objections related to the absence of an appropriate mine gas risk 

assessment being undertaken by an appropriately qualified person(s). This has now 

been satisfied with the current and continued use of EPG consultants.  

Therefore, the following pre-commencement conditions are appropriate. Condition A  

Condition 1. Preliminary Investigation No development shall commence until a 

preliminary investigation and assessment of the nature and extent of contamination 

affecting the application site area has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 

local planning authority.  

This investigation and assessment must be carried out by or under the direction of a 

suitably qualified competent person, in accordance with current guidance and best 

Page 13



 

 

practice, and shall assess any contamination on the site, whether or not it originates on 

the site. The report of the findings shall include: Cyngor Sir County Council − A desk 

study − A site reconnaissance − Formulation of an initial conceptual model − A 

preliminary risk assessment If the preliminary risk assessment identifies there are 

potentially unacceptable risks a detailed scope of works for an intrusive investigation, 

including details of the risk assessment methodologies, must be prepared by a suitably 

qualified competent person.  

The contents of the scheme and scope of works are subject to the approval in writing of 

the local planning authority. All work and submissions carried out for the purposes of 

this condition must be conducted in accordance with DEFRA and the Environment 

Agency’s ‘Model Procedures for the Management of Land Contamination, CLR 11’ and 

the WLGA document ‘Development of Land Affected by Contamination: A Guide for 

Developers’ (2017).  

Condition 2. Site Characterisation No development shall take place until a site 

investigation of the nature and extent of contamination has been carried out, by a 

suitably qualified competent person, in accordance with a methodology which has 

previously been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. A 

written report of the findings of the site investigation shall be made available to the local 

planning authority before any development begins. The written report should include an 

appraisal of remedial options and identification of the most appropriate remediation 

option(s) for each relevant pollutant linkage. The report is subject to the written approval 

of the local planning authority.  

Condition 3. Submission of Remediation Scheme No development shall take place until 

a detailed remediation scheme to bring the site to a condition suitable for the intended 

use by removing unacceptable risks to human health, buildings and other property and 

the natural and historical environment must be prepared, and is subject to the approval 

in writing of the local planning authority. The scheme must include all works to be 

undertaken, proposed remediation objectives and remediation criteria, timetable of 

works and site management procedures. 

The scheme must ensure that the site will not qualify as contaminated land under Part 

2A of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 and The Contaminated Land (Wales) 

Regulations 2006, as amended by The Contaminated Land (Wales) (Amendment) 

Regulations 2012, in relation to the intended use of the land after remediation. The 

detailed remediation scheme should not be submitted until written approval for 

Condition 2 has been received from the local planning authority. All work and 

submissions carried out for the purposes of this condition must be conducted in 

accordance with DEFRA and the Environment Agency’s ‘Model Procedures for the 

Management of Land Contamination, CLR 11’ and the WLGA document ‘Development 

Page 14



 

 

of Land Affected by Contamination: A Guide for Developers’ (2017).  

Condition 4. Specification and Verification Methodologies for ground gas protection The 

subject site is located in a former coal mining area and ground gas protection measures 

which meet, as a minimum, Characteristic Situation 2 (CS2) specifications, as 

prescribed in BS8485:2015+A1:2019 ‘Code of Practice for the Design of Protective 

Measures for Methane and Carbon Dioxide Ground Gases for New Buildings’, must be 

installed.  

Appropriately qualified personnel as described in Ciria C735 must verify the installation 

and qualify the installer. The specification and verification methodologies, for the 

installation of the ground gas protection measures, must be provided in a Verification 

Plan (as described in Ciria C735) that is part of the Remediation Strategy and must be 

approved in writing, by the local planning authority, prior to the commencement of the 

development.  

Condition 5. Implementation of Approved Remediation Scheme The approved 

remediation scheme must be carried out in accordance with its terms prior to the 

commencement of development other than that required to carry out remediation, 

unless otherwise agreed in writing by the local planning authority. The local planning 

authority must be given two weeks written notification of commencement of the 

remediation scheme works.  

If during the course of development any contamination is found that has not been 

identified in the site investigation, additional measures for the remediation of this source 

of contamination shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning 

authority. The remediation of the site shall incorporate the approved additional 

measures before the development is occupied.  

Following completion of the measures identified in the approved remediation scheme, a 

verification report that demonstrates the effectiveness of the remediation carried out 

must be produced, and is subject to the approval in writing of the local planning 

authority. The verification report contents must be agreed with the local planning 

authority before commencement of the remediation scheme. All work and submissions 

carried out for the purposes of this condition must be conducted in accordance with 

DEFRA and the Environment Agency’s ‘Model Procedures for the Management of Land 

Contamination, CLR 11’ and the WLGA document ‘Development of Land Affected by 

Contamination: A Guide for Developers’ (2017).  

Condition 6. Long Term Monitoring and Maintenance A monitoring and maintenance 

scheme to include monitoring the long-term effectiveness of the proposed remediation 

over a period of duration to be agreed in writing with the local planning authority and the 

provision of reports on the same must be prepared, both of which are subject to the 

Page 15



 

 

approval in writing of the local planning authority. Within six months following the 

completion of the measures identified in that scheme and the achievement of the 

remediation objectives, reports that demonstrate the effectiveness of the monitoring and 

maintenance carried out must be produced, and submitted to the local planning 

authority.  

This must be conducted in accordance with DEFRA and the Environment Agency's 

'Model Procedures for the Management of Land Contamination, CLR 11'.  

Reason (common to all): To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future 

users of the land and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled 

waters, property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be 

carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite 

receptors in accordance with policy DM10 of the adopted Local Development Plan 

2011-26.  

 

Note to Applicant Potential Contamination The Council’s guidance leaflet on the 

development of sites with potential land contamination is attached. Further advice on 

compliance with this condition may be obtained by contacting the Environmental Health 

Service on 01597 827645. 

Welsh Water 16th Sep 2020 

We refer to your planning consultation relating to the above site, and we can provide the 

following comments in respect to the proposed development.  

We would request that if you are minded to grant Planning Consent for the above 

development that the    Conditions and Advisory Notes provided below are included within 

the consent to ensure no detriment to existing residents or the environment and to Dwr 

Cymru Welsh Water's assets. 

SEWERAGE  We can confirm capacity exists within the public sewerage network in order 

to receive the domestic foul only flows from the proposed development site.  Surface 

Water Drainage  As of 7th January 2019, this proposed development is subject to 

Schedule 3 of the Flood and Water Management Act 2010. The development therefore 

requires approval of Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS) features, in accordance with 

the 'Statutory standards for sustainable drainage systems - designing, constructing, 

operating and maintaining surface water drainage systems'. It is therefore recommended 

that the developer engage in consultation with the Local Authority, as the determining 

SuDS Approval Body (SAB), in relation to their proposals for SuDS features.  

Please note, Dwr Cymru Welsh Water is a statutory consultee to the SAB application 

Page 16



 

 

process and will provide comments to any SuDS proposals by response to SAB 

consultation.    

No surface water from any increase in the roof area of the building /or impermeable 

surfaces within its curtilage shall be allowed to drain directly or indirectly to the public 

sewerage system.   

Reason: To prevent hydraulic overloading of the public sewerage system, to protect the 

health and safety of existing residents and ensure no pollution of or detriment to the 

environment.   

Advisory Notes   

The applicant may need to apply to Dwr Cymru / Welsh Water for any connection to the 

public sewer under S106 of the Water industry Act 1991. If the connection to the public 

sewer network is either via a lateral drain (i.e. a drain which extends beyond the 

connecting property boundary) or via a new sewer (i.e. serves more than one property), it 

is now a mandatory requirement to first enter into a Section 104 Adoption Agreement 

(Water Industry Act 1991). The design of the sewers and lateral drains must also conform 

to the Welsh Ministers Standards for Gravity Foul Sewers and Lateral Drains, and 

conform with the publication "Sewers for Adoption"- 7th Edition. Further information can 

be obtained via the Developer Services pages of www.dwrcymru.com   The applicant is 

also advised that some public sewers and lateral drains may not be recorded on our 

maps of public sewers because they were originally privately owned and were transferred 

into public ownership by nature of the Water Industry (Schemes for Adoption of Private 

Sewers) Regulations 2011. The presence of such assets may affect the proposal.  In 

order to assist us in dealing with the proposal the applicant may contact Dwr Cymru 

Welsh Water. Under the Water Industry Act 1991 Dwr Cymru Welsh Water has rights of 

access to its apparatus at all times. 

Our response is based on the information provided by your application.  Should the 

proposal alter during the course of the application process we kindly request that we are 

re-consulted and reserve the right to make new representation. 

 

 

PCC-(S) Highways 9th Oct 2020 

Thank you for consulting the Highway Authority (HA) on this planning application, which 

covers the provision of proposed residential development and associated works, on land 

at Brynygroes Farm, Ystradgynlais.  

Page 17



 

 

 

 This proposal is supported by the submission of a Transport Assessment (TA) 

which considers the existing planning uses on the site, the existing base-line highway 

network characteristics in the vicinity of the site, including provision for pedestrians and 

transport, and the potential impacts on the network post-development. The TA seeks to 

address any matters arising, through the implementation of appropriate mitigation 

measures. 

 

 The HA has previously provided detailed highway observations in respect on the 

proposal, as part of the Pre-Application Consultation Process (PAC). This formal 

application includes a supplementary Highways Note which seeks to address and 

mitigate the matters raised by the HA during the PAC process. This submission does not 

however, include any revised or additional drawings from those issued as part of the PAC 

process, however the HA have been advised by the highway consultant acting on behalf 

of the applicant, that revised drawings will be made available during consideration of this 

matter.   

Overview 

This site is allocated for housing within the adopted LDP and already benefits from 

planning permission (2014/1133) which covers the provision of 138 dwellings; that 

particular permission Includes the requirement to construct a new dedicated vehicular 

and pedestrian access from the A4067. The current proposal, which is of a similar scale 

to that consented, seeks to utilise an alternative existing access from the A4067 via an 

existing three arm right turn ghost island junction to the south of the consented scheme. 

The existing access currently serves agricultural land, several residential properties and 

an existing plant hire business which it is understood, will be relocated post development. 

The junction also previously served an open cast coal mine haul road which is now 

disused. 

 

Existing and Proposed Trip Generation & Existing Road Network 

 

The TA. Does not include automated traffic count records, within in the vicinity of the site 

entrance. The HA is however satisfied, that the manual count surveys undertaken at the 

site entrance and, the DfT data collected from a neighbouring site, adequately 

demonstrates that the A4067 and the proposed junction to the site, both contain sufficient 

capacity to accommodate the level of traffic a site of this nature would generate. 

Page 18



 

 

Accordingly, the projected vehicular movements generated by this proposal, the 

distribution of that traffic and the effects of such on the existing network is projected to 

have a "negligible impact" on the existing highway network. As such the HA raises no 

concerns in this regard.  

 

Access from A4067 

Whilst the existing three arm junction clearly has sufficient vehicular capacity to serve the 

proposed development, the current junction geometry, alignment and gradients are not 

considered appropriate to serve a residential setting. The existing junction was originally 

designed to convey very large HGV's and as such, the current junction incorporates large 

junction radii and an excessively wide carriageway. The HA contends that such features 

will inevitably encourage high entry and exits speeds and conflicting vehicle movements 

post development, which would be detrimental to highway safety. The existing access 

gradient is also steep and does not include a suitable dwell area to enable vehicles to 

navigate the junction safely.  

Whilst the submission includes proposals to reprofile the existing junction, in order to 

improve the access gradients,  the submitted long sections do not include suitable vertical 

curves between the transition in gradients and there is very little detail included with 

regards to the proposed tie in with the existing haul road, or the likely cover levels 

available over the existing culvert, which will ultimately cross the proposed access road. 

The developer has previously been advised the structural integrity of this feature will need 

to be determined and that future road cover levels will need to include appropriate 

vehicular loading calculations, to demonstrate that the culvert is suitable to withstand 

future vehicular loadings. No additional detail has been included to address the geometry 

issues. 

 

 

 Notwithstanding the comments included within the submitted Transport Note, 

internal discussions with Engineering Design colleagues have confirmed that past 

discussions between them and the applicant in respect of the access, centred on 

agreeing access gradients only. Whilst the previously agreed gradients are not disputed 

at this stage, such agreement was always subject to the inclusion of suitable vertical 

transition curves and the submission of suitable detail in respect of the culvert. 

Discussions were never held in respect of the geometry of the junction. 

Since the submission of this application, the HA has had subsequent discussions with the 

Page 19



 

 

highway consultant acting on behalf of the applicant, during which, an undertaken was 

given by the consultant that additional/revised drawings will be submitted to address the 

issues identified by the HA. These are still awaited at the time of producing this report. 

In consideration of the above, the HA therefore contends that the current access 

proposals fail to comply with PPW, TAN 18 and Policies DM13 (10) & T1 (1&2) of the 

adopted LDP. 

 

Active Travel Links to/from the Site  

The submission includes very basic detail to support a proposal to upgrade the existing 

bridleway (BW75) which crosses the site, to provide an Active Travel (AT) link from the 

development site to the A4067 and beyond. It is further proposed that the existing 

footways and crossing points sited within and alongside the A4067, are sufficient in their 

current form, to meet the Active Travel provision for the development. 

The PCC Active Travel group have been consulted on the proposals and have concluded 

that the submitted proposals fail on numerous grounds, to satisfy Active Travel 

requirements. The following points summarise their findings: 

 

1. The proposed option is not suitable for Active Travel (AT). It fails on a number of 

the key areas of the AT Design guidance (please note this is statutory guidance) which 

outlines minimum standards for active travel routes which are substantially more rigorous 

than those applied to a public footpath or bridleway which is aimed at different users and 

volumes. To say that people can use an existing bridleway for AT is not acceptable. It still 

needs to meet AT standards particularly for large developments of this nature.  

 

2. Active Travel provision from this site should include a combined 3m wide link to 

accommodate both cyclists & Pedestrians. The submitted proposals clearly fail in this 

respect. 

3. The submitted proposals do not include any long sections to demonstrate that the 

requisite gradients can be achieved to meet Active Travel requirements. 

4. There is no detail submitted to demonstrate that a suitable contiguous link can be 

provided to the A4067. 

5. The surface would need to be upgraded to a suitable standard (see AT guide). 

Page 20



 

 

6. The existing footway adjacent to the A4067 in each direction to the splitter islands 

is substandard, both in terms of the surface and width. 

7. An uncontrolled crossing at this point along the A4067 is not considered 

acceptable. Table 6.3. within the AT Design guidance recommends that crossings at such 

locations with traffic flows in excess of 8000 AADT 2-way movements should incorporate 

a Toucan Crossing.  

8. The internal AT links are considered extremely poor. Pedestrians will not be 

inclined to take such an arduous route. More direct routes for each part of the site are 

therefore required. 

9. The facilities beyond the A4067 have no specific facilities for cyclists and contain 

narrow footway provision.   

Notwithstanding the comments included within the submitted Transport Note, the HA 

therefore contends that the current AT proposal fails to comply with PPW, TAN 18 and 

Policies DM13 (10) & T1 (1&2) of the adopted LDP. 

 

Internal Layout 

 

o The horizontal alignment is not configured to a design speed 20mph; additional 

traffic calming provision is required. 

o Footway widths are not 2m. 

o Adequate service margin provision shall be provided where footways are not 

required. 

o A detailed car parking schedule is required. 

o Internal junction and forward visibility shall be detailed. 

o Turning provision is required on the road serving properties 102-109. 

o Turning head provision for Roads 2 & Road 5 (Plot 82) needs to be enlarged to 

avoid pedestrian and plot parking conflict. 

o Access arrangements for the existing properties are not clear. 

Whilst the above points are relevant, the HA understands that revised drawings are being 

prepared to address these matters 

Page 21



 

 

Surface Water Proposals 

o This element of the scheme shall be subject to a separate SAB approval, however 

it should be advised that services (including foul sewerage systems) are not normally 

permitted within permeable areas. 

Additional comments 

o An independent Stage 1-2 road safety audit has not been submitted as previously 

requested. This requirement should ideally be undertaken when a more appropriate 

design has been brought forward. 

o 85% speed measurements (ATC's) have not been taken along the A4067. This is 

an important consideration when assessing the crossing provision at the A4067. 

o No cross sections are available. 

o Additional information is sought on the watercourse diversion and the effects that 

may have on the access road. 

o The highway layout drawing includes proposals to remodel the existing haul road 

access and reconfigure the priority, however no detail is included within the submission to 

suggest its intended use or the gradients achievable. 

Conclusion 

Considering the above observations, the HA contends that the current application is 

contrary to PPW, TAN 18 and Policies DM13 (10) & T1 (1&2) of the adopted LDP. It 

therefore objects to the current proposal. 

 
PCC (S) Land Drainage                                                                             7th October, 2021 
 
Apologies for the delay in responding on this one. As discussed in our telephone 
conversation earlier, there are no ‘showstopper’ issues from our point of view. I have 
listed below what has been agreed in relation to surface water drainage for the site: 
 

1. A SAB Pre Application has been carried out for the site, which demonstrates that 
they have a suitable surface water drainage strategy for the development. 

2. The strategy identifies that infiltration is achievable in some sections of the site but 
there will still need to be a positive discharge, via an attenuated discharge rate, 
into the watercourse running through the development site. 

3. We have been in discussions with both the developers and consultants during the 
process and this will have helped to formulate a scheme that is acceptable to all 
parties. 

4. The consultants have asked for a commuted sum figure to be calculated but we do 

Page 22



 

 

not have enough information at present to be able to accurately provide a costing 
but a meeting has been scheduled for next week to resolve this. 

5. A full SAB Application will be required for the site. 
6. I am aware that discussions have taken place over the watercourse and culverted 

sections through the site and I believe that a solution has been reached with the 
Developers and Highways. 

 
I hope the above helps to clarify the situation but should you require any further 
information then please do not hesitate to contact the SAB Team. 
 

 

PCC-Ecologist – First response 

 

15th Jul 2021 

Thank you for the opportunity to comment on planning application 20/1314/FUL which 

concerns an application for residential development and associated works at Land At 

Brynygroes Farm, Ystradgynlais, SA9 1LF. 

I have reviewed the proposed plans, aerial images as well as records of protected and 

priority species and designated sites within 2km of centre of the proposed development. 

 

The data search identified 65 records of protected and priority species within 500m of the 

centre of the proposed development. Species recorded within 500m of the proposed 

development include bat species; common pipistrelle, soprano pipistrelle and Nathusius's 

pipistrelle, and otter, hedgehog, common toad, barn owl, swallow, goshawk, grasshopper 

warbler, mistle thrush, cuckoo, small phoenix moth and bluebell. 

No statutory and no non-statutory designated sites were identified within 500m of the 

proposed development. One or more Ancient Woodland (AW) sites were identified within 

500m of the proposed development. The northern part of the proposed site abuts an AW 

site. Having taken into account the location of the AW in relation to the proposed 

development and the nature of the works proposed, it is considered that there would be 

no likely negative impacts directly or indirectly to the AW and/or any associated features 

subject to implementation of appropriate external lighting measures. 

I have reviewed the Updated Ecological Survey produced by Fiona Elphick dated 21st 

July 2019 and consider that the survey methods and effort employed were in accordance 

with current National Guidelines. 

The report details the findings of a phase 1 habitat survey and a protected species habitat 

suitability assessment undertaken on 21st July 2019 as well as the results of an 

associated desk-based study. Habitats identified within and immediately adjacent to the 

Page 23



 

 

proposed development site include: 

 

o Improved grassland 

o Ditch 

o Trees 

The proposed development site was surveyed for its ability to support a number of 

protected and priority species including 

o Bats 

o Nesting birds 

o Badger 

o Water vole 

o Otter 

 

The site had been subject to previous ecological survey in 2009, 2012 and 2014 to inform 

a previous planning application. The current survey was undertaken to confirm that there 

had been no material changes in the condition of the site resulting in adverse impacts to 

priority habitats and protected species. The proposed development is located on 

improved grassland bordered by mature trees and woodland. There are three dwellings 

within the site and a large implement shed; all three dwellings will be retained within the 

development but the implement shed will be demolished. During previous survey the 

buildings were fully surveyed for roosting bats and no roosts were found.  

As there are no longer plans to demolish the dwellings these were not subject to further 

survey. The commercial implement shed was confirmed to have negligible potential for 

bats and did not require further survey. The habitats on site remained unchanged, are 

considered to be of relatively low ecological value and no evidence of protected species 

was observed. The field ditch crossing the site was considered unsuitable for water vole 

and otter but the surrounding trees provide habitat for nesting birds.  

The mature trees around the site were also confirmed to have potential to support 

roosting bats. These are to be retained within the development. Removal of some smaller 

trees will be required and survey to inspect for roosting bats will be required prior to any 

felling works, although none of these trees were currently considered to have potential 

roost features. Several stands of Japanese knotweed were confirmed from the site in 

Page 24



 

 

2009. A treatment programme has been undertaken and the invasive plant was not 

visible on site at the time of survey. 

Measures were recommended to avoid impact to nocturnal wildlife commuting and 

foraging in the area and to nesting birds from insensitive lighting during construction and 

operation development phases. Tree protection measures were also considered 

necessary during construction works. It is considered that these measures are 

appropriate to avoid adverse impact to biodiversity, including protected species. An 

Ecological Construction Method Statement is provided outlining reasonable avoidance 

measures to prevent impact to wildlife, including along the watercourses to the west and 

south of the site, during the construction and operational phases of development. 

It is, therefore, recommended that adherence to the Ecological Construction Method 

Statement is secured through an appropriately worded planning condition. 

Biodiversity enhancements were proposed, including creation of a habitat strip with reptile 

refugia along the outside of the western edge of the site to further separate the 

development from the stream corridor; planting of hedgerows within the development to 

significantly enhance connectivity and provide habitat for a range of species; installation 

of bat on mature trees and bat tubes and swift nesting boxes on some of the proposed 

dwellings.  

The submitted Landscape Masterplan identifies the area to the west of the proposed 

development will be retained and managed as a habitat buffer, the SuDS attenuation 

pond will be planted with native aquatic plants, bat boxes will be installed on mature trees 

and sections of native hedgerow will be planted within the site along with specimen trees 

(an acceptable species list is included). An area of grassland will also be allowed to grow 

at the south-eastern edge of the site to benefit wildlife, including amphibians. All of the 

proposed measures are to be welcomed and it is considered that the enhancements are 

appropriate to the proposed development and are in accordance with the requirements of 

Part 1 Section 6 of the Environment (Wales) Act 2016.  

It is, therefore, recommended that the identified biodiversity enhancement measures are 

secured through an appropriately worded planning condition.  

The Landscape Masterplan does not indicate the materials to be used to form the 

external boundary of the site (except along the western edge) or boundaries between 

plots. Poorly designed and installed boundary features are considered highly detrimental 

to hedgehog populations because they hinder commuting, foraging and dispersal. 

Hedgehog is included on the Environment (Wales) Act 2016, s7 list of species of priority 

conservation importance within Wales. Therefore, in accordance with Powys LDP Policy 

DM2, all permanent fencing installed as part of a development is required to include gaps 

Page 25



 

 

of sufficient size and number at ground level to enable hedgehogs to move through sites. 

Access points comprising gaps of 130mm x 130mm (5" x 5") should be created within the 

fence line at ground level with at least one gap along each aspect of all fenced 

boundaries. If gravel boards are to be used, hedgehog friendly designs are available and 

should be used.  

It is, therefore, recommended that provision of hedgehog friendly fencing within the 

proposed development scheme is secured through an appropriately worded planning 

condition.  

The landscape plan and surface drainage plan identify that a section of watercourse west 

of the existing access will be diverted and the existing culvert under the access road will 

be lowered. No information has been provided regarding potential impact on otter, a 

European Protected Species. Otters are considered likely to be present on suitable 

watercourses within Powys, including in or near urban areas. It will be necessary to 

ensure that development does not result in adverse impacts to otter, a European 

Protected Species. As part of the planning process the Local Planning Authority must 

establish whether the three tests as defined by the Conservation of Habitats and Species 

Regulations 2017 (as amended) have been met prior to determining the application. 

The three tests that must be satisfied are:  

1. That the development is "in the interests of public health and public safety, or for other 

imperative reasons of overriding public interest, including those of a social or economic 

nature and beneficial consequences of primary importance for the environment".  

2. That there is "no satisfactory alternative"  

3. That the derogation is "not detrimental to the maintenance of the populations of the 

species concerned at a favourable conservation status in their natural range"  

In order to address the 3rd test appropriate mitigation would need to be identified. 

Mitigation need to be clearly illustrated on the architectural plans where appropriate and 

must provide sufficient detail to enable them to be subject to a planning condition/s106 

agreement.  

Further information is required to confirm the likelihood of potential resting places for otter 

along the affected watercourse and assess the impacts of culverting this section and of 

proposed works to the existing culvert. This will require an assessment by a suitably 

experienced and qualified ecologist. Impacts to otter and other protected species, such as 

water vole, would be assessed as part of the SAB approval process and for issuing of 

Ordinary Watercourse Consent. If information has been provided to inform either consent, 

Page 26



 

 

this should be forwarded to the LPA for consideration. 

Therefore, it is considered that there is insufficient information with regard to potential 

impacts to otter, a Habitat Regulations Species, to determine this application.  

A report of a Tree Survey produced by ArbTS Ltd has been submitted to inform the 

application. The tree survey was conducted in accordance with BS5837:2012 Trees in 

relation to design, demolition and construction - Recommendations. A number of high 

quality trees (category A and B) were present around the site and within the AW site 

adjacent to the eastern boundary. These are to be retained within the development. The 

Arboricultural Impact Assessment identified that two individual ash trees and a group of 

two ash trees will be felled to accommodate the proposal, predominantly due to poor 

health; all were identified as suffering from ash dieback disease. A number of other ash 

trees on site also exhibited signs of the disease but no further felling was recommended 

at the current time. Some works to a limited number of trees along the south-eastern 

boundary (branch removal) will also be required. Given the comments of the submitted 

ecology report, it is recommended that a condition is applied to any consent requiring a 

pre-felling inspection for potential bat roosting features by a suitably licensed ecologist. 

The report also includes a Tree Protection Plan and Arboricultural Method Statement 

which outlines the measures to be taken to protect the root protection zones of all 

retained trees during construction, and the proposed management works. Subject to 

implementation of the Plan and Method Statement and additional landscape planting 

proposed it is considered that there will not be an adverse biodiversity impact as a result 

of the proposal. 

It is, therefore, recommended that adherence to the submitted Tree Protection Plan and 

method Statement are secured through an appropriately worded planning condition. 

 

I have reviewed the submitted Domestic Lighting Plan which identifies that external 

lighting is designed to restrict upward light spill, particularly at the rear of all properties. 

However, although use of low wattage bulbs is referred to no specification is provided 

regarding the colour spectrum of the bulbs. External lights must use a LED bulb of a 

colour that avoids the cool-white part of the colour spectrum, i.e. <4,000oK, preferably 

with a peak wavelength of >550nm (~3000°K). Furthermore, it is not clear why a hooded 

design of luminary is not deemed appropriate for the front of the bungalow properties. 

The chosen design casts light spill directly upwards and is completely contrary to 

guidelines. This will deter use of any suitable habitat areas and wildlife corridors created 

within the development. If this design is insisted upon an isolux diagram must be 

submitted (as recommended in the ecology report) to demonstrate that there will not be 

an adverse impact to wildlife. It is considered that hooded designs which restrict light to 

Page 27



 

 

path surfaces and entrance ways are sufficient for most safety and security purposes. 

Further details of the external lighting to be installed is required to confirm that there will 

be no adverse impact to nocturnal wildlife. 

Given the proximity of the proposal to adjacent watercourses it is considered appropriate 

that pollution prevention measures are identified to ensure that construction of the site is 

undertaken in a manner that safeguards the environment and biodiversity. It is 

recommended that preparation of the Pollution Prevention Plan refers to relevant 

guidance including GPP 1: A general guide to preventing pollution and GPP5 Works and 

maintenance in or near water, which can be found at: 

https://www.netregs.org.uk/environmental-topics/pollution-prevention-guidelines-ppgs-

and-replacement-series/ 

It is, therefore recommended that submission of a Pollution Prevention Plan is secured 

through an appropriately worded planning condition. 

Due to the location of the proposed development and the nature of the works required to 

establish such a development, it will be necessary to demonstrate that construction of the 

site will be undertaken in a manner that prevents or reduces the likelihood of the 

introduction and/or spread of invasive non-native species in the environment. It is 

acknowledged that Japanese knotweed on the site appears to have been treated 

successfully following a professional eradication programmed. However, a Biosecurity 

Risk Assessment will be required that identifies measures and actions to control and 

eradicate any invasive non-native species should they be found on and adjacent to the 

site. Japanese knotweed is prevalent in the vicinity and accidental re-introduction to the 

site must be avoided. Consideration should also be given to the potential for works to 

spread or introduce invasive non-native species (plant, animal or pathogen) to the 

watercourse habitat during culverting works. 

It is, therefore, recommended that submission of a Biodiversity Risk Assessment is 

secured through an appropriately worded planning condition. 

Further comment will be provided once the required information has been received. 

 

Ecology – second response      6th October, 2021 
 
I have reviewed the submitted information relating to culvert works which confirms details 
discussed with the proposal’s design team previously. The works to the existing culvert 
will include provision of an otter shelf which will ensure there is no adverse impact to otter 
movement the design could be considered an improvement on the current structure which 
is welcome. A trash screen will be fitted over the existing outlet – again this will be of an 

Page 28



 

 

otter friendly design to be confirmed as part of the Ordinary Watercourse Consenting 
process.  
 
It is, therefore, recommended that adherence to the identified otter mitigation and 
enhancement measures are secured through an appropriately worded planning condition.  
 
Justification for the proposed lighting scheme has been provided and measures taken to 
minimise lighting impacts to sensitive habitat features, notably the river corridor and 
boundaries. Non-hooded luminaries restricted to the fronts of a proportion of properties 
(type C bungalows) and are deemed essential for security reasons. Although this is not 
considered ideal, particularly if street lampposts are also to be installed, these generally 
face into the development and away from boundary habitats. 
 
Therefore, should you be minded to approve the application I recommend inclusion of the 
following conditions: 
 

The development shall be undertaken in strict accordance with the following  
i) Section 6 (Recommendations) and Ecological Construction Method Statement, 
Updated Ecological Survey, Land at Brynygroes, by Fiona Elphick, dated 21st July 
2019 
ii) Landscape Masterplan, Drawing no. RS200613-01-03 
iii) Section 6.0 (Arboricultural Method Statement) and Appendix 4 (Tree Protection 
Plan), Arboricultural Report, by ArbTS Ltd, dated 21st June 2021 
iv) Proposed Access Arrangement & Culvert Works, Drawing no. C-SK13 
The measures identified shall be adhered to and implemented in full and 
maintained thereafter. 

  
Reason: To comply with Powys County Council’s LDP Policies DM2 in relation to The 
Natural Environment and DM4 in relation to Landscape and to meet the requirements of 
Planning Policy Wales (Edition 11, February 2021), TAN 5: Nature Conservation and 
Planning and Part1 Section 6 of the Environment (Wales) Act 2016. 
 
Prior to commencement of development (including ground works and vegetation 
clearance), a Construction Environment Management Plan shall be submitted to the 
Local Planning Authority and approved in writing. The CEMP shall include but not be 
limited to the following: 

 Ecological Construction Method Statement 

 Pollution prevention plan 

 Biosecurity risk assessment 

 Tree protection plan 

 Lighting during construction phase 

 Ecological enhancement plan to include number, location and timing of 

implementation of reptile refugia; and timing of planting, site preparation and 

aftercare measures. 

 Roles and responsibilities 

The approved measures shall be adhered to and implemented in full.  

Page 29



 

 

 
Reason: To comply with Powys County Council’s LDP Policies DM2 in relation to The 
Natural Environment and to meet the requirements of Planning Policy Wales (Edition 11, 
February 2021), TAN 5: Nature Conservation and Planning and Part1 Section 6 of the 
Environment (Wales) Act 2016. 
 

Prior to any works being undertaken to trees, a bat survey of affected trees shall 
be undertaken by a suitably qualified ecologist. The survey shall be undertaken in 
accordance with Collins, J. (ed) (2016) Bat Surveys for Professional Ecologists: 
Good Practice Guidelines (3rd edn.) The Bat Conservation Trust, London. Any 
works shall be undertaken in accordance with expert ecologist and arborist advice 
and European Protected Species licence requirements where appropriate. 

 
Reason: To comply with Powys County Council’s LDP Policies DM2 in relation to The 
Natural Environment and to meet the requirements of Planning Policy Wales (Edition 11, 
February 2021), TAN 5: Nature Conservation and Planning and Part1 Section 6 of the 
Environment (Wales) Act 2016. 
 

Access points to facilitate movement of hedgehog and small mammals shall be 
incorporated into all fencing forming any part of the site boundary or boundary 
between individual plots. A minimum of one access point comprising gaps of 
130mm x 130mm (5” x 5”) shall be installed along each fenced aspect of the 
boundary. If gravel boards are to be used, hedgehog friendly designs shall be 
used. The access points shall be maintained thereafter. 

 
Reason: To comply with Powys County Council’s LDP Policies DM2 in relation to The 
Natural Environment and to meet the requirements of Planning Policy Wales (Edition 11, 
February 2021), TAN 5: Nature Conservation and Planning and Part1 Section 6 of the 
Environment (Wales) Act 2016. 
 
In addition, I consider it would be appropriate to include the following informatives: 
 
Protected Species 
Work should halt immediately and Natural Resources Wales (NRW) contacted for advice 
in the event that protected species are discovered during the course of the development. 
To proceed without seeking the advice of NRW may result in an offence under the 
Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 and/or the Wildlife & Countryside 
Act 1981 (as amended) being committed. NRW can be contacted by phone at 0300 065 
3000. 
 
 
Birds – Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) 
All nesting birds, their nests, eggs, and young are protected by law and it is an offence to: 
  

 intentionally kill, injure or take any wild bird 

 intentionally take, damage or destroy the next of any wild bird whilst it is in use or 

Page 30



 

 

being built  

 intentionally take or destroy the egg of any wild bird 

 intentionally (or recklessly in England and Wales) disturb any wild bird listed on 
Schedule 1 while it is nest building, or at a nest containing eggs or young, or 
disturb the dependent young on such a bird. 

  
The maximum penalty that can be imposed - in respect of a single bird, nest or egg - is a 
fine of up to 5,000 pounds, six months imprisonment or both. 
  
The applicant is therefore reminded that it is an offence under the Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) to remove or work on any hedge, tree or building 
where that work involves the taking, damaging or destruction of any nest of any wild bird 
while the nest is in use or being built (usually between late February and late August or 
late September in the case of swifts, swallows or house martins). If a nest is discovered 
while work is being undertaken, all work must stop, and advice sought from Natural 
Resources Wales and the Council's Ecologist. 
 
 
Bats - Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) and The Conservation of Habitats 
and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended).  
It is an offence for any person to:  
  

 Intentionally kill, injure or take any bats.  

 Intentionally or recklessly damage, destroy or obstruct access to any place that a 
bat uses for shelter or protection. This is taken to mean all bat roosts whether bats 
are present or not.  

  
Under the Habitats Regulations it is an offence to:  

 Damage or destroy a breeding site or resting place of any bat. This is an absolute 
offence - in other words, intent or recklessness does not have to be proved. 

  
The applicant is therefore reminded that it is an offence under the Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) and The Conservation of Habitats and Species 
Regulations 2017 (as amended) that works to trees or buildings where that work involves 
the disturbance of a bat is an offence if a licence has not been obtained from Natural 
Resources Wales. If a bat is discovered while work is being undertaken, all work must 
stop and advice sought from Natural Resources Wales and the Council's Ecologist. You 
can also call the National Bat helpline on 0345 1300 228 or email enquiries@bats.org.uk. 
 
 
Otters – Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) and The Conservation of Habitats 
and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended) 
Otters are known to be present on the majority of watercourses in Powys. The otter is 
fully protected under schedule 5 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) 
and Schedule 2 of The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017.  
 

Page 31

mailto:enquiries@bats.org.uk


 

 

It is therefore an offence to:  

 Deliberately capture, injure or kill an otter;  

 Deliberately disturb an otter in such a way as to be likely to significantly affect the 
local distribution or abundance of otters or the ability of any significant group of 
otters to survive, breed, rear or nurture their young;  

 Damage or destroy an otter holt;  

 Intentionally or recklessly disturb any otter whilst it is occupying a holt; or  

 Intentionally or recklessly obstruct access to a holt.  
  
Reasonable avoidance measures need to be implemented to ensure minimal impact to 
otter activity in the local area. These will include:  
  

 No night working or lighting of the works area;  

 Ensuring that no barriers to movement of otters along the river are created;  

 Keep unnecessary noise to a minimum during the works; and  

 Do not light any fires close to areas of vegetation.  
 
 

 

Environmental Protection 21st Sep 2020 

In view of the residential setting of the proposed development it is recommended that 

before any development commences a Construction Method Statement shall be 

submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority in respect of the 

control of noise and dust during the landscaping and construction phases.  

In addition it is recommended that the landscaping and construction period working hours 

and delivery times be restricted as follows: 

All works and ancillary operations which are audible at the site boundary shall be carried 

out only between the following hours: 

o 0800 - 1800 hrs Monday to Friday 

o 0800 - 1300 hrs Saturday 

o At no time on Sunday and Bank Holidays 

Deliveries to and removal of plant, equipment, machinery and waste, including soil, from 

the site shall also only take place within the permitted hours detailed above. 

Informative 

During construction (including soil movement and landscaping activities) the contractor 

Page 32



 

 

shall take all reasonable steps to prevent dust formation from dusty activities and any 

dust formed shall be prevented leaving the site by continuous watering down. 

 

Coal Authority 17th Sep 2020 

Thank you for your notification of 08 September 2020 seeking the views of the Coal 

Authority on the above planning application. 

 

The Coal Authority is a non-departmental public body sponsored by the Department of 

Business, Energy & Industrial Strategy.  As a statutory consultee, The Coal Authority has 

a duty to respond to planning applications and development plans in order to protect the 

public and the environment in mining areas. 

 

The Coal Authority Response: Substantive Concern  

 

I have reviewed the proposals and confirm that the application site falls within the defined 

Development High Risk Area; therefore within the application site and surrounding area 

there are coal mining features and hazards which need to be considered in relation to the 

determination of this planning application. 

The Coal Authority records indicate that the site has been subject to recorded shallow 

coal mining; thick coal seams outcrop within the site that may have been historically 

worked by illicit means and the presence of 4no. recorded mine entries (2no. on-site mine 

shafts and the zone of influence of an off-site mine entry and off-site mine adit). 

The planning application is accompanied by: 

o Site Investigation Factual Report, August 2009 prepared by Ground Investigation 

(Wales) Limited; 

o A letter regarding old mine shafts dated 29 June 2012 prepared by Dr Ian Williams 

Managing Director at Ground Investigation (geotechnical & geo-environmental 

consultants); 

o Phase 1 Geoenvironmental Risk Assessment, 12/03/2018 prepared by 

GeoConsult Limited, prepared for a proposed new dwelling only and not for residential 

development as per this current enquiry: Drawing No. R491 P-02F. 

Page 33



 

 

We note that this planning application is also accompanied by an Initial Assessment of 

Land Quality, dated November 2009 prepared by Ground Investigation Ltd.  The 

Assessment has been prepared for 33 acres of farmland, which includes this current 

application site and recommendations have been made that intrusive ground 

investigations are required in order to confirm the extent of shallow coal mine workings 

and the location / condition of the mine entries present within the site. 

The Coal Authority were consulted as part of the pre-application consultation process by 

Asbri Planning Ltd, of which our comments have been provided within the Pre Application 

Consultation Report, dated August 2020 (Section 6.1). 

We identified that as part of any formal planning application, the applicant submits and 

up-to-date, site and development specific Coal Mining Risk Assessment, informed by the 

submitted reports, in order for the applicant to demonstrate to the LPA that this site is, or 

can be made safe and stable.  We identified that the layout should be informed by the 

location and influencing distance of all mine entries, particularly the two on-site mine 

entries. 

We note that the Pre Application Consultation Report identifies that based on our 

comments "Further Site Investigation works are to be carried out on site to ensure a wider 

coverage of results are received to assess the impact of development on any mine 

entries, adits or shallow coal mining.  This report will be submitted to accompany the 

application and will be issued to the Coal Authority and the council's environmental health 

officer prior to determination of the application". 

On checking the LPA website, it does not appear that such a report has yet to be 

submitted.   

 

The Coal Authority is of the opinion that when a site is affected by the presence of 

recorded mine entries an attempt should be made to locate these specific mining features 

in order to inform the layout the development being considered. In accordance with 

Drawing No. R491 P-02F (Proposed Site Plan), the Coal Authority objects to the layout 

seeking approval as development will be taking place over and within the zone of 

influence (area of collapse) of the two on-site mine entries (plots 87 to 90 - Phase 2 

development).  

In light of the above, and as further site investigation information is to be submitted in 

support of this planning application (identified within the PAC Report), we would expect 

the results of intrusive ground investigations to inform the layout of this proposal, and for 

the applicant to amend the layout in order that adequate separation between the buildings 

and the mine entries are incorporated. The findings of the site investigations should also 

Page 34



 

 

inform the extent of remedial and / or mitigation measures required so that in the event of 

a catastrophic failure of the mine entries / shallow coal workings, there will be negligible 

impact on the development. 

Based on the information currently submitted, the Coal Authority does not yet consider 

that the applicant has demonstrated to the LPA that the site is suitable for the 

development proposed and the development will be safe and stable (Planning Policy 

Wales paras. 6.9.23 - 28) and therefore we currently object to this proposal (Layout - 

Phase 2). 

 

We welcome the opportunity to review and comment on further information / amended 

layout submitted in support of this planning application.  

 

Coal Authority 9th Aug 2021 

The Coal Authority Response: Material Consideration 

 

As you are aware, the Coal Authority objected to this planning application in our previous 

letter to you dated 17 September 2020 as we did not consider that the applicant had 

provided sufficient information to the LPA to demonstrate that the proposed development 

is, or can be made safe and stable (requirement of Planning Policy Wales paras. 6.9.23 - 

28).  In addition, we objected to the layout (Layout - Phase 2) as no consideration had 

been given to the layout of the development and the recorded mine entries recorded at 

this site. 

 

The planning application is now accompanied by an Intrusive Mining Risk Assessment 

Report, July 2021 prepared for the proposed development by Terra Firm (Geotechnical & 

Geoenvironmental Specialists).  The Report has been informed by the previously 

submitted Ground Investigation Reports, together with the results of further site 

investigation works in the form of rotary drilling and trial trenching.  Borehole logs / trial 

trenching works and how they relate to the layout being considered are appended to the 

Report. 

 

Having carried out a review of the abandonment plans for this area, the report author 

informs that whilst one of the on-site mine shafts (Shaft 2: CA shaft ref: 278210-017) and 

Page 35



 

 

the off-site mine adit is connected to coal workings, this could be an 'air shaft'.  The other 

recorded mine shaft (Shaft 1: CA shaft ref: 278210-016) is not shown to correspond to 

any other mining feature or workings and is not detailed on any other abandoned mining 

plan.  The report author considers that the existence of Shaft 1 is therefore doubtful. 

 

Having reviewed the previous site investigations (August 2009 Ground Investigation 

Report) together with the findings of the additional rotary drilling / trial trenching works 

(October 2020 and July 2021) Section 3.2 concludes that Shaft 1 does not exist.  

However it is likely that Shaft 2 and the mine adit and the line of the adit (roadway) were 

found to connect to shallow coal workings within the Four Feet Coal seam.  The adit / 

alignment of the roadway is illustrated on Figure 3.2.  

 

Section 3.3 informs that numerous coal seams were recorded across the site varying in 

depth and thickness however with the exception of the mine adit and adjoining localised 

workings in the Four-Feet Coal seam, no further evidence of past coal mining activity (no 

voids / broken ground) were encountered. Based on the 10:1 rock head to void ratio 

(CIRIA C758D - Abandoned mine workings manual) the report author identifies that it is 

unlikely that there is sufficient rock head cover above all or the majority of the Four-Feet 

Coal seam and therefore recommendations have been made that proof drilling on a close 

grid and grouting of all voids and backfilled workings / broken ground is required. Section 

4.1 goes on to state that the mine adit will only need grouting where it lies within 

influencing distance of new houses.  We would normally expect all roads, hardstanding, 

and other assets to be assessed within the development site and not just the 'planned 

houses' and the applicant should be made aware that the remedial measures will need to 

carried out under the terms and conditions of a Coal Authority's Permit.  Please note that 

any comments that the Coal Authority may have made in a Planning context are without 

prejudice to the outcomes of a Permit application. 

 

Section 4.1 adds that Shaft 2, if confirmed to be present, will also require grouting and 

therefore recommendations have been made at a grid of closely spaced holes are sunk to 

ascertain its position and extent of backfill prior to grouting.  Once stabilised an exclusion 

zone to development should be applied around the shaft.  However, based on the 

recorded depth to bedrock from current ground level at this location and an assumed 3m 

wide shaft a circular exclusion zone of 14m in diameter should be assumed. If the ground 

level is to be raised or reduced, or if the diameter of the shaft can be confirmed the size of 

the exclusion zone may be modified. We note that the layout of the development has 

afforded due consideration to the findings / recommendations of the above Report (R491 

Page 36



 

 

P-02 Revision I - Proposed Site Plan). 

 

In addition, to the remedial works, the report author confirms that above the area of 

treated mine workings, the use of a reinforced concrete raft type foundation/floor slab 

foundation should be employed. 

 

Section 4.2 states that as a result of both shallow coal mining / mine entries there 

remains a potential risk from mine gas.  As a minimum, gas protective measures in 

accordance with Gas Characteristic Situation 2, as defined by CIRIA C665 will be 

required. It is recommended that a site-specific gas risk assessment be performed to 

confirm these measures are adequate.  The LPA should liaise with their in-house 

Environmental Health team on this specific matter.  

 

The Coal Authority Recommendation to the LPA 

 

In light of the above, the Coal Authority considers that the applicant, based on the 

professional opinion / recommendations made by Terra Firm (Geotechnical & 

Geoenvironmental Specialists), has demonstrated to the LPA that the site can be made 

safe and stable for the proposed development (Planning Policy Wales, paras. 6.9.23 - 28) 

subject to the remedial / mitigation measures identified within Section 4.1 of the Intrusive 

Mining Risk Assessment Report, July 2021.     

 

The Coal Authority recommends the imposition of the following conditions: 

 

Prior to the occupation of the development, or it being taken into beneficial use, a signed 

statement or declaration prepared by a suitably competent person confirming that the site 

is, or has been made, safe and stable for the approved development shall be submitted to 

the Local Planning Authority for approval in writing.  This document shall confirm the 

completion of any remedial works and mitigation necessary to address the risks posed by 

past coal mining activity.      

 

The remedial works and mitigation measures shall be carried out in accordance with 

Page 37



 

 

authoritative UK guidance. 

 

This is our recommendation for condition wording. Whilst we appreciate that you may 

wish to make some amendment to the choice of words, we would respectfully request 

that the specific parameters to be satisfied are not altered by any changes that may be 

made. 

 

The Coal Authority withdraws its objection to the proposed development (Drawing No. 

R491 P-02 Revision I - Proposed Site Plan) subject to the imposition of the condition to 

secure the above.   

 

PCC-Rights Of Way Senior Manager – 

first response  

 

28th Sep 2020 

Thank you for the opportunity to comment on this planning application. 

 

The developer is advised that public footpaths 51 and 3 and bridleway 75 subsist 

through/abut the development site. It is strongly advised that the applicant checks the 

definitive line of the public rights of way over the site to ensure that they understand 

exactly where they are located. 

 

The proposed development directly effects the above paths and may obstruct or 

otherwise interfere with the path.  Countryside Services therefore wishes to submit a 

holding objection and advises the applicant to contact us directly to discuss potential 

options. 

 

If the safety of the public cannot be guaranteed at all times during construction, 

consideration should be given to applying for a temporary closure of the path. This is a 

separate procedure for which a fee applies. The process can take some time to put into 

place so early consultation with Countryside Services is recommended if a temporary 

closure is required.  

 

Page 38



 

 

DM1 - Planning Obligations; state that adequate infrastructure is necessary to serve the 

proposal, and that benefits are secured in the public interest to meet the additional 

demands of the development proposals on local communities, either on-site, off-site or 

via a financial contribution towards this. 

 

DM3 - Public Open Spaces; that for the development of 10 or more dwellings, appropriate 

open space should be provided either on or off site, together with provisions for its long-

term aftercare and maintenance, together with access routes to this open space  

 

DM13 - Design and Resources; the development should not have an unacceptable 

adverse impact on tourism assets, and provisions should be made to make developments 

inclusive to all. PROW or other recreation assets listed in Policy SP7(3) are enhanced 

and integrated within the development, or appropriately mitigated.  Development 

proposals should meet highway access requirements without adversely affecting safe and 

efficient traffic flow on the network. 4.2.80 states that the council will encourage 

developments which promote pedestrian and cycle friendly access, avoiding conflict with 

private motorised vehicles and provide appropriate links where possible. 4.2.83 states all 

new development should be highly accessible, with comprehensive integration into 

existing networks potentially through enhancement of existing PROW. 

 

E6 - if applicable Farm Diversification; covers the adequate provision for parking and 

storing of materials, and the construction / conversion of buildings within or immediately 

adjacent to existing farm buildings; this will require provisions for PROW to either be 

incorporated into the development or diverted to a suitable alternative route.  Farm 

diversification may be required to address additional traffic in accordance with paragraph 

3.14 of TAN 18. 

 

T1 - Travel, Traffic and Transport Infrastructure; covers the safe and efficient flow of 

traffic for all transport users, including vulnerable users, especially those making 'Active 

Travel' journeys by walking or cycling. 

 

T2 - Safeguarding of Disused Transport Infrastructure; to consider their use as open 

space corridors for walking and cycling. 

Page 39



 

 

 

RE1 - Renewable Energy; proposals for all types of renewable and low carbon energy 

development shall comply with all relevant policies in the LDP, with satisfactory mitigation 

to reduce the impact of the proposal and associated infrastructure, where necessary 

compensatory benefits will be sought through DM1 - Planning Obligations. 

 

TAN 18: Transport; 

2.3 ensure development includes appropriate provision for pedestrians, cyclists 

including those with mobility issues 

6.1 development plans should integrate policies and objectives for walking and cycling 

6.2 identify and protect existing and proposed routes suitable for the use of cyclists 

and walkers 

E2 Consultation with the Highway Authority for the formation or alteration of any road 

for which it is Highway Authority; or is likely to result in a material increase in volume or 

material change in character of the traffic entering or leaving a classified or proposed 

road; public rights of way are considered roads under the Road Traffic Regulation Act. 

F1 A condition may be necessary where works must be carried out in an existing 

highway in order to safely and efficiently accommodate traffic created by a development. 

F3 Developers will be required to pay the cost of any highway improvements where 

the need is directly created by their development. 

We would therefore advise that advice is sought from Countryside Services before any 

development begins. 

 

In the event of a successful planning permission please include a note advising that: 

 

o Development over, or illegal interference with, a public right of way, is a criminal 

offence and enforcement action will be taken against a developer who ignores the 

presence of affected public rights of way. This includes temporary obstructions such as 

rubble mounds, building materials, parked vehicles etc…   

 

Page 40



 

 

o Landscaping & Surfacing - .Advice will need to be sought before interfering or 

surfacing a public right of way. 

  

o New fencing or boundaries - The developer will need to seek a licence for a new 

structure if intending to create a boundary across a public footpath or bridleway. We 

cannot authorise a structure across a Restricted Byway or Byway Open to All Traffic. 

 

o Temporary closures - The developer can seek a temporary closure of a public right 

of way from the council if they feel the public may be at risk during development.   

 

o Legal Diversion - If development directly affects a public right of way, the 

developer will need to seek advice and apply for a legal diversion from the Council. No 

development can take place on a public right of way until a legal order is confirmed and 

the process may take at least 6 months.  For more information please discuss with 

Countryside Services at the earliest available opportunity.  

 

Rights of Way Senior Manager – second response – 7th October, 2021 

Thanks for the plan. I’ve just had a chat with the agent and I’m content that the latest 
revision is acceptable. 
 

 

Natural Resources Wales (Mid Wales) 

DPAS 

25th Sep 2020 

Thank you for consulting Cyfoeth Naturiol Cymru / Natural Resources Wales (NRW) 

about the above, which we received on 07/09/2020. 

NRW was consulted by the applicants at pre application stage. Our advice on the 

proposed scheme has changed because new information has been provided in support of 

the application. 

We continue to have significant concerns with the proposed development as 

submitted. We recommend you should only grant planning permission if the following 

Page 41



 

 

requirements are met. Otherwise, we would object to this planning application. 

 

Requirement 1 - Landscape: the submission of a Landscape and Ecological Management 

Plan (document) to demonstrate the proposal does not have a long-term adverse impact 

on the Brecon Beacons National Park. 

Requirement 2 - Lighting Plan: the submission of a revised lighting plan (drawing) to 

demonstrate the development does not affect the Brecon Beacons National Park or 

Protected Species. 

 

Landscape 

At its nearest point, the development is approximately 70m southwest and within the 

setting of the Brecon Beacons National Park (BBNP). The development's buildings would 

be clad in render, fibre cement cladding and reconstituted stone panel or slate cladding, 

with tile or slate roofs. 

We have reviewed the information available within this application and we note the PAC 

Report refers to a Landscape Visual Impact Assessment (LVIA) that was carried out in 

support of a previous Outline Application (P/2014/1133). The LVIA has not been 

resubmitted in support of this application, and, in any case, we are concerned that the 

LVIA for a different scheme will not demonstrate what is needed for this current 

application. 

Therefore, we cannot ascertain that sufficient information has been used to inform the 

scale, layout and design and materials of the development and proposed mitigation. 

 

Requirement 1 - Landscape: the submission of a Landscape and Ecological Management 

Plan (document) to demonstrate the proposal does not have a long-term adverse impact 

on the Brecon Beacons National Park. 

The PAC report indicates that your Authority does not require additional landscape impact 

assessments for this full application. We advise that the design and materials do not 

relate well to the local area. In our advice to the PAC stage of planning, we advised that 

the nearby historic village of Cwm Giedd comprises principally stone built traditional 

Page 42



 

 

buildings with slate roofs, as does the area of Heol Giedd in Ystradgynlais to the east. A 

development at this location would need to relate well to the character of Cwm Giedd and 

the Heol Giedd area in terms of its layout and use of materials. Therefore, we are 

concerned that the design and materials do not relate well to the local area, although the 

colours are muted. Further reference should be made to the guidance in the 

Ystradgynlais Residential Design Guide and to an assessment of the character of the 

local area. 

We have reviewed the Landscape Plan (drawing RS200613-01-03), but it does not 

include fences so it is not clear whether this plan compliments the block plan (drawing 

R491 P-03E), or whether the design has been modified to address the concerns we 

raised at the PAC stage. The proposed block plan illustrates close-boarded fencing along 

the west and north plot boundaries. It is NRW's opinion that close board fencing would 

have an adverse effect on visual amenity and should not be included along the north 

boundary with open countryside and the BBNP beyond. The north boundary would 

benefit from tree planting to supplement the hedgerow and help integrate the 

development in views towards the National Park, rather than fencing. 

The overall effects of light pollution should be considered given its location adjacent the 

BBNP, which is a Dark Sky Reserve. A lighting plan which demonstrates how light 

pollution impacts on the BBNP have been minimised is required. The applicants may find 

useful to refer to the BBNP Authority supplementary planning guidance on Light Pollution 

& Obtrusive Lighting. Advice on this issue is further detailed in the Protected Species 

section. 

 

Protected Species 

We have reviewed the updated survey report submitted in support of the above 

application  dated 21/07/2019 by Fiona Elphick and we concur with its conclusions. 

No European Protected Species (EPS) were found present within the area to be affected 

by the development and the potential for bat roosting was considered low, however the 

trees and ditches on and near the site are likely to be used by bats and otter for foraging 

and shelter. 

We welcome the recommendations for ecological enhancements and avoidance 

measures made in the report and we do not consider that the development is likely to be 

detrimental to the maintenance of the population of any EPS at a favourable conservation 

status in its natural range. 

Page 43



 

 

However, whilst we understand the erection of close-boarded fencing has been 

recommended to minimise light spill and direct disturbance of wildlife habitats such as 

woodland, streams and any newly planted hedgerows, their visual impact on the BBNP, 

must also be given due consideration. Ecological needs should be assessed in 

combination with any landscape mitigation requirements and summarised in a LEMP to 

demonstrate both ecology and landscape have been duly considered in the 

development's design and as suggested in the "Enhancement to benefit biodiversity" 

section of the updated survey report. 

A domestic lighting plan has been submitted, but we are not able to open this document 

on your Authority's website. We also note that the PAC states that the 'Revised Lighting 

Plan requires further work'. We would be able to make comments to this regard upon 

receipt of a detailed plan which should account for the ecologist's recommendations and 

include a lux plan for the site. All proposed exterior lighting (including but not limited to 

street lighting and pavement bollards) must be included in the lux study. The lux study 

should demonstrate no negative impacts on any ecological receptors such as protected 

species' commuting corridors and the visual amenity of the BBNP including dark skies 

and night-time tranquillity. 

Requirement 2 - Lighting Plan: the submission of a revised lighting plan to demonstrate 

the development does not affect the Brecon Beacons National Park or Protected Species. 

We note the ecology report's recommendations to achieve lux levels of no more than 0.5 

lux at the canopy edge of all tree lines adjacent to the development's boundaries. Whilst 

this would be desirable it may not be easily achievable. Please refer the applicant to the 

Bats and artificial lighting in the UK Guidance Note 08/18 published in partnership with 

the Institute of Lighting Professionals (ILP) and the Bat Conservation Trust (BCT), 2018. 

The lighting plan must be in line with this guidance note. 

The Lighting Plan should include (but not limited to): 

o Details of the siting and type of external lighting to be used, to include streetlights; 

o Drawings setting out light spillage in key sensitive areas; and 

o Details of lighting to be used both during construction and/or operation. 

 

Other Matters 

Our comments above only relate specifically to matters included on our consultation topic 

Page 44



 

 

list, Development Planning Advisory Service: Consultation Topics (September 2018), 

which is published on our website. We have not considered potential effects on other 

matters and do not rule out the potential for the proposed development to affect other 

environmental interests. 

We advise the applicant that, in addition to planning permission, it is their responsibility to 

ensure they secure all other permits/consents/licences relevant to their development. 

Please refer to our website for further details. 

Advice for the developer: 

Groundwater 

We refer you to the Environment Agency (2017) 'Approach to groundwater protection' 

position statements which have been adopted by NRW. In particular, Position Statement 

G13 (Sustainable drainage systems) which applies to this development. 

Advice on environmental considerations and the assessments needed to support your 

planning application can be found on our external website. 

For advice on how to deal with possible land contamination on your development visit: 

http://naturalresources.wales/guidance-and-advice/business-sectors/planning-

anddevelopment/ 

advice-for-developers/land-contamination/?lang=en 

For advice on how to protect groundwater at your development visit: 

http://naturalresources.wales/guidance-and-advice/business-sectors/planning-

anddevelopment/ 

advice-for-developers/protecting-groundwater/?lang=en 

Pollution Prevention 

Responsibility for preventing pollution rests with those in control of the development. 

Pollution Prevention Guidance should be read by those carrying out the work. 

All works at the site must be carried out in accordance with the Guidance for Pollution 

Prevention and of particular importance to this application is GPP5 'Works in, near or over 

Page 45



 

 

watercourses' which is available at: 

http://www.netregs.org.uk/environmental-topics/pollution-prevention-guidelines-ppgs-

andreplacement- 

series/guidance-for-pollution-prevention-gpps-full-list/ 

If a pollution incident does arise the site must inform us immediately via our incident 

hotline. 

 

Ward Councillor 15th Sep 2020 

With regard, to the above referenced application and the start of an associated 

consultation process I have received a number of local representations regarding the 

matter. Due to the apparent depth of feeling and the planning history of this site ,I ask for 

this application to be 'called in' for deliberation and consideration by the full Planning 

Committee. 

 

PCC-Commons Registration Officer 17th Sep 2020 

The Commons Registration Authority can confirm that part of the proposed development 

at Bryn-Y-Groes Farm under application number 20/1314/FUL is sited on Common Land 

that is registered under the Commons Registration Act 1965 as register unit CL128 

(Brecknockshire). 

Please be advised that the carrying out of 'restricted works' without the consent of the 

appropriate national authority i.e. the Welsh Government would be UNLAWFUL. It is 

noted from the applicant's Design & Access Statement that this is recognised and an 

application will be made to de-register a small area of common land.  Please note Powys 

County Council is not the determining authority, the Planning Inspectorate in Wales is 

responsible for determining applications on behalf of the Welsh Minister. Application 

forms and guidance about how to make an application under Section 16 of the Commons 

Act 2006 are available on the Welsh Government website: 

 

https://gov.wales/commons-act-2006-apply-under-section-16  

 

The Registration Authority also recommends the reading of the Welsh Government 

Page 46



 

 

'Common Land Consents Guidance' that was published in August 2014. This document is 

available at the following link: 

 

https://gov.wales/common-land-consents-guidance 

 
Public Responses 
 
There have been fifteen public comments: 2 support, I neutral and 12 objections. Whilst 
the majority of the objections were against the development in terms of drainage and 
the impact of recent floods on surrounding properties and the hope that these incidents 
would not be exacerbated by the development, other issues were also of concern and 
they can be listed as:  
 
Increase in traffic, increased pollution, loss of light, loss of privacy, noise, out of keeping 
with the area, contaminated land, strain on existing facilities, traffic / highways impact, 
impact on natural landscape, destruction of trees, impact on ecology, landsliding, mine 
shafts, affordable housing, impact on the Welsh language, community cohesion, impact 
on local infrastructure, potential impact on future residents by future potential 
neighbouring open-cast mining, planning history, design, impact on sewage system, not 
needed, no jobs in area, common land, development too high, over-development, other 
sites more suitable, spoil the skyline, will be used for commuter housing, and support to 
require permeable surfaces.  
 
 
Planning History 
 
App Ref Description Decision Date 
 
P/2012/0346 Outline: Demolition of existing 

buildings and residential 
development (up to 155 
dwellings) and associated 
works.  
 
 

Refused.   

P/2014/1133          Outline (all matters reserved): demolition of   Approved.  
          Existing buildings and resid dev (up to 138  
          dwellings) and associated works.  
 
 
P/2017/0812          Section 73 to remove Condition 19 of   Withdrawn.  
        P/2014/1133 relating to Affordable Dwellings.  
 
19/0331/REM      Section 73 to vary condition 2 of P/2014/1133  Pending.  

Page 47



 

 

         To extend time limit for submission of RM.   
 
 
Principal Planning Constraints 
 

 
 

Principal Planning Policies 
 
Policy Policy Description Year Local Plan 
 
SP7 Safeguarding of Strategic 

Resources and Assets 
 Local Development 

Plan 2011-2026 
 
DM1 Planning Obligations  Local Development 

Plan 2011-2026 
 
DM3 Public Open Space  Local Development 

Plan 2011-2026 
 
DM5 Development and Flood 

Risk 
 Local Development 

Plan 2011-2026 
 
DM6 Flood Prevention 

Measures and Land 
Drainage 

 Local Development 
Plan 2011-2026 

 
DM8 Minerals Safeguarding  Local Development 

Plan 2011-2026 
 
DM9 Existing Mineral Workings  Local Development 

Plan 2011-2026 
 
DM12 Development in Welsh 

Speaking Strongholds 
 Local Development 

Plan 2011-2026 
 
DM15 Waste Within 

Developments 
 Local Development 

Plan 2011-2026 
 
H6 Affordable Housing 

Exception Sites 
 Local Development 

Plan 2011-2026 
 
SPGAH Affordable Housing SPG 

(2018) 
 Local Development 

Plan 2011-2026 
 
SPGBIO Biodiversity and  Local Development 

Rights of Way  

Page 48



 

 

Geodiversity SPG (2018) Plan 2011-2026 
 
SPGLAN Landscape SPG  Local Development 

Plan 2011-2026 
 
SPGOBS Planning Obligations SPG 

(2018) 
 Local Development 

Plan 2011-2026 
 
SPGRES Residential Design Guide 

SPG (2020) 
 Local Development 

Plan 2011-2026 
 
PPW Planning Policy Wales 

(Edition 11, February 
2021) 

 National Policy 

 
NATPLA Future Wales – The 

National Plan 2040 
 National Policy 

 
TAN2 Planning and Affordable 

Housing 
 National Policy 

 
TAN5 Nature Conservation and 

Planning 
 National Policy 

 
TAN11 Noise  National Policy 
 
TAN12 Design  National Policy 
    
TAN 15 Development and Flood 

Risk 
 National Policy 

 
TAN18 Transport  National Policy 
    
TAN 20 Planning and the Welsh 

Language 
 National Policy 

 
TAN2 Planning and Affordable 

Housing 
 National Policy 

 
 

TAN 23 Economic Development  National Policy 
    
TAN24 The Historic Environment  National Policy 
 
SP1 Housing Growth  Local Development 

Plan 2011-2026 
 

Page 49



 

 

SP3 Affordable Housing Target  Local Development 
Plan 2011-2026 

 
SP5 Settlement Hierarchy  Local Development 

Plan 2011-2026 
 
SP6 Distribution of Growth 

across the Settlement 
Hierarchy 

 Local Development 
Plan 2011-2026 

 
DM2 The Natural Environment  Local Development 

Plan 2011-2026 
 
DM4 Landscape  Local Development 

Plan 2011-2026 
 
DM3 Public Open Space  Local Development 

Plan 2011-2026 
DM6 Flood Prevention 

Measures and Land 
Drainage 

 Local Development 
Plan 2011-2026 

DM5 Development and Flood 
Risk 

 Local Development 
Plan 2011-2026 

 
DM7 Dark Skies and External 

Lighting 
 Local Development 

Plan 2011-2026 
 
DM10 Contaminated and 

Unstable Land 
 Local Development 

Plan 2011-2026 
 
DM13 Design and Resources  Local Development 

Plan 2011-2026 
 
DM15       Waste within Developments                                      Local Development  
                                                                                                            Plan 2011-2026 
 
T1 Travel, Traffic and 

Transport Infrastructure 
 Local Development 

Plan 2011-2026 
 
H1 Housing Development 

Proposals 
 Local Development 

Plan 2011-2026 
 
H2 Housing Sites  Local Development 

Plan 2011-2026 
 
H3 Housing Delivery  Local Development 

Page 50



 

 

Plan 2011-2026 
 
H4 Housing Density  Local Development 

Plan 2011-2026 
 
H5 Affordable Housing 

Contributions 
 Local Development 

Plan 2011-2026 
 
DM1 Planning Obligations  Local Development 

Plan 2011-2026 
 
 
Other Legislative Considerations 
 
Crime and Disorder Act 1998  
 
Equality Act 2010  
 
Planning (Wales) Act 2015 (Welsh language)  
 
Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015  
 
Marine and Coastal Access Act 2009 
 
Officer Appraisal 
 
Site Location and Description 
 
Land at Brynygroes Farm is a site located to the north-west of the town of 
Ystradgynlais, some 500 metres from the town centre. It is separated from the town by 
the A4067 and is on a rising area of land, away from the road. The site is on farmland 
which has three large modern dwellings in its heart, plus a commercial property for plant 
/ tool hire etc.  
 
To the north of the site, the land falls steeply down a wooded area to the village of 
Cwmgiedd. To the east, across the road, is a residential area of Ystradgynlais. To the 
south the land falls down to the County Class III highway the, A4067 to which access is 
gained to the site off. To the west of the site is farmland and the Haul Road which runs 
up to common land, the former mining site and a radio mast.  
 
The site measures approximately 4.5 hectares and is a rolling site, mainly rising to the 
rear and west. The site is, apart from the buildings mentioned above, currently pasture 
land. The three dwellings mentioned above will be retained and incorporated into the 
wider development, and the tool hire premises will be demolished and that land used as 
development land. A small area of common land crosses the site in the southernmost 
corner.  

Page 51



 

 

 
There are a number of rights of way in the area. A public footpath runs up what is 
currently the existing access track along the western boundary northwards until it exits 
the site. Public bridleway 75 runs below the southern-most part of the site, crosses the 
existing site access road and continues westwards.  
 
The application is for the demolition of the existing commercial premises and the 
development of 117 dwellings. The mix of which is as follows:  
 
19 x two-bedroom terraced dwellings, of which 4 are affordable.  
12 x two-bedroom semi-detached dwellings.  
28 x three-bedroom semi-detached dwellings 
16 x three-bedroom bungalows 
21 x three-bedroom detached houses 
21 x four-bedroom detached houses.  
 
The application includes an element of affordable housing provision which is considered 
below. 
 
Principle of Development  
 
Policy H2 of the LDP identified several sites that are designated for residential 
development during the plan period.  Brynygroes Farm is identified as site allocation 
reference P58 HA10, with a specified number of units of 136 and a site area of 4.5 
hectares.  
 
Objections were received with regard to the principle of the development, concerned 
that the development was out of keeping with the area, that the dwellings were not 
needed, that other sites were more suitable, that the development would impact on 
existing community cohesion, would be a source of strain on local facilities and 
infrastructure.  
 
For the purposes of the LDP, Ystradgynlais is designated as a Town. Towns are home 
to 41% of Powys’ population and are the most densely populated settlements. All are 
important service centres providing a range of services, facilities and employment for 
their own population and their surrounding areas. They are generally the chosen 
location for ‘area services’ and in particular larger scale public services (e.g. high 
schools, leisure centres). Towns are also the most accessible settlements, most being 
located on trunk roads, with all having public transport services. Under the LDP, Towns 
are seen as the principal location for accommodating housing (open market and 
affordable), employment land, any retail growth (e.g. supermarkets), public services and 
developments which generate large numbers of trips. Housing growth is planned 
commensurate with the size and level of facilities of each town, although the capacity of 
towns to accommodate growth varies according to environmental and infrastructure 
constraints. 
 

Page 52



 

 

The application site has therefore been carefully selected through the LDP process to 
be appropriate in location and scale commensurate to the area and nearby local 
services and transport links. Ystradgynlais was therefore considered to be a sustainable 
location for housing growth and the application site identified for housing in line with 
those considerations. 
 
Therefore, it is considered that the principle of housing development within this site is 
acceptable and in accordance with policy H2 of the LDP in that it forms an allocated 
housing site.  
 
Design 
 
With respect to design, specific reference is made to LDP policies DM13 (Part 1). LDP 
policy DM13 requires development to be able to demonstrate a good quality design and 
to have regard to the qualities and amenity of the surrounding area, local infrastructure 
and resources.  
 
The site is currently partially farmland rising from the main road that runs through the 
valley bottom that Ystradgynlais sits within. There are a number of constraints on the 
site, the design ones being that there are currently three substantial dwellings in the 
centre of the site that need to be incorporated into the wider design. There are also 
smaller dwellings on the A4067 roadside to the south-east of the site, but these have 
less of a relationship with the proposed development.  
 
Other site constraints are several different levels that have to be accommodated – 
ideally without multiple retaining walls which can be highly visible from a distance. In 
addition to this, the size of the site means that it has to incorporate not only the streets, 
but also pedestrian footways and so on a local level these paths are integral to the 
layout.  
 
With regard to the design of the dwellings, there is an adopted Residential Design 
Guide: Town Appraisal for Ystradgynlais and whilst it is accepted that Ystradgynlais has 
a wide range of house styles and designs, it does note a number of localised features 
that the designs of the dwellings have incorporated.  
 

 Roofs to be natural or reconstituted slate.  

 Materials should be natural stone or render in light colours.  

 Dwellings to be set back no more than 3 m from the road in general.  

 Windows to have vertical proportions and where appropriate arched heads.  

 Brick detailing around windows. 

 Front facades restricted to one type of building material.  

 Preferred front boundaries are low-rise stone walls with railings.  
 
The house types are as follows:  
 
House Type A – 15 units – are terraces of three attached two-bed dwellings. The 

Page 53



 

 

dwellings are 4.8m wide by 8.9m deep. They are 5m to the eaves with a front to back 
roof pitch of 8.5m high. The elevations of the dwellings are rendered to side and rear 
and have a bricked upper section on the front elevation with render to the ground floor. 
The units have slated roofs with solar panels. Detailing to the front elevations includes 
porches – the middle having a lean-to roof, and the two side dwellings having pitched. 
Plots 23, 24, 25, 30, 31 ,32, 88, 89, 90, 93, 94, 95 are House Type A.  
 
House Type A, version 2 – 8 units - is a set of two semi-detached dwellings. They are 
the same dimensions and designs as the above dwellings. Plots 91,92, 96, 97, 98 
 
House Type B version 2 – two units (plots 33 and 34) – semi-detached 3 / 4 - bed 
dwellings, including a bedroom in the roof. The dwellings are 6.2m wide, 9m deep. They 
are 4.8m to the eaves and 8.4m to the pitch. The dwellings are rendered on the ground 
floor with brick to the upper floor. The ground-floor have bay windows and extended 
porch sections. The front pitch has single skylights and solar panels for each dwelling. 
To the rear of the dwellings are single dormer windows to accommodate the attic room.  
 
House Type BA V4 – two units (plot 81 and 82) – semi-detached 2 /3 bedroom. The 
houses are on a slight slope and so the roofs are staggered. The dwellings are 9m deep 
and 6.2m wide. The dwellings are 5.1m to the eaves, and 8.7m to the ridge. The 
dwellings have render to the base and brick to the upper level. The dwellings have an 
extended porch finished in stone.  
 
House Type C V2 – eight units (plots 45, 46, 47, 48, 54, 55, 74 and 75). These 
dwellings are detached, lengthways on to the road and are single storey with rooms in 
the roof-space. The height to eaves is 3.1m and 6.5m to the pitch. The dwellings are 
11.5m deep and 9.5m wide. The proposed dwellings have stone facing to the right-hand 
side of the front elevation, and horizontal timber cladding to the left-side, with a central 
glass panel above the front door to the pitch.  
 
House Type D V2 – eight units (plots 5,7,8,16,35,39,41 and 83). These dwellings are 
detached 3 / 4 bedrooms over two-storeys with an additional bedroom in the roof-space. 
The dwellings are 9.2 m deep by 6.2 m wide with an eaves height of 6.2m and a pitch of 
8.3m. The dwellings have render to the lower section and brick-work above and have a 
bay window on the ground floor and an extended section. A lean-to roof runs between 
the bay and the extended section.  
 
House Type D V3 – three units (plots 68, 78 and 80). These dwellings are detached and 
lengthways onto the road. They are rendered on the ground level with horizontal timber 
cladding to the first floor. The dwellings have an extended stone-faced front porch. The 
height to eaves is 5m and 7.8m to pitch. The proposed are 7.6m deep, and 7.2m wide.  
 
House Type E Plot – one dwelling (plot 73 only). The dwelling is detached with a 
double-garage to the side. The dwelling is 9.5 metres wide with a detached garage 
making a total of 15.8m wide. The dwelling is 7.6m deep with an extended section 
making a total of 9.8m deep. The height to eaves and the height to the pitch of the 

Page 54



 

 

garage is 5.1m with a total pitch height of 8m. The ground floor is rendered with a stone-
faced porch with a lean-to roof. The extended section to the rear is also rendered with a 
lean-to roof. The upper level is finished in brick. The roof is tiled. The garage has two 
separate roller-shutter doors.  
 
House Type E v2 – one unit (plot 57). This is a four-bedroom dwelling with an attached 
garage. The main section of the dwelling is 9.6m wide and 7.5m metres deep. The 
height to eaves is 5.1m and height to the pitch of 7.7m. There is a ground-floor lean-to 
extended section to the rear of 2.5m deep, and 7.8m wide. The garage is to the side of 
the dwelling is 4m wide by 7.1m deep. The height to eaves for the garage is 2.3m with a 
back-front pitch of 4.8m in height, with a roller-double doors to the front.  
 
In looking at the above, it is considered that there is a mix of high-quality designed 
dwellings in a range of sizes and in a range of designs. The houses have interesting 
features and have broken-up facades to ensure a varied streetscape.  
 
Objections were received with regard to design, however, it is considered that the 
designs are acceptable in terms their materials used and the links to the wider locality. It 
is also considered that they have taken account of the guidance issued in the 
Ystradgynlais Town Appraisal. Objections were also received with regard to the height 
of the houses within the development. However, it is considered that the height of the 
proposed dwellings is acceptable in such a setting, and that they are not overly high 
considering that they are at most two-storey dwellings and typical of their type.  
 
It is therefore considered that this application is in accordance with LDP policy DM13 
and H3. 
 
Amenity  
 
In considering the amenities enjoyed by the occupiers of neighbouring properties 
consideration has been given to the Powys Residential Design Guide 2020 and LDP: 
DM13 (Part 12).  
 
The layout of the estate has been designed to ensure that the proposed dwellings will 
not have an unacceptable impact on either property, or the amenity of the occupants of 
the existing dwellings.  
 
With those dwellings currently detached from the site, care has been taken not to over-
shadow them as they are in a lower situation. A buffer has been put between the 
existing dwellings off the site and the proposed to ensure that their amenity is protected. 
Objections were received from local people with regard to amenity, noise and loss of 
privacy, but it is considered that the proposed dwellings will be far enough from the 
existing dwellings in the locality not to cause an adverse impact on the ability of 
occupants to enjoy their amenity.  
 
The proposed development will be constructed in three phases in order to reduce the 

Page 55



 

 

impact on the locality.  In addition to this, Environmental Health have requested a 
condition to be attached to any consent that controls working hours etc.  
 
It is therefore considered that this application is acceptable and in accordance with the 
Powys Residential Design Guide 2020 and LDP: DM13 (Part 12). 
 
 
Density 
 
As previously referred to the proposed number of dwellings allocated to the site in the 
LDP is 136 dwellings. The application proposes 117 dwellings in addition to the three 
existing dwellings, which would leave a shortfall of 16 dwellings when compared against 
the provision anticipated by the LDP. 
 
It is therefore acknowledged that there is a slight undersupply of dwellings. Since the 
allocation of the LDP it is noted that the Sustainable Drainage Scheme (SuDS) has 
been introduced which in this instance has removed areas of land from development. 
Consideration has also been given to the topography of the land and visitor car parking 
provided which altogether has reduced capacity on site. It is however acknowledged 
that the proposal includes a wide mix of housing types and scales which would meet a 
wide range of housing needs within Ystradgynlais. 
 
Objections were received through public representations that the site was being over-
developed.  
 
LDP policy H4 deals with housing density in residential developments in order to gain 
the most from every parcel of developable land. H4 states that the minimum density of 
building should be 27 houses per hectare. In this instance, whilst less than the proposed 
allocation the site still accords with Policy H4 in that it proposes 27 dwellings per 
hectare.  
 
This is considered to be acceptable within the development and therefore policy H4 is 
considered to have been complied with.  
 
Landscape and Visual Impact 
 
Policy SP7 deals with safeguarding of strategic resources and assets. In this instance, 
the landscape has no protected designations, but the site is within approximately 70m of 
the BBNP boundary at its closest point.  
 
LANDMAP identifies the area as being characterised as the following: 
 
Geological Landscape- Outstanding 
Landscape Habitat- High 
Visual and Sensory - Moderate 
Historic Landscape- Low 

Page 56



 

 

 
The previously approved planning application submitted a Landscape and Visual Impact 
Assessment which considered the impact of the residential development (then 138 
dwellings) and concluded that the impact of the development on the surrounding 
landscape will not be significant. 
 
The proposed development provides an extensive level of landscaping within and 
around the site boundary. A condition will be attached to any grant of consent ensuring 
that the landscaping is provided to an appropriate level. 
 
Objections were received with regard to concerns that the development would harm the 
skyline. However, when considering the scale of the buildings proposed, the existing 
topography of the land and landscaping proposed it is considered that concerns over 
landscape and visual impact have been appropriately considered and will be mitigated 
further by appropriate landscaping.  
 
Therefore, on balance it is considered that the proposed development would not have 
an unacceptable adverse effect on the character and appearance of the surrounding 
area.  
 
External Lighting  
 
LDP policy DM7 deals with external lighting. It states that development proposals will 

only be permitted when a lighting scheme has been provided that demonstrates that the 

lighting will not individually or cumulatively cause unacceptable levels of light pollution, 

an adverse effect on the visibility of the night sky or protected species, or a nuisance or 

hazard to motorists, pedestrians or local residents.  

A development of this size could cause a considerable impact if a sensitive lighting plan 

was not put in place. This is particularly so considering the proximity of the BBNP Dark 

Skies classification.  

An external lighting plan was submitted to ensure that external lighting was 

comprehensive and co-ordinated and would take account of the local bio-diversity. This 

has been considered by the ecologist and found to be acceptable.  

It is therefore considered that the application is acceptable within the remit of external 

lighting and therefore is in accordance with LDP policy DM7.  

Public Open Space  
 
LDP policy DM3 deals with the provision of public open space. It requires that provision 
for public open space (POS) will be sought from all housing developments of ten or 
more dwellings.  
 
The development site has a number of smaller public open spaces rather than a large 

Page 57



 

 

single area. There are five separate areas of public open space spaced throughout the 
development and have landscaping plans for them:  
 

1. To the north of the site, there is a public space that runs from the northern-most 
turning hammer-head at Plot 77 and it runs behind the back of the dwellings 
north to south. Across the road is another green area that runs west of the 
roadside.  

 
2. To the north-west of the site is another open space that sits at the northern-most 

point of the road. 
 

3. In the mid of the site adjoining the existing dwellings are two POS’s where the 
pedestrian link path runs through. Two more green corridors run from the south 
of these areas linking each other and then going further south around the outside 
of the curtilages to a larger POS that wraps around the edge of Plot 6 and back 
to the roadside.  

 
4. The last POS is at the southern-most area of the site south of Plot 1, and the 

across the estate road to run up the western side of the road and link to the POS 
around Plot 6.  

 
In total the public open space amounts to approximately 2620 m2.  
 
In addition to this, the site has significant amounts of woodland on its boundary that are 
to be protected and managed, both on the western boundary and the eastern.  
 
It is therefore considered that sufficient public open space for a development of this size 
has been allocated within the development site. Therefore, it is considered that the 
proposal is acceptable within the remit of LDP policy DM3.  
 
 
Public Rights of Way 
 
A public footpath runs within the site and bridleway (no. 75) crosses the access of the 
site.  
 
The Countryside services team has been consulted and notes that the intention will be 
to formally divert the rights of way should planning consent be granted. The Countryside 
Service team welcome the proposed diversion and note that in the meantime, the routes 
must remain unobstructed at all times until any such time a formal diversion is agreed. 
 
It is therefore considered that this application is acceptable in terms of the public right of 
way, and in particular is in accordance with LDP policy DM13.  
 
Ecology 
 

Page 58



 

 

With respect to biodiversity, specific reference is made to LDP policy DM2 which seeks 
to maintain biodiversity and safeguard protected sites. In accordance with TAN 5: 
Nature, Conservation and Planning, and Powys LDP Policy DM2: The Natural 
Environment, as part of the planning process Powys LPA should ensure that there is no 
net loss of biodiversity or unacceptable damage to a biodiversity feature and under Part 
1 Section 6 of the Environment (Wales) Act 2016 Local Authorities are required to 
maintain and enhance biodiversity so any submission should incorporate enhancement 
proposals. 
 
The site is 4.5 hectares and although mainly improved grassland, has variations in 
ecological terms including ditches and trees.   
 
A data search showed 65 records of protected and priority species within 500m of the 
centre of the proposed development. These included bats, otters, hedgehogs, toads, 
owls, birds and flora. There is an area of ancient woodland to the NE of the site, but no 
statutory or non-statutory sites are within 500 m of the proposed site.  
 
With regard to the ancient woodland, the Ecologist considers that there would not be 
any adverse impact on the woodland as a result of the development, subject to a 
suitable external lighting plan, which has been submitted and deemed acceptable.  
 
Over the extensive planning history, three previous Phase 1 Habitat Surveys were 
produced and an up-to-date one was submitted with this application and considered by 
the PCC Ecologist. One of the existing buildings on site (the commercial premises) is 
going to be demolished if this application is acceptable, but it was that the building was 
confirmed to have negligible potential for bats and did not require further survey.  
 
Throughout the planning process the surveys have found that the main ground is 
considered to have relatively low ecological value and no evidence of protected species 
was found, although the surrounding trees provide habitat for nesting birds and roosting 
bats, and it is considered important that these are to be retained within the 
development. Removal of some of the smaller trees is going to be required, but these 
will require inspections before felling for roosting bats, although none is considered to 
have potential at this time. 
 
Japanese knotweed that was found on site in the 2009 survey, and treated, is no longer 
found to be in evidence.  
 
The Ecologist considered that measures were needed to prevent a negative impact on 
wildlife during construction period – in particular tree and root protection, plus external 
lighting both during the construction phase. An Ecological Construction Method 
Statement was submitted and found to be acceptable. A condition can be attached to 
ensure adherence to that Statement.  
 
Biodiversity enhancements are required in all planning consents. In this instance 

enhancements have been submitted and include the creation of a habitat strip with 

Page 59



 

 

reptile refugia along the western edge, planting of hedgerows within the development to 

significantly enhance connectivity and provide habitat for a range of species; installation 

of bat boxes on mature trees and bat tubes and swift nesting boxes on some of the 

proposed dwellings.  

With regard to landscaping within the site itself, a Landscape Masterplan was 
submitted. It outlined a number of areas of soft landscaping, including the retention of 
the habitat buffer to the west of the site, a SuDS attenuation pond with native aquatic 
plants, a native hedgerow, an area of grassland at the south-eastern edge of the site to 
benefit wildlife.  
 
The site is considered to have a number of high-quality mature trees. However, the 
Arboricultural Impact Assessment identified that two individual ash trees and a group of 
two more will be felled both on account of their poor health and to accommodate the 
proposal, although all were suffering from ash die-back disease. The remainder of the 
high-quality trees do need to be retained in a healthy situation; therefore a Tree 
Protection Plan and an Arboricultural Method Statement were submitted and the 
Ecologist has recommended conditions ensuring adherence to them.  
 
The Ecologist considered the plans and considered that the biodiversity enhancements 
were appropriate to a site of this size and nature. A condition can be attached to ensure 
the biodiversity enhancements are adhered to. 
 
Hedgehogs were not considered to be adequately catered for, and so provision for them 
in terms of boundary fencing to allow them to traverse through the site can be 
conditioned.  
 
An existing section of watercourse west of the existing access will be diverted and the 
existing culvert under the access road will be lowered. Further information was 
requested to ensure that any potential otter population was not adversely impacted by 
the development. Further details were submitted, including details of an otter shelf 
within the culvert to allow them safe passage. The Ecologist considered this to be 
acceptable.  
  
Whilst the site has relatively low biodiversity, the surrounding area is richer with the 
ancient woodland to the NE and the Afon Tawe 190m away to the east. Therefore it was 
considered important that a Pollution Prevention Plan was secured through a condition.  
 
It is a complex site in terms of ecology, but the Ecologist is content that the proposal 
mitigates any problems that it raises. It is therefore considered that this application is 
acceptable in relation to ecology and in particular, LDP policy DM2.  
 
Highways  
 
A safe access and parking is a fundamental requirement of any development and TAN 
18, PPW and LDP policies DM13 and T1 deal with highways issues.   

Page 60



 

 

 
The main access to the junction will not only serve the housing development, but also 
the Haul Road up to the common land, the former mining area, the communications 
mast and the Coronation Park. A culvert with a 6m easement runs west-east down 
towards the A road, across the access lane to the lower part of the site and therefore 
has to be accommodated.  
 
The internal access layout will follow the road that accesses the existing dwellings and 
the commercial premises.  
 
The application was accompanied by a Transport Assessment to deal with provision for 
cyclists, pedestrians and other non-car users to identify measures that could be 
included with the scheme to minimise private car travel.  
 
The intention is to ensure that vehicle use is secondary to walking or cycling within the 
site and that there are good connections to the town centre which is approximately 
500m from the site. Therefore, as well as footways alongside the roads within the site, 
there are also well-lit, pedestrian connecting-paths between the areas of housing to 
ensure safe travel within the site. The speed of traffic within the site will be a maximum 
20mph.  
 
Traffic calming measures were integral to the design and included planting and raised 
areas.  
 
A specific pallet for materials and dimensions for the road design was proposed and 
deemed to be acceptable.  
 
The site is on the other side of the A4067 to most of the rest of Ystradgynlais and 
therefore it was considered important to create good connectivity between the new 
dwellings and the rest of the community and facilities within the town. Active Travel 
plans were submitted to encourage pedestrian connectivity to Ystradgynlais. A pending 
Section 278 Agreement will deal with the requirements to improve pedestrian links to 
the town centre.  
 
Two additional internal-to-external links will be provided – one to the village of 
Cwmgiedd at the north of the site and an improved link from Brynygroes Cottages to the 
east of the site via a Toucan Crossing which will provide a walking route into 
Ystradgynlais town centre of between 10-13 minutes.  
 
With regard to vehicular provision within the site, off-street parking is provided but as 
the highways comment above states, the provision of parking spaces within the 
development is not at the level that is required by the maximum standards in Manual for 
Streets 1 & 2, at one space per bedroom up to a maximum of three spaces per dwelling.  
 
The CSS Parking Standards 2014 categorises different zones that would have different 
parking standards. Zone 4 would be categorised as follows:  

Page 61



 

 

 
Suburban or Near Urban – the outer edges of the largest towns, suburban locations in 
towns. There would be at least an hourly bus service to the town centre. Local facilities 
include a local centre within 400m walking distance. Some other basic amenities such 
as a doctor’s surgery are also available within the same walking distance.  
 
Houses within Zone 4 (which is what it is considered that this site would be) would have 
a maximum requirement of one space per bedroom (with a maximum requirement of 
three spaces), with one space per five dwellings for visitor parking.  
 
CSS Parking standards states that the scale of parking provision varies throughout 
Wales and that local priorities will dictate the manner in which the standards are used. 
Interpretation and flexibility in the standards will rest with the Local Authority, but 
flexibility in the standards allows local circumstances to be taken into account.  
 
Amendments have been submitted to seek to allay the concerns of the Highways 
Authority in order to increase the numbers of off-street parking, and also the number of 
visitor parking. The numbers of the parking spaces have shortfalls in the following ways: 
 
Type B dwellings are 3-bed: they have been allocated two off-road spaces each; the 
justification being that the third bedroom is a small single bedroom and so would be for 
a developing family, rather than necessarily driving adults in each bedroom.  
 
Visitor parking: the CSS standards require as a maximum 1 parking space per five units 
for visitor parking. This site has twelve visitor parking spaces, as opposed to 27 spaces 
if the maximum parking standards were applied.  
 
Objections were received with regard to highways, with concerns that the proposed 
would adversely impact on the highways network of the locality and that it would 
exacerbate perceived current traffic issues in the area, with an increase in car usage in 
the area.  It is considered that the proposal has sought solutions to this issue and that 
PCC highways has considered these issues within the policy context. The principle of 
housing at this site has already been agreed and therefore the understanding that those 
dwellings will be accompanied by resulting car usage will have already been 
appreciated. It is therefore considered that the requirement within this submission is to 
manage those flows of traffic in the best way possible both within the estate, leaving 
and arriving at the estate and within the locality. 
 
The Highways Authority’s comments are acknowledged, however it is considered 
important to look at the wider policy context.  
 
The site is a designated housing site within the LDP. It has a planning history that 
shows its appropriateness as a housing site. It is a complex site with many constraints: 
geographical, highways, ecological and with regards to potential contamination and land 
instability. It is an important site to the town of Ystradgynlais, being large in terms of 
housing numbers whilst still close enough to the town centre to play an active role in 

Page 62



 

 

keeping the town centre vibrant.  
 
However, the Highway Authority has valid concerns in that parking standards are not in 
accordance with the maximum levels Manual for Streets 1 & 2 / CSS Wales – Wales 
Parking Standards 2014 with regard to parking per dwelling, and also designated visitor 
parking on the site.  
 
Edition 11 of Planning Policy Wales was issued in February 2021, which is a later date 
than the Manual for Streets 1 & 2 and CSS Wales which was issued in 2014. Therefore, 
it is acknowledged that the more up to date guidance is Planning Policy Wales Edition 
11.  
 
Paragraph 4.1.50 states:  
 
“A design-led approach to the provision of car parking should be taken, which ensures 
an appropriate level of car parking is integrated in a way which does not dominate the 
development. Parking provision should be informed by the local context, including public 
transport accessibility, urban design principles and the objective of reducing reliance on 
the private car and supporting a modal shift to walking, cycling and public transport. 
Planning authorities must support schemes which keep parking levels down, especially 
off-street parking, when well designed.” 
 
The site is in an area well-served by public transport and the proposal has good active 
travel links both into the town centre and other residential areas. In addition to this, the 
scheme has good intra-estate pedestrian routes that will encourage people to not rely 
so heavily on their cars for short journeys and have walking and cycling as the first 
option for shorter distances. It is considered that this proposal has the framework in 
place that would be the framework that PPW is requiring with regard to the above 
paragraph. It is therefore considered that there is the potential to have reduced parking 
provision for such an estate in this location. It is not considered that this would set a 
precedent for lowering parking standards to not be in accordance with the maximum 
provision with the Manual for Streets 1 & 2 / CSS Wales as many sites around Powys 
would not have those public transport links nor the relatively short distances into the 
town centre.  
 
Future Wales, The National Plan 2040 puts placemaking at the heart of the planning 
system. It states a modal shift supported by a sustainable transport hierarchy, which 
prioritises walking, cycling and public transport. The document seeks to provide 
strategic direction and sets out policies and key issues to be taken forward at the 
regional scale. It also requires that growth should be shaped around sustainable forms 
of transport, with a reduced reliance on private vehicles. It is considered that the 
projection of policy is towards higher density development with lower standards of 
private parking. Future Wales requires planning authorities to take a proactive role in 
this. 
 
Policy 12 within Future Wales states that planning authorities must act to reduce levels 

Page 63



 

 

of car parking in urban areas, including supporting car-free developments in accessible 
locations. It requires planning authorities to challenge perceptions that housing needs to 
be built with parking on plots which promotes car-dominate developments. They must 
promote different ways of dealing with cars that encourage a reduction in car use and 
increase active travel and use of public transport. 
 
It is therefore considered that a judgment is needed between the need to deliver 
housing on a site that has the principle established, is close to an area well-served with 
public transport and active travel networks and to challenge longstanding guidance 
about parking standards, and the desire to provide good levels of off-road parking for 
residents for their convenience and to protect the wider environment from on-street 
parking.  
 
On balance, in this instance due to the proximity of good active travel and public 
transport networks and local facilities, it is considered that the provision in PPW and 
Future Wales to challenge those parking standards with the intention of promoting a 
more sustainable way of life, it is considered acceptable to reduce private parking 
provision to be applied on this site.  
 
Therefore, on balance, it is considered that the proposed is acceptable in terms of 
highway safety, and is in accordance with Future Wales, PPW edition 11, TAN 18 and 
LDP policies T1 and DM13.   
 
Common land 
 
The Commons Registration Authority confirmed that part of the proposed development 
is sited on Common Land that is registered under the Commons Registration Act 1965 
as register unit CL128 (Brecknockshire). Objections were received with regard to part of 
the land being common land.  
 
Although it is recognised that carrying out of restricted works without the required 

consents on common land is unlawful, this is a separate process to the planning 

system. The developer is aware of the matter and will need to make a separate 

application to address this matter.  

 
Affordable Dwellings.  
 
LDP policy H5, SPG Affordable Housing and TAN 2 deal with planning and affordable 
housing contributions within development proposals.  
 
An area of land at the south-eastern corner of the designated site is outside the 
development limits and therefore would only be available for affordable dwellings.  
 
However, following discussions, it was agreed that this area of land would instead be 
used by open market dwellings so that the affordable provision (four dwellings) on the 

Page 64



 

 

lower area of the site was swapped to the main site. This has not only allowed for 
provision of affordable dwellings to be incorporated within the site but also allowed for a 
stronger design element to be at the gateway of the site with four larger open market 
dwellings.  
  
It was considered that this was a good solution for affordable housing within the site, 
and therefore it is considered that this proposal is acceptable and is in accordance with 
H5, SPG Affordable Housing and TAN 2. 
 
Land Contamination 
 
LDP policy DM10 and Planning Policy Wales (Edition 11) deals with unstable and 
contaminated land. The LDP states that development proposals on land that is 
contaminated or unstable will be permitted any contamination or instability is remediated 
and will not unacceptably adversely affect public health and safety. 
 
The application site is identified as being an area of mining and quarrying, and a 'High 

Risk Development Area' as it is a coal mining area which is potential contaminated land. 

Extensive reports submitted by the applicant have been reviewed by PCC Land 

Contamination and have found to be acceptable.  

The Coal Authority were also consulted due to the area being a former mining area. 
They initially had substantive concerns that the area was a Development High Risk 
Area in which there were considered to be coal mining features and hazards which 
need to be considered in relation to the determination of this planning application. It was 
considered that the land may have been subject to recorded shallow coal mining, with 
thick coal seams that may have been historically worked by illicit means, plus the 
presence of four recorded mine entries.  
 
The Coal Authority requested site and development specific Coal Mining Risk 
Assessment in order for the applicant to demonstrate to the LPA that this site is, or can 
be made, safe and stable.  
 
Further information was submitted and then reviewed by The Coal Authority. Their 

response to this was they were satisfied that the site could be made safe and stable for 

the proposed development (Planning Policy Wales, paras. 6.9.23 - 28) subject to the 

remedial / mitigation measures identified within the submitted documents. They have 

asked for a condition to be included in order to Section 4.1 of the Intrusive Mining Risk 

Assessment Report, July 2021.     

Objections were received with regard to land stability and contamination potentially 
caused by former mining works. It is considered that the above measures have 
addressed these points and found the site to be acceptable.  
 
It is therefore considered that the application is acceptable within the terms of LDP 
policy DM 10 Contaminated and Unstable Land. 

Page 65



 

 

 
Commuted Sums for Education Provision  
 
PCC Education requested that the development provide a financial contribution towards 
provision of additional capacity of educational facilities for local primary and pre-school 
provision.  
 
The developer submitted a detailed Development Viability Model to show their costs 
and this was scrutinised by the LPA. The findings were that because of the complexity 
of the site and its physical constraints, plus the fact that there were so many additional 
elements to making site acceptable then the costings were such that it was not 
considered viable for a contribution to be made.  
 
It is therefore considered that it is not required that a financial contribution should be 
required from the developer in support of facilities for local education provision.  
 
 
Flood Risk and Surface Drainage  
 
LDP policy DM6 and TAN 15 deal with development and flood prevention measures and 
land drainage. The site is a complex one due to its location, topography and the fact 
that a surface water culvert with a 6m easement runs west-east down towards the A 
road, across the access lane to the lower part of the site. Objections were received with 
regard to flooding and drainage on this site. A serious flooding incident occurred within 
the locality (in the terraced dwellings of Rhestr Fawr at the foot of the site) in August 
2019, and some of the objectors are concerned that run-off from the direction of the site 
contributed to that, and wish to be reassured that the situation be improved, rather than 
exacerbated. One comment of support was received with regard to the permeable 
surfaces within the site.  
 
With regard to surface run-off, extensive discussions have taken place with PCC Land 
Drainage in order to ensure that a good solution can be found to accommodate surface 
water run-off within such a large site. any mitigation is incorporated into the design. The 
final SAB application has yet to be agreed, but the Land Drainage officer is content that 
a solution can be found.  
 
In addition to this, according to the NRW DAM maps, the site access and lower part of 
the site is designated Zone B (areas known to have flooded in the past). The wider site 
is Zone A, which is defined as little or no risk. NRW have been consulted and do not 
consider that there are any flood risks with this development proposal.   
 
Therefore, it is considered that this application is acceptable in terms of drainage and is 
in accordance with the policy remit, in particular LDP policy DM6. 
 
Welsh Language 
 

Page 66



 

 

Policy DM12 of the LDP confirm that the Welsh Language and culture are important 
planning considerations in Powys. The future of Welsh language and culture will depend 
on a wide range of factors including education, demographic change, community 
activities and a sound economic base to maintain thriving sustainable communities.  
 
Ystradgynlais is identified as a Welsh Speaking Strongholds.  
 
The Plan supports Welsh language and culture across the entire County by being 
centred on a spatial strategy that guides and distributes development to sustainable 
locations in accordance with its objectives and Strategic Policies SP5 and SP6 and by 
providing policy support for building strong local economies, providing appropriate 
housing provision, distribution and choice including affordable housing, and by 
protecting the historic environment and existing community facilities and services.  
 
It is acknowledged that new large housing developments have the potential to affect 
local concentrations of Welsh speakers but can be mitigated through appropriate 
mitigation measures which could include support and funding for Welsh language and 
culture initiatives and projects, or control over phasing of new housing development.  
 
In addition, it is recommended that all advertisements, place names and signage within 
the Welsh Speaking Strongholds are expected to be bilingual in order to protect local 
linguistic character, tradition and promote cultural distinctiveness. 
 
A Welsh Language impact assessment was previously submitted for the current outline 
consent approved for the land. The recommendation for that consent then included a 
condition which secured prior to the occupation of any dwelling a Welsh Language and 
Culture mitigation plan including details of mitigation measures and their implementation 
to be submitted for approval. 
 
Subject to this condition it is therefore considered that the impacts on the Welsh 
Speaking stronghold of Ystradgynlais can be appropriately mitigated against. 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION- Conditional Consent 
 
In light of the above, it is considered that the proposed application would result in a well 
designed development that responds to local needs and is assimilated well within the 
locality. Whilst the amount of off-street parking on the site has been raised as a 
concern, on balance it is considered that PPW and Future Wales does give provision for 
sites of this proximity to local services - such as those available some 500 metres away 
in Ystradgynlais to allow for flexibility. 
 
It is therefore considered on balance that the proposed development is in accordance 
with relevant planning policies and the recommendation is therefore one of conditional 
consent. 
 

Page 67



 

 

 
Conditions 
 
1 The development shall begin not later than five years from the date of this 
decision. 
 
2.The development shall be carried out in accordance with the following approved plans 
and documents: R491 P-01, R491 P-02, R491 P-03, R491 P-04, R491 P-05, R491 P-
06, R491 P-07, R491 P-08, R491 P-09, R491 P-10, R491 P-12, R491 P-13, R491 P-14, 
, R491 P-15, R491 P-16, R491 P-17, R491 P-18, R491 P-19, R491 P-20, R491 P-21, 
R491 P-23, R491 P-24, R491 P-25, R491 P-26, R491 P-27, R491 P-28, R491 P-29, 
R491 P-30, R491, RDS Landscape Plan, Topographic Survey (MW Surveys), 
C1537_C-SK07 Highway Long Sections Sheet 1 of 2 Rev A, C1537_C-SK08 Highway 
Long Sections Sheet 2 of 2 Rev B, Toucan Crossing v2-AT05, R491 POS Plan, Tree 
Survey by ArbTS LTD, Tree Protection Plan, Arboricultural Method Statement, Updated 
Ecological Survey by Fiona Elphick (21st July, 2019), Ecological Construction Method 
Statement. 
 
 3 No surface water from any increase in the roof area of the building /or 
impermeable surfaces within its curtilage shall be allowed to drain directly or indirectly to 
the public sewerage system. 
 
 4 Prior to commencement of development, a detailed Construction Method 
Statement in respect of the control of noise and dust during the construction shall be 
submitted to the Local Planning Authority and shall be implemented thereafter as 
approved. 
 
 5 All works and ancillary operations which are audible at the site boundary shall be 
carried out only between the following hours: 
o 0800 - 1800 hrs Monday to Friday 
o 0800 - 1300 hrs Saturday 
o At no time on Sunday and Bank Holidays 
Deliveries to and removal of plant, equipment, machinery and waste, including soil, from 
the site shall also only take place within the permitted hours detailed above. 
 
 6 No development shall commence until a preliminary investigation and 
assessment of the nature and extent of contamination affecting the application site area 
has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. This 
investigation and assessment must be carried out by or under the direction of a suitably 
qualified competent person, in accordance with current guidance and best practice, and 
shall assess any contamination on the site, whether or not it originates on the site. 
The report of the findings shall include: 
- A desk study 
- A site reconnaissance 
- Formulation of an initial conceptual model 
- A preliminary risk assessment 

Page 68



 

 

If the preliminary risk assessment identifies there are potentially unacceptable risks a 
detailed scope of works for an intrusive investigation, including details of the risk 
assessment methodologies, must be prepared by a suitably qualified competent person. 
The contents of the scheme and scope of works are subject to the approval in writing of 
the local planning authority. 
All work and submissions carried out for the purposes of this condition must be 
conducted in accordance with DEFRA and the Environment Agency's 'Land 
Contamination Risk Management (LCRM)' guidance and the WLGA document 
'Development of Land Affected by Contamination: A Guide for Developers' (2017). 
 
 7 No development shall take place until a site investigation of the nature and extent 
of contamination has been carried out, by a suitably qualified competent person, in 
accordance with a methodology which has previously been submitted to and approved 
in writing by the local planning authority. A written report of the findings of the site 
investigation shall be made available to the local planning authority before any 
development begins. The written report should include an appraisal of remedial options 
and identification of the most appropriate remediation option(s) for each relevant 
pollutant linkage. The report is subject to the written approval of the local planning 
authority. 
 
 8 No development shall take place until a detailed remediation scheme to bring the 
site to a condition suitable for the intended use by removing unacceptable risks to 
human health, buildings and other property and the natural and historical environment 
must be prepared, and is subject to the approval in writing of the local planning 
authority. The scheme must include all works to be undertaken, proposed remediation 
objectives and remediation criteria, timetable of works and site management 
procedures. 
The scheme must ensure that the site will not qualify as contaminated land under Part 
2A of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 and The Contaminated Land (Wales) 
Regulations 2006, as amended by The Contaminated Land (Wales) (Amendment) 
Regulations 2012, in relation to the intended use of the land after remediation. The 
detailed remediation scheme should not be submitted until written approval for 
Condition 7 has been received from the local planning authority. All work and 
submissions carried out for the purposes of this condition must be conducted in 
accordance with DEFRA and the Environment Agency's 'Model Procedures for the 
Management of Land Contamination, CLR 11' and the WLGA document 'Development 
of Land Affected by Contamination: A Guide for Developers' (2017).  
 
 9 The subject site is located in a former coal mining area and ground gas 
protection measures which meet, as a minimum, Characteristic Situation 2 (CS2) 
specifications, as prescribed in BS8485:2015+A1:2019 'Code of Practice for the Design 
of Protective Measures for Methane and Carbon Dioxide Ground Gases for New 
Buildings', must be installed.  
Appropriately qualified personnel as described in Ciria C735 must verify the installation 
and qualify the installer. The specification and verification methodologies, for the 
installation of the ground gas protection measures, must be provided in a Verification 

Page 69



 

 

Plan (as described in Ciria C735) that is part of the Remediation Strategy and must be 
approved in writing, by the local planning authority, prior to the commencement of the 
development.  
 
10 The approved remediation scheme must be carried out in accordance with its 
terms prior to the commencement of development other than that required to carry out 
remediation, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the local planning authority. The local 
planning authority must be given two weeks written notification of commencement of the 
remediation scheme works.  
If during the course of development any contamination is found that has not been 
identified in the site investigation, additional measures for the remediation of this source 
of contamination shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning 
authority. The remediation of the site shall incorporate the approved additional 
measures before the development is occupied.  
Following completion of the measures identified in the approved remediation scheme, a 
verification report that demonstrates the effectiveness of the remediation carried out 
must be produced, and is subject to the approval in writing of the local planning 
authority. The verification report contents must be agreed with the local planning 
authority before commencement of the remediation scheme. All work and submissions 
carried out for the purposes of this condition must be conducted in accordance with 
DEFRA and the Environment Agency's 'Model Procedures for the Management of Land 
Contamination, CLR 11' and the WLGA document 'Development of Land Affected by 
Contamination: A Guide for Developers' (2017).  
 
11 A monitoring and maintenance scheme to include monitoring the long-term 
effectiveness of the proposed remediation over a period of duration to be agreed in 
writing with the local planning authority and the provision of reports on the same must 
be prepared, both of which are subject to the approval in writing of the local planning 
authority. Within six months following the completion of the measures identified in that 
scheme and the achievement of the remediation objectives, reports that demonstrate 
the effectiveness of the monitoring and maintenance carried out must be produced, and 
submitted to the local planning authority.  
This must be conducted in accordance with DEFRA and the Environment Agency's 
'Model Procedures for the Management of Land Contamination, CLR 11'.  
 
12 The development shall be undertaken in strict accordance with the following  
i) Section 6 (Recommendations) and Ecological Construction Method Statement, 
Updated Ecological Survey, Land at Brynygroes, by Fiona Elphick, dated 21st July 2019 
ii) Landscape Masterplan, Drawing no. RS200613-01-03 
iii) Section 6.0 (Arboricultural Method Statement) and Appendix 4 (Tree Protection 
Plan), Arboricultural Report, by ArbTS Ltd, dated 21st June 2021 
iv) Proposed Access Arrangement & Culvert Works, Drawing no. C-SK13 
The measures identified shall be adhered to and implemented in full and maintained 
thereafter. 
 
13 Prior to commencement of development (including ground works and vegetation 

Page 70



 

 

clearance), a Construction Environment Management Plan shall be submitted to the 
Local Planning Authority and approved in writing. The CEMP shall include but not be 
limited to the following: 
o Ecological Construction Method Statement 
o Pollution prevention plan 
o Biosecurity risk assessment 
o Tree protection plan 
o Lighting during construction phase 
o Ecological enhancement plan to include number, location and timing of 
implementation of reptile refugia; and timing of planting, site preparation and aftercare 
measures. 
o Roles and responsibilities 
The approved measures shall be adhered to and implemented in full.  
 
14 Prior to any works being undertaken to trees, a bat survey of affected trees shall 
be undertaken by a suitably qualified ecologist. The survey shall be undertaken in 
accordance with Collins, J. (ed) (2016) Bat Surveys for Professional Ecologists: Good 
Practice Guidelines (3rd edn.) The Bat Conservation Trust, London. Any works shall be 
undertaken in accordance with expert ecologist and arborist advice and European 
Protected Species license requirements where appropriate. 
 
15 Access points to facilitate movement of hedgehog and small mammals shall be 
incorporated into all fencing forming any part of the site boundary or boundary between 
individual plots. A minimum of one access point comprising gaps of 130mm x 130mm 
(5" x 5") shall be installed along each fenced aspect of the boundary. If gravel boards 
are to be used, hedgehog friendly designs shall be used. The access points shall be 
maintained thereafter. 
 
16 Prior to occupation of any dwelling a Welsh Language and Culture mitigation 
plan including details of mitigation measures and their implementation of measures shall 
be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The measures 
to support the Welsh Language and Culture shall be implemented as approved. 
 
17 Prior to commencement of development the development shall not begin until a 
scheme for the provision of affordable housing as part of the development has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The affordable 
housing shall be provided in accordance with the approved scheme and shall meet the 
definition of affordable housing in Annex B of TAN 2 or any future guidance that 
replaces it. The scheme shall include: i) the numbers, type, tenure and location on the 
site of the affordable housing provision to be made which shall consist of not less than 4 
of housing units; ii) the timing of the construction of the affordable housing and its 
phasing in relation to the occupancy of the market housing; iii) the arrangements for the 
transfer of the affordable housing to an affordable housing provider [or the management 
of the affordable housing (if no RSL involved)]; iv) the arrangements to ensure that such 
provision is affordable for both first and subsequent occupiers of the affordable housing; 
and v) the occupancy criteria to be used for determining the identity of occupiers of the 

Page 71



 

 

affordable housing and the means by which such occupancy criteria shall be enforced. 
 
18 Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) (Amendment) (Wales) Order 2013, (or any Order revoking and 
re-enacting that Order) no development for the Affordable Dwellings identified in 
Condition 18 above under Schedule 2, Part 1, Classes A to E other than that hereby 
permitted shall be carried out without the written permission of the Local Planning 
Authority.  
 
19 Prior to the commencement of development a phasing scheme shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall 
include details for the phasing of all housing and infrastructure including (but not limited 
to) phasing of open market/affordable dwellings, provision of public open space, 
provision of visitor car parking areas, landscaping/ biodiversity enhancements and 
associated infrastructure. Development must thereafter be completed in full accordance 
with the details as approved. 
 
Reasons 
 
 
1 Required to be imposed by Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990. 
 
 2 Required to be imposed by Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990. 
 
 3 To prevent hydraulic overloading of the public sewerage system, to protect the 
health and safety of existing residents and ensure no pollution of or detriment to the 
environment. 
 
 4 To safeguard the amenities of the locality in accordance with policy DM13, 
section 13 of the Powys Local Development Plan. 
 
 5 To safeguard the amenities of the locality in accordance with policy DM13, 
section 13 of the Powys Local Development Plan. 
 
 6 In the interests of land contamination and in order to accord with Local 
Development Plan policy DM 10. 
 
 7 In the interests of land contamination and in order to accord with Local 
Development Plan policy DM 10. 
 
 8 In the interests of land contamination and in order to accord with Local 
Development Plan policy DM 10. 
 
 9 In the interests of land contamination and in order to accord with Local 

Page 72



 

 

Development Plan policy DM 10. 
 
10 In the interests of land contamination and in order to accord with Local 
Development Plan policy DM 10. 
 
11 In the interests of land contamination and in order to accord with Local 
Development Plan policy DM 10. 
 
12 To comply with Powys County Council's LDP Policies DM2, DM4, DM13 in 
relation to The Natural Environment and to meet the requirements of Planning Policy 
Wales (Edition 11, 2021), TAN 5: Nature Conservation and Planning and Part 1 Section 
6 of the Environment (Wales) Act 2016. 
 
13 To comply with Powys County Council's LDP Policies DM2, DM4, DM13 in 
relation to The Natural Environment and to meet the requirements of Planning Policy 
Wales (Edition 11, 2021), TAN 5: Nature Conservation and Planning and Part 1 Section 
6 of the Environment (Wales) Act 2016. 
 
14 To comply with Powys County Council's LDP Policies DM2, DM4, DM13 in 
relation to The Natural Environment and to meet the requirements of Planning Policy 
Wales (Edition 11, 2021), TAN 5: Nature Conservation and Planning and Part 1 Section 
6 of the Environment (Wales) Act 2016. 
 
15 To comply with Powys County Council's LDP Policies DM2, DM4, DM13 in 
relation to The Natural Environment and to meet the requirements of Planning Policy 
Wales (Edition 11, 2021), TAN 5: Nature Conservation and Planning and Part 1 Section 
6 of the Environment (Wales) Act 2016. 
 
16  In the interests of the Welsh language and culture in accordance with Powys 
Local Development Plan (2018) policy DM12.  
 
17 In order to control further development which has the potential to have adverse 
effects on the affordable nature of the dwellings hereby approved in line with policy H5 
of the Local Development Plan and Planning Policy Wales.  
 
18 In order to control further development which has the potential to have adverse 
effects on the affordable nature of the dwellings hereby approved in line with policy H5 
of the Local Development Plan and Planning Policy Wales.  
 

19 To safeguard the amenities of the locality in accordance with policy DM13, 
section 13 of the Powys Local Development Plan. 
 
Informatives 
 
1.Dwr Cymru  
 

Page 73



 

 

The applicant may need to apply to Dwr Cymru / Welsh Water for any connection to the 
public sewer under S106 of the Water industry Act 1991. If the connection to the public 
sewer network is either via a lateral drain (i.e. a drain which extends beyond the 
connecting property boundary) or via a new sewer (i.e. serves more than one property), 
it is now a mandatory requirement to first enter into a Section 104 Adoption Agreement 
(Water Industry Act 1991). The design of the sewers and lateral drains must also 
conform to the Welsh Ministers Standards for Gravity Foul Sewers and Lateral Drains, 
and conform with the publication "Sewers for Adoption"- 7th Edition.  
 
Further information can be obtained via the Developer Services pages of 
www.dwrcymru.com   The applicant is also advised that some public sewers and lateral 
drains may not be recorded on our maps of public sewers because they were originally 
privately owned and were transferred into public ownership by nature of the Water 
Industry (Schemes for Adoption of Private Sewers) Regulations 2011. The presence of 
such assets may affect the proposal.  In order to assist us in dealing with the proposal 
the applicant may contact Dwr Cymru Welsh Water. Under the Water Industry Act 1991 
Dwr Cymru Welsh Water has rights of access to its apparatus at all times. 
 
2. During construction (including soil movement and landscaping activities) the 
contractor shall take all reasonable steps to prevent dust formation from dusty activities 
and any dust formed shall be prevented leaving the site by continuous watering down. 
 
3. The Council's guidance leaflet on the development of sites with potential land 
contamination is attached. Further advice on compliance with this condition may be 
obtained by contacting the Environmental Health Service on 01597 827645. 
 
4. Protected Species 
Work should halt immediately and Natural Resources Wales (NRW) contacted for 
advice in the event that protected species are discovered during the course of the 
development. To proceed without seeking the advice of NRW may result in an offence 
under the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 and/or the Wildlife & 
Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) being committed. NRW can be contacted by phone 
at 0300 065 3000. 
 
 
Birds - Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) 
All nesting birds, their nests, eggs, and young are protected by law and it is an offence 
to: 
  
o intentionally kill, injure or take any wild bird 
o intentionally take, damage or destroy the next of any wild bird whilst it is in use or 
being built  
o intentionally take or destroy the egg of any wild bird 
o intentionally (or recklessly in England and Wales) disturb any wild bird listed on 
Schedule 1 while it is nest building, or at a nest containing eggs or young, or disturb the 
dependent young on such a bird. 

Page 74



 

 

  
The maximum penalty that can be imposed - in respect of a single bird, nest or egg - is 
a fine of up to 5,000 pounds, six months imprisonment or both. 
  
The applicant is therefore reminded that it is an offence under the Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) to remove or work on any hedge, tree or building 
where that work involves the taking, damaging or destruction of any nest of any wild bird 
while the nest is in use or being built (usually between late February and late August or 
late September in the case of swifts, swallows or house martins). If a nest is discovered 
while work is being undertaken, all work must stop, and advice sought from Natural 
Resources Wales and the Council's Ecologist. 
 
 
Bats - Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) and The Conservation of Habitats 
and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended).  
It is an offence for any person to:  
  
o Intentionally kill, injure or take any bats.  
o Intentionally or recklessly damage, destroy or obstruct access to any place that a 
bat uses for shelter or protection. This is taken to mean all bat roosts whether bats are 
present or not.  
  
Under the Habitats Regulations it is an offence to:  
o Damage or destroy a breeding site or resting place of any bat. This is an 
absolute offence - in other words, intent or recklessness does not have to be proved. 
  
The applicant is therefore reminded that it is an offence under the Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) and The Conservation of Habitats and Species 
Regulations 2017 (as amended) that works to trees or buildings where that work 
involves the disturbance of a bat is an offence if a licence has not been obtained from 
Natural Resources Wales. If a bat is discovered while work is being undertaken, all work 
must stop and advice sought from Natural Resources Wales and the Council's 
Ecologist. You can also call the National Bat helpline on 0345 1300 228 or email 
enquiries@bats.org.uk. 
 
5.Rights of way 
o Development over, or illegal interference with, a public right of way, is a criminal 
offence and enforcement action will be taken against a developer who ignores the 
presence of affected public rights of way. This includes temporary obstructions such as 
rubble mounds, building materials, parked vehicles etc…   
 
o Landscaping & Surfacing - .Advice will need to be sought before interfering or 
surfacing a public right of way. 
  
o New fencing or boundaries - The developer will need to seek a licence for a new 
structure if intending to create a boundary across a public footpath or bridleway. We 

Page 75



 

 

cannot authorise a structure across a Restricted Byway or Byway Open to All Traffic. 
 
o Temporary closures - The developer can seek a temporary closure of a public 
right of way from the council if they feel the public may be at risk during development.   
 
Legal Diversion - If development directly affects a public right of way, the developer will 
need to seek advice and apply for a legal diversion from the Council. No development 
can take place on a public right of way until a legal order is confirmed and the process 
may take at least 6 months.  For more information please discuss with Countryside 
Services at the earliest available opportunity. 
 
6.Groundwater 
We refer you to the Environment Agency (2017) 'Approach to groundwater protection' 
position statements which have been adopted by NRW. In particular, Position 
Statement 
G13 (Sustainable drainage systems) which applies to this development. 
Advice on environmental considerations and the assessments needed to support your 
planning application can be found on our external website. 
 
For advice on how to deal with possible land contamination on your development visit: 
http://naturalresources.wales/guidance-and-advice/business-sectors/planning-
anddevelopment/ 
advice-for-developers/land-contamination/?lang=en 
For advice on how to protect groundwater at your development visit: 
http://naturalresources.wales/guidance-and-advice/business-sectors/planning-
anddevelopment/ 
advice-for-developers/protecting-groundwater/?lang=en 
 
Pollution Prevention 
 
Responsibility for preventing pollution rests with those in control of the development. 
Pollution Prevention Guidance should be read by those carrying out the work. 
All works at the site must be carried out in accordance with the Guidance for Pollution 
Prevention and of particular importance to this application is GPP5 'Works in, near or 
over 
watercourses' which is available at: 
http://www.netregs.org.uk/environmental-topics/pollution-prevention-guidelines-ppgs-
andreplacement- 
series/guidance-for-pollution-prevention-gpps-full-list/ 
If a pollution incident does arise the site must inform us immediately via our incident 
hotline. 
 
7.Common Land 
Please note Powys County Council is not the determining authority, the Planning 
Inspectorate in Wales is responsible for determining applications on behalf of the Welsh 
Minister. Application forms and guidance about how to make an application under 

Page 76



 

 

Section 16 of the Commons Act 2006 are available on the Welsh Government website: 
 
https://gov.wales/commons-act-2006-apply-under-section-16  
 
The Registration Authority also recommends the reading of the Welsh Government 
'Common Land Consents Guidance' that was published in August 2014. This document 
is available at the following link: 
 
https://gov.wales/common-land-consents-guidance  
 
 
__________________________________________________ 
Case Officer: Lorraine Jenkin, Senior Planning Officer 
Tel: 01597 827527 E-mail: lorraine.jenkin@powys.gov.uk     

 
 

Page 77

https://gov.wales/common-land-consents-guidance


This page is intentionally left blank



Page 79



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Planning, Taxi Licensing and Rights of Way Committee Report 
 

Application 
Number: 

21/1399/FUL 
 

Grid Ref: E: 293092 

N: 299437 

Community 
Council: 

 Llanbrynmair Community Valid Date: 06.08.2021 

 
Applicant: Ms Jan Coles 
 
Location: Station House, Talerddig, Llanbrynmair, Powys, SY19 7AL  
 
Proposal: Proposed change of use of residential dwelling to a registered childrens 
home 
 
Application Type: Full Application 
 
 
The reason for Committee determination 
 
The application has been ‘called-in’ by the Local Elected Member.  
 
Consultee Responses 
 
Consultee Received 

 
Community Council  

No comments received at the time of writing this report.  

 

PCC-Building Control  

No comments received at the time of writing this report. 

 

Councillor Jones-Poston 27th Aug 2021 

I would like to call this application for a change of use to a safe accommodation for 

children and young people with complex needs in to the planning committee due to local 

concerns. 

There are safety concerns relating to the close proximity of the railway to the property. 

There is also a designated passing place and a holding for waiting trains located very 

Page 81

4.3



 

 

close to the property.  

The access from the A470 trunk road to the property is not suitable for the amount of 

additional vehicles needing to use the single lane to the property including staff and other 

professional personnel visiting the property for the needs of the children. Lorries have to 

currently reverse on the trunk road to access the lane from the direction of Carno. Welsh 

Government Highways and Trunk Roads department will need to be consulted on this 

change of use application for access issues and safety. 

There are a number of young families living in the local area of Talerddig who are 

concerned with the proposed safe accommodation for children and young people with 

complex needs and the effect on the local community, activity clubs and schools. The 

local community need to be consulted and an opportunity for residents to provide their 

views and for their concerns to be taken into consideration in regards to this proposed 

safe accommodation 

 

PCC-(N) Highways 3rd Sep 2021 

The site is located adjacent to the former railway crossing which has been recently 

decommissioned by the Network Rail following construction of several over bridges 

serving the Aberystwyth to Shrewsbury railway line. Following the closure of the railway 

crossing the road leading to the site is now only serving the property with newly improved 

junction with U2529. We further note that the site benefits from adequate parking and 

turning area which enables vehicles to enter and leave the site in a forward gear.   

 The access to the site is via U2529 highway leading from junction with A470(T) 

Trunk Road. The unclassified highway U2529 is wide enough to allow passing of two-way 

traffic and benefits from suitable passing places.  

 Therefore, the Highway Authority confirms that the immediate highway network is 

suitable to accommodate development of this nature and the additional vehicular 

movements they would generate. We consider that the proposal will not be detrimental to 

the safety and convenience of all users of the adjoining highway network and as such we 

have no objection on this application.  

 

Hafren Dyfrdwy 16th Aug 2021 

Thank you for the opportunity to comment on this planning application. Please find our 

response noted below: 

Page 82



 

 

With Reference to the above planning application the company's observations regarding 

sewerage are as follows. 

As the proposal has minimal impact on the public sewerage system I can advise we have 

no objections to the proposals and do not require a drainage condition to be applied. 

Please note if you wish to respond to this email please send it to 

applanning@hdcymru.co.uk where we will look to respond within 10 working days.  

 

Network Rail 6th Sep 2021 

Whilst there are no objections in principle to the above proposal, boundary measures 

around the development, especially direct interface areas should be improved to prevent 

trespass onto the railway - this may include bridge areas where applicable. The developer 

must provide a suitable trespass proof fence adjacent to Network Rail's boundary 

(minimum approx. 1.8m high) and make provision for its future maintenance and renewal. 

Network Rail's existing fencing / wall must not be removed or damaged. Due to the close 

proximity of the operational railway by the boundary area, these fencing changes will 

require safety supervision and further consultation with Network Rail before any works 

commence. All costs associated with this consultation and site safety measures required 

for rail site supervision etc. will bourne by the applicant. 

These works will need to be undertaken following engagement with Asset Protection to 

determine the interface with Network Rail assets, buried or otherwise and by entering into 

a Basis Asset Protection Agreement, if required, with a minimum of 3months notice 

before works start. Initially the outside party should contact 

assetprotectionwales@networkrail.co.uk . 

 

WG - Highways Directorate 28th Sep 2021 

I refer to your consultation of 23 September 2021 regarding the above application, and 

advise that the Welsh Government as highway authority for the A470 trunk road directs 

that planning permission is not granted at this time as the applicant has provided 

insufficient information to determine the application. 

The applicant must provide the following information to support this application or 

resubmit the application with the following details; 

1) The applicant must provide the existing and proposed Annual Average Daily Traffic 

(AADT - vehicle movement values) for the access onto the A470 trunk road. 

Page 83



 

 

If you have any further queries, please forward to the following Welsh Government 

Mailbox NorthandMidWalesDevelopmentControlMailbox@gov.wales 

 

WG - Highways Directorate 28th Oct 2021 

I refer to your consultation of 18th October 2021 regarding the above application, and 

advise that the Welsh Government as highway authority for the A470 trunk road directs 

that planning permission is not granted at this time as the applicant has provided 

insufficient information to determine the application. 

The applicant must provide the following information to support this application or 

resubmit the application with the following details; 

1) The applicant must provide the existing (permitted development) and proposed Annual 

Average Daily Traffic (AADT - vehicle movement values) for the access onto the A470 

trunk road. 

a) The applicant should break down the proposed values by type (resident, visitor, staff, 

servicing/cleaners etc.). 

 

WG - Highways Directorate 17th Nov 2021 

I refer to your consultation of 03/11/2021 regarding the above planning application and 
advise that the Welsh Government as highway authority for the A470 trunk road does not 
issue a direction in respect of this application.  
 
If you have any further queries, please forward to the following Welsh Government 
Mailbox NorthandMidWalesDevelopmentControlMailbox@gov.wales 

 

Representations 
 
Yn dilyn arddangos hysbysiad safle ar 13/08/2021 derbyniwyd nifer o wrthwynebiadau 
ar adeg ysgrifennu'r adroddiad hwn, ac ysgrifennwyd rhai ohonynt yn y Gymraeg. Mae'r 
gwrthwynebiadau hyn yn ymwneud â'r canlynol. 
 

 Ddim yn hoffi’r cynnig yn gyffredinol 

 Pryderon nad yw'r gyffordd a'r A470 yn ddiogel ar gyfer rhagor o symudiadau 
traffig 

 Lleoliad gwledig 

 Agosrwydd at y rheilffordd a iard y rheilffordd 

Page 84



 

 

 Fferm wrth ymyl gyda pheiriannau peryglus cysylltiedig  

 Mynediad yn ystod tywydd garw 
 
Following the display of a site notice on 13th August 2021 a number of objections have 
been received at the time of writing this report, some of which are written in the Welsh 
language. These objections relate to the following. 
 

 General dislike of the proposal 

 Concerns that the junction to the A470 is not safe for additional traffic 
movements 

 Rural location 

 Proximity to the railway and railway yard 

 Neighbouring farm with associated hazardous machinery  

 Access during inclement weather 
 
Planning History 
 

App Ref Description Decision Date 
 
M/2001/0759 Erection of a two storey side 

extension to dwelling and 
erection of a single storey 
extension to provide garage 

Refused 09/10/2001 

    
M/2001/0955 Erection of a two storey side 

extension to existing dwelling and 
erection of single storey 
extensions to include a double 
garage 

Refused 10/12/2001 

    
M/2001/1108 Erection of a two storey side 

extension to existing dwelling and 
erection of a single storey 
extensions  to include double 
garage (revised proposal) 

Consent 07/02/2002 

    
 

Principal Planning Constraints 
 

 

 
Principal Planning Policies 
 

Policy Policy Description Year Local Plan 
 
PPW Planning Policy Wales 

(Edition 11, February 
 National Policy 

Open Countryside  

Page 85



 

 

2021) 
 
NATPLA Future Wales - The 

National Plan 2040 
 National 

Development Plan 
2021 

 
TAN5 Nature Conservation and 

Planning 
 National Policy 

 
TAN11 Noise  National Policy 
 
TAN12 Design  National Policy 
 
TAN18 Transport  National Policy 
 
TAN23 Economic Development  National Policy 
 
DM2 The Natural Environment  Local Development 

Plan 2011-2026 
 
DM4 Landscape  Local Development 

Plan 2011-2026 
 
DM7 Dark Skies and External 

Lighting 
 Local Development 

Plan 2011-2026 
 
DM13 Design and Resources  Local Development 

Plan 2011-2026 
 
SP7 Safeguarding of Strategic 

Resources and Assets 
 Local Development 

Plan 2011-2026 
 
T1 Travel, Traffic and 

Transport Infrastructure 
 Local Development 

Plan 2011-2026 
 
H3 Housing Delivery  Local Development 

Plan 2011-2026 
 
SPGBIO Biodiversity and 

Geodiversity SPG (2018) 
 Local Development 

Plan 2011-2026 
 
SPGLAN Landscape SPG  Local Development 

Plan 2011-2026 
 
SPGRES Residential Design Guide 

SPG (2020) 
 Local Development 

Plan 2011-2026 

Page 86



 

 

 
 
Other Legislative Considerations 
 
Crime and Disorder Act 1998  
Equality Act 2010  
Planning (Wales) Act 2015 (Welsh language)  
Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015  
Marine and Coastal Access Act 2009 
 

Officer Appraisal 
 

Site Location and Description 
 
The application site is located within Llanbrynmair Community Council area. The site 
does not form part of any settlement boundary and is therefore considered to be 
development within the open countryside as defined by the Powys Local Development 
Plan (2018). The site features a detached property accessed via the U2529 to the 
South-East, which leads to the A470 some 600 metres North. The railway track sits 
immediately adjacent to the South-Western boundary, with the railway yard to the 
South-East. 
 
This application seeks consent for the change of use of Station House from a residential 
dwelling (C3) to a residential care facility (C2). No external or internal alterations are 
proposed as part of the application, which relates solely to the change of use. 
 
Principle of Development 
 
The development relates to C2 use (residential institution) as defined by the Town and 
Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987 (as amended). There is not a specific 
policy for C2 uses within the Powys Local Development Plan (2018) but the thrust of 
both local and national planning policy is to locate new development, be it residential, 
employment or leisure uses, within or adjacent to settlements as this is the most 
sustainable option for service and infrastructure provision. However, there are 
occasions where development in the open countryside can be acceptable in principle; 
and one of those instances is the reuse of previously developed land. 
 
Planning Policy Wales (PPW) Edition 11 (2021) defines ‘previously developed land’ as 
land ‘which is or was occupied by a permanent structure (excluding agricultural or 
forestry buildings) and associated fixed surface infrastructure. The curtilage of the 
development is included, as are defence buildings and land used for mineral extraction 
and waste disposal where provision for restoration has not been made through 
development management procedures.’ Paragraph 3.44 of PPW states that only when 
is has been clearly demonstrated that there is no previously developed land, or 
underutilised sites (within the authority or neighbouring authorities), should greenfield 
sites within or on the edge of settlements be considered.  
 

Page 87



 

 

The proposed development seeks to change the use of an existing residential dwelling 
associated residential curtilage and access. Officers are satisfied that the proposal 
would constitute the re-use of previously developed land within open countryside as 
encouraged by the aforementioned policies. In addition, the development has been 
accompanied by justification in support of its location. A larger scale property is required 
to accommodate the proposal by virtue of its nature, which are not typically found within 
town settlement boundaries. The applicants have also been limited to properties which 
were available on the open market to purchase and met with budget requirements for 
their purchase and any alterations required in order to meet relevant regulations for care 
homes which are covered by legislation which is separate to the planning process.  
 
Policy H3 – Housing Delivery, of the Powys Local Development Plan (2018) states the 
following.  
 
“Policy H3 seeks to achieve an appropriate range and mix of housing types to meet 
local needs, as identified in evidence such as Local Housing Market Assessment, in 
particular the needs of the county’s ageing population and decreasing household size, 
affordable housing and specialist housing needs such as supported accommodation, 
sheltered housing, care homes, low rise accessible development or bungalows, extra 
care developments”. 
 
The proposal seeks the change of use of the existing dwelling to form a residential care 
home for children. The proposed care home will reuse an existing building and does not 
propose any extensions to the existing size and scale of the property. Officers consider 
that the proposal complies with Policy H3 of the Powys LDP.  
 
Therefore, based on the policy context and above observations, the proposed 
development is considered to be acceptable in principle, subject to material 
considerations which are considered in detail below. 
 
Highways 
 
A safe access, parking and visibility splays are a fundamental requirement of any 
development and consideration has therefore been given to LDP: DM13, Part 10, T1 
and TAN 18. 
 
The application site gains its access from the A470 trunk road via the unclassified 
county highway U2529, and as such, PCC Highways Authority and Welsh Government 
Transport Division (WGTD) have been consulted on the proposed development. WGTD 
originally commented that they required further information to be able to assess the 
application. Following the submission of suitable information, they have confirmed that 
they do not issue a direction in respect of the proposed development. 
 
PCC Highways have commented that the site is located adjacent to the former railway 
crossing which has been recently decommissioned by the Network Rail following 
construction of several over bridges serving the Aberystwyth to Shrewsbury railway line. 

Page 88



 

 

Following the closure of the railway crossing the road leading to the site is now only 
serving the property with newly improved junction with U2529. PCC Highways further 
note that the site benefits from adequate parking and turning area which enables 
vehicles to enter and leave the site in a forward gear. The access to the site is via 
U2529 highway leading from junction with A470(T) Trunk Road. The unclassified 
highway U2529 is wide enough to allow passing of two-way traffic and benefits from 
suitable passing places. PCC Highways have therefore confirmed that the immediate 
highway network is suitable to accommodate development of this nature and the 
additional vehicular movements they would generate, and that the proposal will not be 
detrimental to the safety and convenience of all users of the adjoining highway network. 
In light of this, PCC Highways have no objection to the application. 
 
It is noted that third party comments have raised concerns with the vehicular access to 
the site, and the proposed increase in traffic movements. It is however further noted that 
both PCC Highways and WGTD do not raise any objection to the proposal. 
 
Based on the above, and the consultation replies received from PCC Highways and 
WGTD, Officers consider that the proposal complies with relevant planning policies. 
 
Neighbour Amenities 
 
In considering the amenities enjoyed by occupiers of neighbouring properties 
consideration has been given to the LDP Residential Design SPG & LDP: DM13 (Part 
11).  
 
The site has no immediate neighbours, with the closest neighbouring residential 
property approximately 550 metres away. The application does not propose any 
extensions that would have any impact upon light. Given the distance involved, the 
proposed development is also not considered to offer any adverse impacts to any 
neighbouring properties in terms of loss of privacy. 
 
In light of the above it is not considered that the proposal will offer any additional impact 
upon the amenity of neighbouring properties. 
 
Railway 
 
The application site is located adjacent to the Aberystwyth to Shrewsbury railway line, 
and as such Network Rail have been consulted on the proposal. Network Rail have 
confirmed that they have no objection to the proposal, but have requested that a 
suitable trespass proof fence, of a minimum approx. 1.8 metre height, be erected along 
the site boundary with the railway between separate agreement with the applicant and 
Network Rail. The applicants have confirmed that this will be adhered to, and a suitable 
fence to meet Network Rail’s requirements will be installed through consultation with 
them. 
 
In light of the above, it is considered that the proposal complies with relevant planning 

Page 89



 

 

policy.  
 
Biodiversity 
 

Policy DM2 states that proposals shall demonstrate how they protect, positively manage 
and enhance biodiversity and geodiversity interests. Proposals which would impact on 
natural environment assets will only be permitted where they do not unacceptably 
adversely affect those assets. This is further emphasised within Technical Advice Note 
(TAN) 5. 
  
The application does not propose any external changes and relates solely to the change 
of use of the existing building. A preliminary ecological assessment is therefore 
considered to be unnecessary on this occasion. 
 
Further to the above, the application includes biodiversity enhancements in the form of 
a bid box and a bat box. Given the scale of the development, being solely a change of 
use, it is considered that sufficient enhancement has been proposed. The 
implementation of this enhancement will be secured through an appropriately worded 
condition placed upon any granting of consent.  
 
In light of the above, and subject to the inclusion of an appropriately worded condition, it 
is considered that the proposed development is in accordance with policy DM2 of the 
Powys Local Development Plan, Technical Advice Note 5 and Planning Policy Wales. 
 

 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
In light of the above and subject to the recommended conditions it is considered that the 
principle of the development fundamentally complies with relevant planning policy and 
the recommendation is one of conditional consent. 
 
 
Conditions 
 

1 The development shall begin not later than five years from the date of this 
decision. 
 
2 The development shall be carried out in accordance with the following approved 
plans and documents; Location Plan (Title WA883786), Existing and Proposed Floor 
Plan, Email from Joanna Harris dated 18/11/2021. 
 
3 Prior to the first beneficial use of the building, the biodiversity enhancements as 
detailed within the email from Joanna Harris dated 18/11/2021 shall be implemented as 
approved and maintained thereafter for as long as the development remains in 
existence. 
 

4 Prior to the first beneficial use of the development hereby approved a plan 

Page 90



 

 

indicating the positions, height, design, materials and type of boundary treatment to be 
erected shall be submitted to and approved by the local planning authority. The 
boundary treatment shall be completed as approved before the building is occupied. 
 
 
Reasons 
 

1 Required to be imposed by Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990. 
 
2 To ensure adherence to the approved plans in the interests of clarity and a 
satisfactory development. 
 
3 To comply with Powys County Council's LDP Policies DM2, DM4, DM13 in 
relation to The Natural Environment and to meet the requirements of Planning Policy 
Wales (Edition 11, 2021), TAN 5: Nature Conservation and Planning and Part 1 Section 
6 of the Environment (Wales) Act 2016. 
 
4 To protect the safety of the users in accordance with Part 5 of LDP Policy DM13.  
 
 
 
 
__________________________________________________ 
Case Officer: Rhian Griffiths, Planner 
Tel: 01597 827352 E-mail: rhian.griffiths@powys.gov.uk     

 

Page 91



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 93



This page is intentionally left blank



Application No. Proposal Location

21/1772/VAR Discharge of Section 106 
agreement in relation to 
M96562 (outline) and 
M97567 (reserved 
matters)

Hagfan (formerly Pt Enc OS 
7919 Church Pitch)
Llandyssil
Montgomery
Powys
SY15 6LQ

21/2009/AGR Agriculutural notification 
for erection of an 
agricultural building to 
cover existing silage pit

Red House
Abermule
Montgomery
Powys
SY15 6NT

20/0627/DIS Application to discharge 
condition 4 of planning 
approval P/2016/0603

Land Adjoining Bear House
Crew Green
Shrewsbury
Powys
SY5 9AT

21/0225/REM Section 73 application to 
vary condition 2 of 
P/2017/0811 in relation to 
approved plans (design)

Land Adjacent To Belle Vue
Garthmyl
Welshpool
Powys

Berriew 
Community

Approve 10/02/2021 Removal or Variation 
of Condition

04/11/2021

Bausley With 
Criggion 
Community

Approve 21/04/2020 Discharge of 
Condition

19/11/2021

Abermule And 
Llandyssil 
Community

Approve 20/09/2021 Discharge/Modificatio
n of S106

10/11/2021

Prior 
Approval 
Approved

05/11/2021 Agricultural 
Notification

09/11/2021

Delegated List 

106 Applications

Excel Version
Go Back

Parish Name Decision Date Application Application Type Date Decision 
Issued

CODE: IDOX.PL.REP.05 
25/11/2021 15:00:37 POWYSCC\\sandraf 
Go Back Page 1 of 24

P
age 95

5



Delegated List 

106 Applications

21/0983/FUL Erection of a 
dwellinghouse and 
detached garage / 
workshop & studio above, 
formation of vehicular 
access & all  associated 
works

Land At Chestnut House 
Berriew
Welshpool
SY21 8PL

21/1472/FUL Erection of a replacement 
dwelling, to include 
alterations to access and 
associated works

Luggy Brook Cottage 
Red Lane
Berriew
Welshpool
SY21 8AS

21/1675/FUL Erection of a replacement 
dwelling and associated 
works

Upper Ucheldre
Brooks
Welshpool
Powys
SY21 8QW

21/2003/DIS Discharge of planning 
condition no's 4 and 7 
attached to planning 
approval 19/1973/FUL

Proposed Cycle Track
Love Lane
Builth Wells
Powys

21/1693/FUL Proposed improvement to 
existing access including 
surface water drainage 
improvements 
(resubmission)

Heulfryn 
Penegoes
Machynlleth
SY20 8SH

Cadfarch 
Community

Approve 30/09/2021 Full Application 24/11/2021

Builth Wells 
Community

Approve 22/10/2021 Discharge of 
Condition

19/11/2021

Bettws 
Community

Refused 04/10/2021 Full Application 23/11/2021

Approve 26/05/2021 Full Application 12/11/2021

Approve 26/08/2021 Full Application 23/11/2021

CODE: IDOX.PL.REP.05 
25/11/2021 15:00:37 POWYSCC\\sandraf 
Go Back Page 2 of 24

P
age 96



Delegated List 

106 Applications

21/1676/HH Erection of a first floor 
side extension

Hen Rhyd 
Henrhyd Lane
Castle Caereinion
Welshpool
SY21 9AJ

21/1207/DIS Application to discharge 
condition no's. 18, 19, 20, 
21 & 22 attached to 
planning approval for 4 
holiday units 20/1901/FUL

The Drewin Farm
Churchstoke
Montgomery
Powys
SY15 6TW

21/1645/HH Demolition of existing 
dwelling side extension 
and replacement with new 
two storey extension; and 
demolition of existing 
garage and replacement 
with new detached garage 
and storage space.

The Hollies 
Old Churchstoke
Montgomery
SY15 6EL

21/1836/HH Deconstruction and 
rebuilding of adjoining 
domestic barn to form 
additional living 
accommodation, to 
include alterations

The Barns 
Hyssington
Montgomery
Powys
SY15 6EG

Churchstoke 
Community

Approve 09/07/2021 Discharge of 
Condition

15/11/2021

Consent 21/09/2021 Householder 15/11/2021

Consent 04/10/2021 Householder 22/11/2021

Castle 
Caereinion 
Community

Approve 29/09/2021 Householder 11/11/2021

CODE: IDOX.PL.REP.05 
25/11/2021 15:00:37 POWYSCC\\sandraf 
Go Back Page 3 of 24

P
age 97



Delegated List 

106 Applications

21/1489/DIS Discharge of conditions 6, 
7, 8, 9 and 10 of planning 
permission 19/0993/OUT 
(contaminated land)

Land Adjacent To 
Hollydene
Hall Bank
Churchstoke
Montgomery
Powys

21/0277/HH Erection of an annex to 
provide additional living 
accommodation for 
relatives

Mill Cottage
Clyro
Hereford
Powys
HR3 5SE

21/2107/TRE Works to a tree in a 
conservation area

Waverleigh
Clyro
Hereford
Powys
HR3 5SE

21/1754/FUL Erection of an agricultural 
building for implement 
storage

Pentre Farm
Parkstile Lane
Howey
Llandrindod Wells
Powys
LD1 5RF

21/1504/FUL Demolition of existing 
bungalow and 
construction of 
replacement dwelling with 
all associated works

Lower Gaufron Bungalow 
Howey
Llandrindod Wells
LD1 5RG

Disserth And 
Trecoed 
Community

Approve 16/09/2021 Full Application 19/11/2021

Consent 03/09/2021 Full Application 04/11/2021

04/11/2021

Clyro 
Community

Approve 22/03/2021 Householder 18/11/2021

Consent 03/11/2021 Works to trees in 
Conservation Area

22/11/2021

Split 
Decision

06/08/2021 Discharge of 
Condition

CODE: IDOX.PL.REP.05 
25/11/2021 15:00:37 POWYSCC\\sandraf 
Go Back Page 4 of 24

P
age 98



Delegated List 

106 Applications

21/1313/FUL Change of use of former 
nursing home to a 
dwelling and annexe, and 
2 holiday apartments

Tyn-y-graig Residential 
Home
Llanynis
Builth Wells
Powys
LD2 3HH

21/0988/AGR Erection of a cover over 
existing yard

Llwyneuadd
Llandefalle
Brecon
Powys
LD3 0NT

21/1446/HH Erection of car charger 
and the provision of 
paved area and fencing

21 Nantcribba Barns 
Forden
Welshpool
SY21 8NW

21/1447/LBC Erection of car charger 
and provision of paved 
area and fencing

21 Nantcribba Barns 
A490 From Junction With 
C2007 West By Pont Rhyd-
Y-Groes To Junction With 
B4388 K
Forden
Welshpool
SY21 8NW

21/1750/VAR Discharge of the S106 
attached to permission 
M/2003/0618 (relating to 
occupancy)

Broadlands
Forden
Welshpool
Powys
SY21 8NB

Forden With 
Leighton & 
Trelystan Com

Approve 11/08/2021 Householder 15/11/2021

Approve 11/08/2021 Listed Building 
Consent

15/11/2021

Approve 15/09/2021 Discharge/Modificatio
n of S106

10/11/2021

Felin-Fach 
Community

Approve 21/07/2021 Full Application 08/11/2021

Duhonw 
Community

Consent 11/08/2021 Full Application 19/11/2021

CODE: IDOX.PL.REP.05 
25/11/2021 15:00:37 POWYSCC\\sandraf 
Go Back Page 5 of 24

P
age 99



Delegated List 

106 Applications

21/0110/FUL Replacement of 
dilapidated dwelling and 
ancillary domestic 
outbuildings with new 
dwelling inspired by 
Welsh hillside 
Tabernacles and 
installation of package 
treatment plant

Grove Cottage 
Gladestry
Kington
HR5 3NS

21/1236/FUL Extension to existing 
registered caravan site by 
provision of 9 static 
caravans pitches together 
with erection of a building 
to accommodate office, 
washroom, showers, 
toilets & store and 
formation of a new 
vehicular access (revised 
proposal to 20/1978/FUL)

Bryn Dyfi
Cemmaes
Machynlleth
Powys
SY20 9AA

Glantwymyn 
Community

Approve 16/07/2021 Full Application 04/11/2021

Gladestry 
Community

Consent 21/01/2021 Full Application 18/11/2021

CODE: IDOX.PL.REP.05 
25/11/2021 15:00:37 POWYSCC\\sandraf 
Go Back Page 6 of 24

P
age 100



Delegated List 

106 Applications

21/1515/REM Section 73 application in 
relation to variation of 
condition 2 of planning 
permission  P/2012/0616  
(change of site layout)

Condition Number(s): 2

Conditions(s) Removal:

Change of site layout 
Change of site layout

Bryn Uchel Isaf Caravan 
Park
Cwmllinau
Machynlleth
Powys
SY20 9PE

21/0530/CLE Section 191 application 
for lawful development 
certificate for the 
occupation of dwelling 
without compliance of 
condition 2 of permission 
M98261(agricultural & 
forestry occupancy)

Llys Fryddlan 
Ffridd Gate
Machynlleth
SY20 8QQ

21/1972/AGR General purpose farm 
building

Talwen Fawr 
Garthbrengy
Brecon
LD3 9TE

21/1233/HH Erection of an extension 
to replace existing 
conservatory

Caelydan Bungalow 
Dolfor
Llandrindod Wells
Powys
SY16 4AL

Kerry 
Community

Consent 19/07/2021 Householder 15/11/2021

Honddu Isaf 
Community

Permitted 
Developm
ent

15/11/2021 Agricultural 
Notification

19/11/2021

Approve 16/08/2021 Removal or Variation 
of Condition

05/11/2021

Approve 13/09/2021 Certificate of 
Lawfulness - Existing

05/11/2021

CODE: IDOX.PL.REP.05 
25/11/2021 15:00:37 POWYSCC\\sandraf 
Go Back Page 7 of 24

P
age 101



Delegated List 

106 Applications

21/1554/FUL Change of use of 
agricultural land to area 
for siting of two camping 
pods and associated 
works,  improvements to 
existing access and 
installation of a septic 
tank

Bedol 
Sarn
Newtown
SY16 4HW

21/1674/HH Single storey rear 
extension to link dwelling 
and garage workshop, 
rear extension to ground 
floor dwelling to create 
roof terrace and enclosed 

18 High Street
Knighton
Powys
LD7 1AT

21/1330/CAC Demolition of rear 
extensions

Sorrel Cottage
5 - 7 Russell Street
Knighton
Powys
LD7 1EU

21/1329/HH Erection of a rear 
extension, to include the 
demolition of existing 
extensions

Sorrel Cottage
5 - 7 Russell Street
Knighton
Powys
LD7 1EU

21/1223/FUL New external sand arena 
and manage requiring 
change of use from 
agricultural land to D2 
(Assembly and leisure)

Llwyn Gwynfel 
Llanafanfawr
Builth Wells
LD2 3LU

08/11/2021

Llanafan-Fawr 
Community

Consent 30/06/2021 Full Application 19/11/2021

Knighton 
Community

Approve 15/09/2021 Householder 11/11/2021

Consent 19/07/2021 Conservation Area 
Consent

08/11/2021

Consent 20/07/2021 Householder

Consent 13/09/2021 Full Application 22/11/2021

CODE: IDOX.PL.REP.05 
25/11/2021 15:00:37 POWYSCC\\sandraf 
Go Back Page 8 of 24

P
age 102



Delegated List 

106 Applications

21/1428/FUL Conversion and extension 
of redundant farm building 
to provide residential 
accommodation, 
installation of a sewage 
treatment plant, together 
with all other associated 
works

Barn At Pentrebach 
Llanafanfawr
Builth Wells
LD2 3PE

21/0561/FUL Erection of an equestrian 
building

Land Adjacent To Briddell
Llanddewi
Llandrindod Wells
Powys
LD1 6SD

21/1423/FUL Erection of an agricultural 
implement and feed store

Land Adjacent To 
Sewerage Works 
Crossgates 
Llandrindod Wells 
Powys

21/1500/HH Removal of existing single 
storey and erection of part 
single and two storey rear 
extension

Llwynmorfa 
Crossgates
Llandrindod Wells
LD1 6RF

20/0749/FUL Erection of log cabin 
lodges, installation of 
package treatment plant 
and other associated 
works

Rhos
Llanbadarn Fynydd
Llandrindod
Powys
LD1 6YN

Llanbadarn 
Fynydd 
Community

Approve 01/06/2020 Full Application 12/11/2021

Llanbadarn Fawr 
Community

Consent 25/03/2021 Full Application 19/11/2021

Consent 03/08/2021 Full Application 15/11/2021

Consent 26/08/2021 Householder 15/11/2021

Consent 02/08/2021 Full Application 05/11/2021

CODE: IDOX.PL.REP.05 
25/11/2021 15:00:37 POWYSCC\\sandraf 
Go Back Page 9 of 24

P
age 103



Delegated List 

106 Applications

21/1854/AGR Erection of a roof over 
existing external manure 
store

Dolygarn 
Llanbadarn Fynydd
Llandrindod Wells
Powys
LD1 6YL

21/1732/FUL Erection of covered area 
over an existing farm yard 
manure store, feeding 
and gathering area

Trellwydion 
Llanbister
Llandrindod Wells
LD1 6TH

20/1928/FUL Renovation and extension 
of existing dwelling, 
installation of sewage 
treatment plant with outfall 
to watercourse and 
formation of a private 
access road to serve the 
dwelling (resubmission of 
19/0685/FUL)

Hirnant Old House
Dylife
Llanbrynmair
Powys
SY19 7BP

21/1539/REM Section 73 application to 
vary conditions 2 and 6 of 
planning approval 
P/2017/0473 (design and 
materials)

Land Adjoining Hafgan
Llan
Llanbrynmair
Powys
SY19 7DW

20/1772/FUL Erection of an agricultural 
building and all other 
associated works

Cefncynfal 
Llanddewi
Llandrindod Wells
Powys
LD1 6SL

Llanddewi 
Ystradenni 
Community

Approve 19/11/2020 Full Application 16/11/2021

Llanbrynmair 
Community

Approve 11/11/2020 Full Application 22/11/2021

Approve 18/08/2021 Removal or Variation 
of Condition

11/11/2021

Llanbister 
Community

Consent 27/09/2021 Full Application 22/11/2021

Prior 
Approval 
Approved

27/10/2021 Agricultural 
Notification

11/11/2021

CODE: IDOX.PL.REP.05 
25/11/2021 15:00:37 POWYSCC\\sandraf 
Go Back Page 10 of 24

P
age 104



Delegated List 

106 Applications

21/1049/FUL Replacement windows to 
the front elevation (part 
retrospective)

Brighton House
Temple Street
Llandrindod Wells
Powys
LD1 5DL

21/0898/DIS Application to discharge 
condition 3 of planning 
approval 20/1340/FUL

Land Off B4393 At Plas 
Foxen
Four Crosses
Llanymynech
Powys
SY22 6RG

21/1673/VAR Application to discharge 
Section 106 legal 
agreement attached to 
planning approval 
P/2009/1258  (occupancy 
restriction)

Gwalia
Penrhos
Llanymynech
Powys
SY22 6QE

21/1319/HH Erection of a rear 
extension

Yr Helyg 
Llanfair Caereinion
Welshpool
SY21 0DB

21/1361/FUL Erection of an agricultural 
building

The Gables
Llanfechain
Powys
SY22 6UQ

Llanfechain 
Community

Approve 28/07/2021 Full Application 05/11/2021

Llanfair 
Caereinion 
Community

Approve 26/07/2021 Householder 05/11/2021

Llandrinio And 
Arddleen 
Community

Approve 12/05/2021 Discharge of 
Condition

15/11/2021

Refused 07/09/2021 Discharge/Modificatio
n of S106

05/11/2021

Llandrindod 
Wells 
Community

Consent 17/09/2021 Full Application 04/11/2021

CODE: IDOX.PL.REP.05 
25/11/2021 15:00:37 POWYSCC\\sandraf 
Go Back Page 11 of 24

P
age 105



Delegated List 

106 Applications

21/1451/FUL Erection of a roundhouse 
for use in conjunction with 
a wellness retreat, to 
include all associated 
works

Land North Of Felin 
Cadwnfa
Llanfihangel 
Llanfyllin 
Powys 
SY22 5JF

21/0725/DIS Discharge of conditions 
12 and 16 of permission 
P/2017/0823

Development At Cefn Llan
Llangammarch Wells
Powys

21/0771/DIS Discharge of conditions 2, 
3, 4 and 17 of permission 
P/2018/0315 
(APP/T6850/A/18/321834
2)

Development At Cefn Llan
Llangammarch Wells
Powys

21/1443/FUL Construction of a stoned 
track in the forest block to 
provide access

Crychan Forest (North)
Fingerpost Junction 
Tirabad
Llangammarch Wells 
Powys 

21/1478/FUL Construction a roof 
structure over an existing 
cattle feeding yard

Blaenycwm 
Knighton
Powys
LD7 1SF

21/1720/HH Erection of two storey 
extension and associated 
enlargement of curtilage.

Plas Gwyn Cottage 
Llangyniew
Welshpool
SY21 0JY

Llangyniew 
Community

Approve 28/09/2021 Householder 19/11/2021

Llangunllo 
Community

Consent 23/08/2021 Full Application 05/11/2021

Llangammarch 
Community

Approve 20/04/2021 Discharge of 
Condition

11/11/2021

Approve 27/04/2021 Discharge of 
Condition

18/11/2021

Consent 11/08/2021 Full Application 11/11/2021

Llanfihangel 
Community

Approve 10/08/2021 Full Application 22/11/2021

CODE: IDOX.PL.REP.05 
25/11/2021 15:00:37 POWYSCC\\sandraf 
Go Back Page 12 of 24

P
age 106



Delegated List 

106 Applications

21/1231/FUL Siting of 17 holiday 
accommodation units, 
alterations and change of 
use to existing barn to 
provide a storage and 
laundry facility, installation 
of a treatment plants and 
all associated works

Ty Coed
Bryntail Lead Mine Road 
Crowlwm
Y Fan
Llanidloes
Powys
SY18 6NZ

21/1651/VAR Application to discharge 
Section 106 legal 
agreement attached to 
planning approval 
M20021158 (occupancy 
restriction)

Chapel Lodge
Newchapel
Llanidloes
Powys
SY18 6LH

21/1270/OUT Erection of a rural 
enterprise dwelling, 
formation of vehicular 
access, installation of 
treatment plant and 
associated works

Land South South West Of 
Gerallt
Brithdir
Llanfyllin
Powys

21/1995/NMA Non Material Amendment 
to planning approval 
20/1064/RES - 
adjustments to the design 
and positioning of each 
dwelling and garage

The Old Station Yard
Pen-y-bont
Oswestry
Powys

Llansantffraid 
Community

Approve 04/11/2021 Non-Material 
Amendment

16/11/2021

Llanrhaeadr-Ym-
Mochant 
Community

Refused 20/07/2021 Outline planning 18/11/2021

Llanidloes 
Without 
Community

Approve 13/07/2021 Full Application 04/11/2021

Approve 01/09/2021 Discharge/Modificatio
n of S106

19/11/2021

CODE: IDOX.PL.REP.05 
25/11/2021 15:00:37 POWYSCC\\sandraf 
Go Back Page 13 of 24

P
age 107



Delegated List 

106 Applications

21/2045/NMA Application for non-
material amendments to 
permission 20/1843/FUL 
to allow for amended 
plans

Development Of Holiday 
Pods At Land West Of 
Godor Fawr
Llansantffraid-ym-mechain
Powys

21/1736/NMA Application for non-
material amendments to 
permission P/2017/0009 
to allow for amended 
plans

Maesgwyn
Llansantffraid-ym-mechain
Powys
SY22 6SX

21/1320/LBC Revisions to fenestration Lledrod 
Llansilin
Oswestry
SY10 7PU

21/1728/FUL Proposed Agricultural 
Building to cover existing 
yard

Lloran Uchaf 
Moelfre
Oswestry
SY10 7QT

Llansilin 
Community

Approve 16/07/2021 Listed Building 
Consent

24/11/2021

Approve 23/09/2021 Full Application 19/11/2021

Approve 10/11/2021 Non-Material 
Amendment

24/11/2021

NMA 
Approved

07/10/2021 Non-Material 
Amendment

04/11/2021

CODE: IDOX.PL.REP.05 
25/11/2021 15:00:37 POWYSCC\\sandraf 
Go Back Page 14 of 24

P
age 108



Delegated List 

106 Applications

21/1336/LBC Reconstruction of a 
collapsed section of listed 
bridge structure wing 
walls and abutments, 
removal of sheared and 
collapsed section of 
concrete scour plinth and 
reconstruction of new 
plinth with extended 
section towards 
embankment to prevent 
future scour in same 
location, together with all 
other associated works

County Bridge 613 Erw 
Bant (24381)
Newbridge On Wye
Llandrindod Wells
Powys
LD1 6ND

21/1393/HH Erection of a detached 
garage

Ty Hendre
4 Ffordd Myydd Uchaf
Machynlleth
Powys

21/1702/FUL One and half storey 
industrial unit with 
associated roadway, 
landscaping and parking.

Erection Of An Industrial 
Unit At Unit C2a
Treowain Enterprise Centre
Treowain Industrial Estate
Machynlleth
Powys
SY20 8EG

Machynlleth 
Community

Approve 30/07/2021 Householder 05/11/2021

Approve 20/09/2021 Full Application 12/11/2021

Llanwrthwl 
Community

Approve 27/07/2021 Listed Building 
Consent

22/11/2021

CODE: IDOX.PL.REP.05 
25/11/2021 15:00:37 POWYSCC\\sandraf 
Go Back Page 15 of 24

P
age 109



Delegated List 

106 Applications

20/2030/FUL Erection of an animal 
shelter and change of use 
of existing barn to light 
industry workshop, and 
use of garden area and 
Loom Room to provide an 
Alpaca Experience 
business (sui generis).

Maesnewydd
Meifod
Powys
SY22 6HP

21/1193/FUL Proposed Development of 
6 camping pods, 
formation of new access 
and parking area, 
installation of associated 
services and landscaping.

Pen Y Lan Uchaf
Meifod
SY22 6YB

21/1437/HH Erection of extensions 
and a garage, along with 
alterations to the dwelling, 
to include raising of the 
roof, some demolition, 
and associated works

Castlewood 
Merthyr Cynog
Brecon
LD3 9SD

21/1666/HH Single storey extensions 
to side and rear 
elevations

The Old School 
Dan-Y-Rhiw
Brecon
LD3 9SD

21/1502/LBC Removal of existing 
boundary hedgerow, 
construction of new walls, 
access, driveway and 
gates

Caerhowel Hall 
Caerhowel
Montgomery
SY15 6HE

Montgomery 
Community

Consent 23/09/2021 Listed Building 
Consent

24/11/2021

Merthyr Cynog 
Community

Approve 03/08/2021 Householder 05/11/2021

Consent 24/09/2021 Householder 09/11/2021

Meifod 
Community

Consent 14/12/2020 Full Application 18/11/2021

Consent 14/07/2021 Full Application 11/11/2021

CODE: IDOX.PL.REP.05 
25/11/2021 15:00:37 POWYSCC\\sandraf 
Go Back Page 16 of 24

P
age 110



Delegated List 

106 Applications

21/1501/FUL Removal of existing 
boundary hedgerow, 
construction of new walls, 
access, driveway and 
gates

Caerhowel Hall 
Caerhowel
Montgomery
Powys
SY15 6HE

21/1735/NMA Non material amendment 
to planning permission 
19/1764/FUL in relation to 
hedgerow to U1488 side 
of development adjacent 
to approved new access 
to be a new native 
species hedgerow as per 
the approved 
Landscaping and Tree 
planting scheme, rather 
than the original 
submission which was for 
translocation. All planting 
to be undertaken between 
November and March as 
per the approved 
documents

Old Station Caravan Site 
New Radnor
Presteigne
LD8 2AZ

21/1123/REM Section 73 application for 
the removal of conditions 
5 and 6 of outline 
planning consent 
P/2017/1263 (affordable 
housing)

Land Adjoining 4 Church 
House Orchard
Llanllwchaiarn
Newtown
Powys
SY16 3BH

Newtown And 
Llanllwchaiarn 
Community

Approve 22/06/2021 Removal or Variation 
of Condition

19/11/2021

New Radnor 
Community

Approve 24/09/2021 Non-Material 
Amendment

08/11/2021

Consent 29/09/2021 Full Application 24/11/2021

CODE: IDOX.PL.REP.05 
25/11/2021 15:00:37 POWYSCC\\sandraf 
Go Back Page 17 of 24

P
age 111



Delegated List 

106 Applications

21/1415/FUL Engineering operations 
for relocation of existing 
farm access and 
improved visibility splays

Pentrehedyn
Cefn Mawr
Newtown
Powys
SY16 3LD

21/1404/FUL Erection of steel portal 
framed manure store for 
the housing of dry 
manure, together with all 
other associated works

The Bryn 
Bryn Lane
Aberhafesp
Newtown
SY16 3LZ

21/1420/HH Erection of extensions, to 
include alterations and 
some demolition

7 Cambrian Gardens
Newtown
Powys
SY16 2AR

21/1573/HH Erection of two storey 
side extension to existing 
dwelling

37 Crescent Gardens
Bryn Gardens
Newtown
Powys
SY16 2HQ

21/1830/DIS Application to discharge 
condition 4 attached to 
permission 19/1059/FUL - 
relating to drainage

Former Radio Hafren 
Building
Wesley Street
Newtown
Powys
SY16 2NZ

Approve 08/10/2021 Discharge of 
Condition

15/11/2021

24/11/2021

Approve 24/08/2021 Householder 09/11/2021

Approve 28/07/2021 Full Application 11/11/2021

Approve 09/08/2021 Full Application 19/11/2021

Approve 24/08/2021 Householder

CODE: IDOX.PL.REP.05 
25/11/2021 15:00:37 POWYSCC\\sandraf 
Go Back Page 18 of 24

P
age 112



Delegated List 

106 Applications

21/1634/FUL Change of use from 
dwelling (C3a) to place of 
worship (D1) & associated 
upgrade of access & 
parking provision.

Ashbrook 
Middle Dolfor Road
Newtown
SY16 4BG

21/0408/HH Erection of 
garage/workshop and 
stable block buildings

Lower Thorne
Discoed
Presteigne
Powys
LD8 2NN

21/1074/FUL Erection of a General 
Purpose Agricultural 
Building (Cattle Shed)

Walton Farm
Walton
Presteigne
Powys
LD8 2PH

21/1796/HH Erection of single and 
double storey extensions

Cottage Farm House
Evenjobb
Presteigne
Powys
LD8 2SA

20/2125/AGR Erection of a extension to 
an existing agricultural 
building

Llanerchir
Bryngwyn
Kington
Powys
HR5 3QZ

Painscastle 
Community

Consent 08/01/2021 Full Application 10/11/2021

Old Radnor 
Community

Approve 05/03/2021 Householder 04/11/2021

Consent 10/06/2021 Full Application 16/11/2021

Consent 04/10/2021 Householder 09/11/2021

Refused 10/09/2021 Full Application 05/11/2021

CODE: IDOX.PL.REP.05 
25/11/2021 15:00:37 POWYSCC\\sandraf 
Go Back Page 19 of 24

P
age 113



Delegated List 

106 Applications

21/1869/TRE Works to trees in a 
conservation area - fell 3 
no. ash trees

Llan Farmhouse
Hirnant
Pen-y-bont-fawr 
Oswestry
Powys
SY10 0HP

21/1785/NMA Application for non-
material amendments to 
permission 20/1544/HH, 
to allow for amended 
plans

3 Dolafon Estate
Pen-Y-Bont-Fawr
Oswestry
SY10 0PA

21/1839/TRE Lopping of branches that 
are low/diseased or 
threatening buildings, 
numbered on plan with 
species and action 
required

Radnorshire Arms Hotel
High Street
Presteigne
Powys
LD8 2BE

21/0805/LBC Installation of 
replacement boiler and 
flue.

Hall Cottage
3 Oak Villas
Broad Street
Presteigne
Powys
LD8 2AE

21/1385/HH Retrospective Installation 
of hand rail to flat roof 
area

1 The Barn
Presteigne
Powys
LD8 2DP

Presteigne 
Community

Approve 20/10/2021 Works to trees in 
Conservation Area

18/11/2021

Consent 18/05/2021 Listed Building 
Consent

22/11/2021

Consent 15/09/2021 Householder 15/11/2021

Pen-y-bont 
Fawr 
Community

Approve 06/10/2021 Works to trees in 
Conservation Area

16/11/2021

NMA 
Approved

21/10/2021 Non-Material 
Amendment

17/11/2021

CODE: IDOX.PL.REP.05 
25/11/2021 15:00:37 POWYSCC\\sandraf 
Go Back Page 20 of 24

P
age 114



Delegated List 

106 Applications

20/1987/ADV Installation of a digital 
interactive information 
board (totem) and 
erection of 11 banners 
with wind release 
brackets on lamp posts 

Town Centre Land To The 
Front Of Old Swan Tea 
Rooms & Town Centre  
West Street
Rhayader 
Powys
LD6 5AB

21/1486/FUL Installation of a modular, 
de mountable building to 
provide nursery 
accommodation/classroo
m, to include associated 
works

Rhayader Church In Wales 
School
Bryntirion Lane
Rhayader
Powys
LD6 5LT

21/1109/FUL Change of use of hostel 
to a domestic dwelling, to 
include part demolition 
and rebuilding, erection of 
an extension and 
alterations (part 
retrospective)

Glyndwr
Onllwyn Road
Coelbren
Neath
Powys
SA10 9NW

21/1286/HH Erection of a second 
storey extension and car 
port

Tregarth 
8 Maes Trannon
Trefeglwys
Caersws
SY17 5PS

21/1916/DIS Application to discharge 
conditions 3, 4, 6 and 7 
attached to permission 
P/2016/0994

Land Adj Aberannell 
Bungalow
Beulah
Llanwrtyd Wells
Powys
LD5 4UA

Treflys 
Community

Approve 26/10/2021 Discharge of 
Condition

12/11/2021

Trefeglwys 
Community

Approve 28/07/2021 Householder 05/11/2021

Tawe-Uchaf 
Community

Approve 16/06/2021 Full Application 04/11/2021

Rhayader 
Community

Approve 08/02/2021 Advertisement 
Consent

05/11/2021

Approve 23/08/2021 Full Application 04/11/2021

CODE: IDOX.PL.REP.05 
25/11/2021 15:00:37 POWYSCC\\sandraf 
Go Back Page 21 of 24

P
age 115



Delegated List 

106 Applications

21/1939/AGR Ag/forestry notification for 
erection of a new building

Penrhiwgoch
Beulah
Llanwrtyd Wells
Powys
LD5 4UG

21/1741/HH Single storey side 
extension and associated 
works

3 Tan-Yr-Eglwys
Tregynon
Newtown
SY16 3EZ

21/1566/HH Erection of extension Far Heldre Farm 
Tre-Wern
Welshpool
SY21 8EG

21/1761/FUL Erection of private use 
equestrian building and all 
associated works

Crofters Barn 
Tre-Wern
Welshpool
SY21 8EG

21/1955/DIS Application to discharge 
condition no. 2 attached 
to planning approval  
M20040776 (details of 
type, colour & texture of 
all external materials for 
park home on plot 30)

30 Middletown Residential 
Park 
Middletown 
Welshpool 
SY21 8EX

21/0554/HH Demolition of existing 
garage/workshop and the 
erection of new ancillary 
workshop and office.

Tan House 
Coppice Lane
Pool Quay
Welshpool
SY21 9JX

Welshpool 
Community

Approve 19/04/2021 Householder 17/11/2021

Trewern 
Community

Approve 15/09/2021 Householder 10/11/2021

Approve 29/09/2021 Full Application 18/11/2021

Approve 28/10/2021 Discharge of 
Condition

12/11/2021

Tregynon 
Community

Consent 26/09/2021 Householder 24/11/2021

Permitted 
Developm
ent

16/11/2021 Agricultural 
Notification

19/11/2021

CODE: IDOX.PL.REP.05 
25/11/2021 15:00:37 POWYSCC\\sandraf 
Go Back Page 22 of 24

P
age 116



Delegated List 

106 Applications

21/1825/FUL Reconfiguration of the 
access and whitelining 
within the circulation route

Land At Buttington Cross 
Enterprise Park
Buttington
Welshpool
Powys
SY21 8SL

21/1246/HH Erection of extension & 
associated external 
alterations.

The Moors
Buttington
Welshpool
Powys
SY21 9JR

21/1954/NMA Non material amendment 
to planning approval 
21/0815/HH in relation to 
roof design

3 Nelson Place
Union Street
Welshpool
Powys
SY21 7PQ

21/1405/HH Improvements to dwelling 
to provide a staircase to 
the first floor and a 1st 
floor  extension

Ty'r Pentre Bach
Battle
Brecon
Powys
LD3 9RN

20/2098/HH Proposed double storey 
domestic rear extension 
and balcony to the front, 
demolition of garage and 
coal shed

Bryneglur
School Road
Abercraf
Abertawe
Powys
SA9 1XD

Ystradgynlais 
Community

Approve 22/12/2020 Householder 05/11/2021

05/11/2021

Yscir 
Community

Approve 06/08/2021 Householder 12/11/2021

Approve 07/10/2021 Full Application 19/11/2021

Consent 14/07/2021 Householder 23/11/2021

NMA 
Approved

19/10/2021 Non-Material 
Amendment

CODE: IDOX.PL.REP.05 
25/11/2021 15:00:37 POWYSCC\\sandraf 
Go Back Page 23 of 24

P
age 117



Delegated List 

106 Applications

21/1347/FUL Single storey rear 
extension to provide 
additional A1 retail space 
and A3 cafe space with 
associated external works 
and refurbishment of the 
existing rear coach 
house.

74-76 
Commercial Street
Ystradgynlais
SA9 1LA

Applicati 106

Consent 21/07/2021 Full Application 12/11/2021

CODE: IDOX.PL.REP.05 
25/11/2021 15:00:37 POWYSCC\\sandraf 
Go Back Page 24 of 24

P
age 118



SECTION 19 – PLANNING PROTOCOL 
 

 
Version 56 – Effective from 16 December 202115 October, 2020 

 

Section 19 – Page 1 

INDEX 
 
Title, Commencement, Application 
and Effect 

19.1 to 19.5 

  
Interpretation 19.6 

“Agent” 19.6.1 
“Applicant” 19.6.2 
“Call-in” 19.6.3 
“Clear Working Days” 19.6.4 
“Councillor with a Dispensation” 19.6.5 
“Councillor with a Personal Interest” 19.6.6 
“Councillor with a Prejudicial Interest” 19.6.7 
“Councillor’s Family or a Relative of a 
Councillor” 

19.6.8 

“Decision Maker” 19.6.9 
“Decision Making Process” 19.6.10 
“Friend(s)” 19.6.11 
“Interests” 19.6.12 
“Lobbying” 19.6.13 
“Local Representative” 19.6.14 
“Meeting[s] of the Planning Committee 
/Planning Committee meeting[s]” 

19.6.15 

“Member Representative” 19.6.16 
“Objector” 19.6.17 
“Planning Application” 19.6.18 
“Public Speaking Procedures” 19.6.19 
“Representative” 19.6.20 
“the Council”. 19.6.21 
“The Professional Lead - Planning” 19.6.22 
“the Planning Committee” 19.6.23 
“the Planning Functions” 19.6.24 

“Quorum” 19.6.25 
  
Protocol’s Aims 19.7 to 19.14 
  
Delegation of the Planning Functions 19.15 to 19.18 
  
Roles of Councillors  19.19 to 19.24 
  
Role of Decision Maker 19.25 to 19.33 
  
• Decision Maker Role 19.25 to 19.27 
• Obligations of Decision Maker 19.28 to 19.31 
• Decision Maker Who Has Exercised 

Power of Call-In 
19.32 to 19.33 

  
Local Representative Role 19.34 to 19.45 

Page 119

6



SECTION 19 – PLANNING PROTOCOL 
 

 
Version 56 – Effective from 16 December 202115 October, 2020 

 

Section 19 – Page 2 

  
• Local Representative Role 19.34 to 19.38 
• Obligations of Local Representative 19.39 to 19.44 
• Rights of Local Representative 19.45 

  
Non Planning Committee Councillor 
Role 

19.46 

  
Member Representative 19.47 to 19.50 

  
Call-In 19.51 to 19.61 

  
Members’ Interests 19.62 to 19.88 

  
Councillors with Personal and Prejudicial 
Interests. 

19.62 to 19.72 

  
• Councillor with a Personal Interest 19.62 
• Definition of Councillor with a Personal 

Interest 
19.63 

• Examples of Personal Interests 19.64 to 19.65 
• Councillor with a Prejudicial Interest 19.66 to 19.69 
• Definition of Councillor with a Prejudicial 

Interest 
19.70 

  
Councillors with a Dispensation 19.71 to 19.75 

  
• Councillor with a Dispensation 19.71 to 19.72 
• Definition of Councillor with a 

Dispensation 
19.73 to 19.75 

  
Members’ Code of Conduct 19.76 

  
Predisposition and Predetermination 19.77 to 19.78 
  
A Councillor’s Direct Connection 
with Applicants and Others 

19.79 to 19.81 

  
Development Proposals Involving 
Councillors 

19.82 to 19.87 

  
Councillors Should Seek Advice 19.88 
  
Decision Making Process 19.89 
  
Decision Making by the Planning 19.91 to 19.123 

Page 120



SECTION 19 – PLANNING PROTOCOL 
 

 
Version 56 – Effective from 16 December 202115 October, 2020 

 

Section 19 – Page 3 

Committee 
  
• Planning Committee Determination 

Principles 
19.91 to 19.96 

• Deferrals 19.97 
• Reconsidered Applications 19.99 
• Decisions Contrary to Officer 

Recommendations 
19.100 to 19.102 

• Modifying Planning Conditions 19.103 to 19.104 
• Predetermination 19.105 
• Correspondence and Other Relevant 

Information Received by members of the 
Planning Committee 

19.106 to 19.108 

• Site Inspections 19.109 to 19.110 
• Report on a Planning Application by the 

Professional Lead - Planning 
19.111 to 19.112 

• Speaking at Planning Committee 
Meetings 

19.113 to 19.117 

• Roles and Duties of the Committee Chair 
/ Vice-Chair 

19.118 to 19.123 

  
Planning 19.124 to 19.133 
  
Decision Making by the Professional 
Lead - Planning 

19.134 to 19.136 

  
          Planning Applications Submitted by 

Officers 
19.137 to 19.142 

  
Planning Appeals 19.143 to 19.149 
  
Training 19.150 to 19.152 
  
Regular Review of Decisions 19.153 to 19.154 
  
  
  
 
 
 
 
 

Page 121



SECTION 19 – PLANNING PROTOCOL 
 

 
Version 56 – Effective from 16 December 202115 October, 2020 

 

Section 19 – Page 4 

 

TITLE, COMMENCEMENT, APPLICATION AND EFFECT 
 
TITLE 
19.1 The title of this Protocol is “Planning Protocol”.  
 
COMMENCEMENT 
19.2 This Revision of the Protocol shall come into force on 16 December 

202115th October, 2020. 
19.3 This Protocol shall be reviewed at least every 2 years by the Planning 

Committee. 
 
APPLICATION 
19.4 This Protocol: 
 

19.4.1 regulates, guides and informs Councillors and Officers of Powys 
County Council in all matters concerning the exercise of the 
Planning Functions. 

19.4.2 explains which of the Planning Functions will be dealt with and 
determined by the Planning Committee and which will be dealt 
with and determined by the Professional Lead - Planning 

19.4.3 aims to help Applicants, Agents, and anyone likely to be affected 
by development and planning related issues have a greater 
insight to the Council’s processes and procedures for dealing 
with the Planning Functions. 

 
EFFECT 
19.5 Failure to follow this Protocol without good reason could be taken into 

account in investigations into possible maladministration or alleged 
breaches of the Members’ Code of Conduct or have implications for the 
standing of Councillors and professional officers 

 
 
INTERPRETATION 
19.6 In this Protocol: 
 

19.6.1 “Agent” means a person (other than a Member Representative) 
authorised by an “Applicant” or “Objector” to represent them, 
which can include a professional person, which must be an 
independent person employed by the Applicant. 

19.6.2 “Applicant” means a person who has instigated a planning 
application for whatever purpose. 

19.6.3 “Call-in” means the procedure set out in Rules 19.51 to 19.61. 
19.6.4 “Clear Working Days” means for the purposes of this Planning 

Protocol only days which do not include the day of the meeting, 
the day on which the request is made, weekends and bank 
holidays. 

19.6.5 “Councillor with a Dispensation” has the meaning given by 
Rules 19.71 to 19.75 of this Protocol. 

Page 122



SECTION 19 – PLANNING PROTOCOL 
 

 
Version 56 – Effective from 16 December 202115 October, 2020 

 

Section 19 – Page 5 

19.6.6 “Councillor with a Personal Interest” has the meaning given 
by Rules 19.62 to 19.65 of this Protocol. 

19.6.7 “Councillor with a Prejudicial Interest” has the meaning given 
by Rule 19.66 to 19.69 of this Protocol.  

19.6.8 “Councillor’s Family or a Relative of a Councillor” means the 
wife, husband, partner, son, daughter, son-in-law, daughter-in-
law, grandchild, grandfather, grandmother, uncle, aunt, nephew, 
niece, and cousin of the Councillor, or the Councillor’s spouse or 
partner, or any other person related by birth or marriage to the 
Councillor or the Councillor’s spouse or partner, with whom they 
live, or with whom the Councillor or the Councillor’s spouse or 
partner has regular personal contact. For the purposes of the 
above definition “marriage” shall be taken to include co-
habitation. 

19.6.9 Decision Maker has the meaning given by Rules 19.25 to 19.33 
of this Protocol. 

19.6.10 “Decision Making Process” has the meaning given by Rules 
19.89 of this Protocol. 

19.6.11 “Friend(s)” means close personal associate(s) of the Councillor 
or the Councillor’s spouse or partner including neighbours and 
individuals with whom the Councillor or the Councillor’s spouse 
or partner has regular social contact, including membership of 
the same club, association or organisation as the Councillor or 
the Councillor’s spouse or partner. 

19.6.12 "Interest" means land property or business interest of a 
Councillor including but not by way of limitation legal, leasehold 
and beneficial interest. 

19.6.13 “Lobbying” means any attempt (successful or not) to persuade 
or influence a Councillor or planning officer towards a particular 
point of view in relation to a planning application. A Member 
Representative may not lobby on behalf of an “Applicant” or 
“Objector”. 

19.6.14 “Local Representative” has the meaning given by Rules 19.34 
to 19.45 of this Protocol and for the avoidance of doubt more 
than one Councillor can undertake the role of Local 
Representative in relation to a Planning Application. 

19.6.15 “Meeting[s] of the Planning Committee /Planning Committee 
meeting[s]” or any other reference to a meeting of the 
Planning Committee means a meeting in a place, an on-line 
meeting or a hybrid meeting.  The rules relating to 
procedures and conduct apply to whichever form of 
meeting is being held.  

19.6.16 “Member Representative” means a Councillor who has agreed 
to represent a person able to speak at meetings of the Planning 
Committee and can perform the functions set out in Rules 19.47 
to 19.50 below. 

19.6.17 “Objector” means a person or body (other than a Town or 
Community Council or a Local Representative) who has lodged 
an objection to any planning application. 

Page 123



SECTION 19 – PLANNING PROTOCOL 
 

 
Version 56 – Effective from 16 December 202115 October, 2020 

 

Section 19 – Page 6 

19.6.18 “Planning Application” means any application to the Council 
for an approval, agreement, permission, determination, consent, 
certificate or authorisation of any kind in respect of a Planning 
Function. 

19.6.19 “Public Speaking Procedures” has the meaning given by 
Rules 19.113 to 19.117 of this Protocol. 

19.6.20 “Representative” means any non professional person who is 
not a Member who is asked by an Applicant or Objector to 
represent him / her in relation to the application and who may 
carry out all the roles or functions of an “Agent”. 

19.6.21 “the Council” means Powys County Council. 
19.6.22 “the Professional Lead - Planning” means Head of Property, 

Planning and Public Protection and / or Professional Lead – 
Planning including any officer authorised by that Head of Service 
in writing to exercise those powers, duties, responsibilities and 
decision making on their behalf. 

19.6.23 “the Planning Committee” means the Committee appointed by 
the Council (currently the Planning, Taxi Licensing and Rights of 
Way Committee) under its Constitution to exercise the Planning 
Functions. 

19.6.24 “the Planning Functions” means all those functions set out in 
Section 13 of the Constitution (Responsibility for Functions) and 
reference to “Planning Function” or “a Planning Function” shall 
be construed accordingly. 

19.6.25 “Quorum” means that the number of members who must be 
present at a meeting of the Planning Committee must be 50% or 
more of the total membership in accordance with The Local 
Authorities (Standing Orders) (Wales) (Amendment) Regulations 
2017. 

 
 
PROTOCOL’S AIMS 
 
PROTOCOL AIMS TO: 
19.7 Regulate, guide, inform and assist Councillors and Officers, potential 

developers, interested parties and members of the public in relation to the 
exercise of the Planning Functions. 

19.8 Supplement the Members’ Code of Conduct contained in the Council’s 
Constitution, the Code of Professional Conduct of the Royal Town 
Planning Institute and the Protocol on Member / Officer Relations (Council 
Constitution Section 21). 

19.9 Provide specific guidance on ethical matters. 
19.10 Ensure that decisions taken are based on informed judgement within a firm 

policy and legal context and made in an open, transparent, impartial way 
with justifiable reasons. 

19.11 Recognise the need to control development in the public interest whilst 
acknowledging that decisions in this area necessarily affects land and 
property interests, particularly the financial value of landholdings and the 
quality of their settings. 

19.12 Assist Councillors with their duties, obligations and responsibilities: 

Page 124



SECTION 19 – PLANNING PROTOCOL 
 

 
Version 56 – Effective from 16 December 202115 October, 2020 

 

Section 19 – Page 7 

 
19.12.1 to their constituents (including those who did not vote for them) 
19.12.2 to the whole community and County (in respect of which they 

have an overriding duty); and 
19.12.3 to all individuals and bodies directly and indirectly concerned 

with Planning Applications: 
 

19.12.3.1 not to favour, or be seen to favour, any individuals or 
groups or be unduly influenced by the opinions of 
others, and discharge the responsibility that they 
alone have to decide what view to take; and 

19.12.3.2 to decide (where they are members of the Planning 
Committee) all Planning Applications which fall to be 
determined by the Planning Committee as required 
by law in accordance with the statutory development 
plan (i.e. the Powys Unitary Development Plan or 
Local Development Plan) having taken into account 
the advice of appropriate officers and relevant 
representations made in respect of such Planning 
Applications and, what weight should be attached to 
them. 

 
PUBLICATION OF THE CODE 
19.13 This Planning Code of Conduct is publicised and made publicly available 

and is incorporated into the Council’s Constitution.  
 
COUNCILLORS SHOULD SEEK ADVICE 
19.14 A Councillor in any doubt as to his position under this Protocol or the 

Members’ Code of Conduct should always seek the advice of the 
Monitoring Officer. 

 
 
DELEGATION OF THE PLANNING FUNCTIONS 
 
DELEGATION TO THE PLANNING COMMITTEE AND THE PROFESSIONAL 
LEAD - PLANNING  
19.15 The Council has delegated responsibilities for the Planning Functions to 

the Planning Committee and to the Professional Lead - Planning. 
19.16 The Council may from time to time review these delegation arrangements 

and it is essential that Councillors, Officers, Applicants, Agents and others 
always refer to the latest version of the Protocol. 

19.17 The Professional Lead - Planning is responsible for ensuring that proper 
and timely procedures and arrangements are in place so that all 
Councillors may be aware of: 

 
19.17.1 Planning Applications within or affecting their electoral divisions 

received and being dealt with and determined by the 
Professional Lead - Planning; and 

19.17.2 Decisions made in respect of those Planning Applications by the 
Professional Lead - Planning. 

Page 125



SECTION 19 – PLANNING PROTOCOL 
 

 
Version 56 – Effective from 16 December 202115 October, 2020 

 

Section 19 – Page 8 

 
19.18 Nothing prevents the Planning Committee from delegating a function to an 

officer in consultation with the Chair of the Committee. 
 
ROLES OF COUNCILLORS  
 
INTRODUCTION 
19.19 The Council has one Planning Committee comprising 21 Councillors which 

determines those Planning Applications referred to it for decision in 
accordance with the Decision Making Process. 

19.20 A Planning Application will, however, in accordance with the “Decision 
Making Process”, more often than not be determined by the Professional 
Lead - Planning rather than the Planning Committee. In this situation those 
Councillors who sit on the Planning Committee will have no role to play in 
the decision making process. 

19.21 In respect of a Planning Application in their electoral division or which 
affects their electoral division a Councillor may exercise the power of Call-
in (so that the application is dealt with by the Planning Committee and not 
the Professional Lead - Planning). 

19.22 A Councillor may also in respect of a Planning Application in their electoral 
division or which affects their electoral division attend a meeting of the 
Planning Committee when that application is determined to put forward the 
views of those constituents they represent (See Rule 19.24 below). 

19.23 The roles and powers of Councillors may be restricted where there are 
conflicts between their position as Councillors and their private or outside 
interests. 

19.24 These roles and powers of Councillors are defined in more detail below. 
 
 
ROLE OF DECISION MAKER 
 
DECISION MAKER ROLE 
19.25 A Councillor who is a member of the Planning Committee and who takes 

part (or who intends to take part) at a meeting of the Planning Committee 
in the determination of a particular Planning Application will for the 
purposes of this Protocol be a Decision Maker in relation to such Planning 
Application. 

19.26 A Councillor who is a Decision Maker shall comply with the provisions of 
the Decision Making Process and with the Members’ Code of Conduct 
generally. 

19.27 For the avoidance of doubt a Councillor who is a Decision Maker shall not 
make representations on behalf of a Town or Community Council under 
the Public Speaking Procedures. 

 
 
OBLIGATIONS OF DECISION MAKER 
19.28 A Decision Maker in relation to any Planning Application to be determined 

by the Planning Committee: 
 

Page 126



SECTION 19 – PLANNING PROTOCOL 
 

 
Version 56 – Effective from 16 December 202115 October, 2020 

 

Section 19 – Page 9 

19.28.1 shall not discuss such a Planning Application with, or seek 
information about that Planning Application from, an Applicant / 
Objector or any third party (including another Councillor – 
whether a member of the Planning Committee or not) other 
than the Professional Lead - Planning or the Monitoring Officer 
prior to the Planning Committee considering and determining 
that Planning Application. In the event that any such 
individual attempts to hold such discussions with or 
impart information to the Decision Maker that individual 
shall be advised by the Decision Maker of the fact that 
under the requirements of this Protocol they are not 
allowed to discuss or receive information concerning such 
Planning Application and that the proper course of action 
is for the individual to discuss or relay information about 
the Planning Application to the Professional Lead -  
Planning; the Decision Maker shall also notify the 
Professional Lead -  Planning of such approach to them 
forthwith. Members must take account of the provisions of 
Rule 19.28.9 (Councillor keeping an open mind) and Rule 
19.28.15 (attendance at meetings of Town and Community 
Councils) in this circumstance; 

19.28.2 shall not allow themselves to be lobbied or influenced by any 
other person (including another Councillor – whether a 
member of the Planning Committee or not) or body such as a 
political or other interest group concerning such a Planning 
Application and its determination prior to the Planning 
Committee considering and determining that Planning 
Application. If a Councillor acting as a Decision Maker is 
approached by Applicants, Objectors and others 
interested in the outcome of a Planning Application they 
should not allow themselves to be lobbied – whether for or 
against an application and should inform the person 
seeking to lobby them, that if they discuss the application 
with that person this will disqualify them from taking part 
in the decision making process on the application.  
Potential lobbyists should be advised to contact an 
appropriate officer within Planning. The Decision Maker 
shall also notify the Professional Lead - Planning of such 
approach to them forthwith. Members must take account 
of the provisions of Rule 19.28.9 in this circumstance; 

19.28.3 shall not lobby or influence or attempt to lobby or influence 
another Decision Maker or the Professional Lead - Planning 
concerning such a Planning Application and its determination 
prior to the Planning Committee considering and determining 
that Planning Application; 

19.28.4 shall not become involved in organised local support or 
opposition to such application;  

19.28.5 shall not accept any gifts or hospitality from anyone connected 
with such Planning Application and take immediate steps to 

Page 127



SECTION 19 – PLANNING PROTOCOL 
 

 
Version 56 – Effective from 16 December 202115 October, 2020 

 

Section 19 – Page 10 

register any offers of gifts or hospitality refused in the Register 
kept for that purpose by the Solicitor to the Council; 

19.28.6 shall not accept or indicate that they will accept any letter, 
pamphlet or other written material (including email and FAX) 
concerning such a Planning Application before it is determined 
by the Planning Committee. Where a Decision Maker 
gratuitously receives such material they shall forthwith 
forward it to the Professional Lead - Planning who will 
arrange for the material to be referred to, in the Officer’s 
Committee Report. Members must take account of the 
provisions of Rule 19.28.9 in this circumstance; 

19.28.7 shall not attend any Meeting, Briefing or Discussion 
concerning such Planning Application which is not arranged by 
or attended by the Professional Lead - Planning or otherwise 
authorised in writing by the Monitoring Officer; 

19.28.8 shall not indicate or express publicly or privately the likely 
decision on or the merits of/objections to, such Planning 
Application prior to the Planning Committee considering and 
determining that Planning Application. In the event of a 
Decision Maker doing so they must take advice from the 
Monitoring Officer regarding their continuing in the role of 
Decision Maker; 

19.28.9 shall not give a commitment in relation to that Planning 
Application prior to its consideration at the Planning 
Committee. It is of vital importance that Councillors come 
to meetings with an open mind and can demonstrate that 
they are open-minded;  

19.28.10 shall not bring detailed presentations with them to be read out 
at the meeting. This could be perceived as indicating that 
the Councillor had already decided in favour of, or against 
an application prior to attending the meeting. (It is 
recommended that Councillors make notes of points raised at 
the meeting as they occur for use in any presentations); 

19.28.11 shall not vote or take any part in the Planning Committee 
meeting if they have not been present to hear the entire 
debate, including the officer’s presentation concerning the 
application; 

19.28.12 shall not resume their seat in the Planning Committee room or 
chamber (having left the room or chamber before the debate 
on the application began or during the debate on the 
application) until consideration of the application being 
determined at that time is concluded. Until so concluded the 
Councillor must sit in the public gallery; 

19.28.13 shall not propose, second or support a decision contrary to 
the Development Plan or the recommendations of the 
Professional Lead - Planning without clearly identifying and 
articulating the planning reasons supporting that proposed 
decision.  Those reasons must be given prior to the vote 
and be recorded in the Minutes;   

Page 128



SECTION 19 – PLANNING PROTOCOL 
 

 
Version 56 – Effective from 16 December 202115 October, 2020 

 

Section 19 – Page 11 

19.28.14 shall not move a motion that the Planning Application be 
deferred without clearly identifying and articulating the reasons 
justifying such deferral. Those reasons must be recorded in 
the Minutes if the planning application is deferred; 

19.28.15 shall not remain in the room, vote on or take part in 
discussions where planning applications are considered at a 
meeting of a Town or Community Council whether they are a 
member of the Town or Community Council or not. In the 
event of a Decision Maker having not adhered to this Rule, 
they must take advice from the Monitoring Officer 
regarding their continuing in the role of Decision Maker. 

 
19.29 If, during a Planning Committee meeting a Decision Maker concludes that 

(for whatever reason) they are prejudiced and unable to continue to 
undertake the role of Decision Maker in relation to a particular Planning 
Application, they cannot change their role to that of Local 
Representative and address the meeting in relation to that application 
(subject to Rules 19.97 to 19.99). A Councillor in this situation may, 
however, ask the Committee to defer the application for consideration at a 
future meeting and must then leave the room during any subsequent 
discussion of the application in question by the Planning Committee. 

19.30 A Councillor who is a member of the Planning Committee and who 
wishes to undertake the Local Representative role in relation to a 
Planning Application which is to be determined by the Planning 
Committee shall comply with the provisions in this Protocol relating 
to the Local Representative in Rules 19.39 to 19.45.  

19.31 A Councillor who is a member of the Planning Committee shall comply with 
the provisions of the Decision Making Process and the provisions of this 
Protocol relating to Councillor with a Personal Interest, Councillor with 
a Prejudicial Interest and Councillor with a Dispensation and with the 
Members’ Code of Conduct generally and is reminded in particular that if 
they have in respect of a Planning Application to be determined by the 
Planning Committee:- 

 
19.31.1 a Personal Interest - the requirements as to disclosure; 
19.31.2 a Prejudicial Interest - the need to obtain a dispensation from 

the Standards Committee – or otherwise be unable to 
undertake the role of Decision Maker. 

 
DECISION MAKER WHO HAS EXERCISED POWER OF CALL-IN 
19.32 If a specific planning application falls to be determined by the Planning 

Committee as a result of a Call-in request from a member of the 
Committee then that Councillor needs to consider carefully the role which 
they are able to play when the Planning Committee comes to consider and 
determine the application in question. In particular, where the member of 
the Planning Committee who has made the Call-in request: 

 
19.32.1 has couched the Call-in request in language which might 

indicate that they have already formed a clear and settled 
view as to the appropriate outcome of the application; or 

Page 129



SECTION 19 – PLANNING PROTOCOL 
 

 
Version 56 – Effective from 16 December 202115 October, 2020 

 

Section 19 – Page 12 

19.32.2 has made the Call-in request following discussions with 
the application /Agent /Objector and / or any third party 
(including another Councillor whether a member of the 
Planning Committee or not) 

 
19.33 The Councillor should seek advice from the Monitoring Officer regarding 

their continuing in the role of Decision Maker. 
 
LOCAL REPRESENTATIVE ROLE 
 
LOCAL REPRESENTATIVE ROLE 
19.34 A Councillor who is not a member of the Planning Committee but who, in 

respect of a Planning Application in their electoral division or which affects 
their electoral division, attends (or who intends to attend) a meeting of the 
Planning Committee when it considers the Planning Application in question 
to make representations about the Planning Application on behalf of their 
constituents will for the purposes of this Protocol be a Local 
Representative in relation to that Planning Application.  For the avoidance 
of doubt a Councillor is not a Local Representative on the basis that the 
Applicant or any person who has made representations in respect of the 
Planning Application resides in their electoral division. 

19.35 A Councillor who is a member of the Planning Committee and who decides 
not to be a Decision Maker in relation to a Planning Application which is in 
their electoral division or which affects their electoral division, but who 
attends (or intends to attend) a meeting of the Planning Committee when it 
considers the Planning Application in question to make representations 
about the Planning Application on behalf of their constituents will for the 
purposes of this Protocol be a Local Representative in relation to that 
Planning Application. For the avoidance of doubt a Councillor is not a Local 
Representative on the basis that the Applicant or any person who has 
made representations in respect of the Planning Application resides in their 
electoral division. 

19.36 A Councillor who is a member of the Planning Committee and who decides 
to be a Decision Maker in relation to a Planning Application which is in their 
electoral division or which affects their electoral division may arrange for 
another Councillor to represent their constituents in relation to the Planning 
Application in question and to make representations about the Planning 
Application on behalf of their constituents at meetings of the Planning 
Committee. The Councillor must advise the Professional Lead - Planning 
that they will be acting as a Decision Maker and provide the name of the 
councillor who will be taking on the Local Representative role, once they 
are notified of the application.  In this situation this other Councillor will for 
the purposes of this Protocol be a Local Representative in relation to that 
Planning Application.  

19.37 A Councillor who is a Local Representative shall comply with the Public 
Speaking Provisions set out in Rules 19.113 to 19.117 and with the 
Members’ Code of Conduct generally and must comply with the rules set 
out in 19.62 to 19.75. Further provisions relating to the Local 
Representative role are also contained in Rules 19.39 to 19.45. 

Page 130



SECTION 19 – PLANNING PROTOCOL 
 

 
Version 56 – Effective from 16 December 202115 October, 2020 

 

Section 19 – Page 13 

19.38 For the avoidance of doubt a Councillor may choose (where they are a 
Town or Community Council member) to make representations on behalf 
of a Town or Community Council in their electoral division but that 
Councillor shall not also make representations as Local Representative 
under the Public Speaking Procedures. 

 
OBLIGATIONS OF LOCAL REPRESENTATIVE 
19.39 A Councillor wishing and, under this Protocol, entitled to act as a Local 

Representative at a meeting of the Planning Committee and address the 
Committee, make representations and answer questions must notify the 
Professional Lead - Planning of such wish “no later than 4 clear working 
days in advance of the meeting” unless the application has been Called-
In by that Councillor in which event the Councillor has an automatic right to 
speak under Rule 19.52. Applicants will be informed by means of a circular 
letter prior to the meeting that the Local Representative may exercise their 
right to speak at the Committee meeting. 

19.40 A Councillor acting as a Local Representative (whether a member of the 
Planning Committee or not): 

 
19.40.1 Shall not sit with members of the Planning Committee, when 

attending a meeting of the Planning Committee concerning the 
Planning Application in question and must wait to be called to 
make any representations in the public area of the room. 

19.40.2 Shall not speak to any member of the Planning Committee in 
relation to the Planning Application in question, either during a 
meeting of the committee or otherwise. 

19.40.3 May, in relation to the Planning Application in question with the 
consent of the Chair, respond to questions from members of 
the Committee, the Applicant or his Agent and any other party 
allowed to speak at the meeting.  

19.40.4 Shall if the Councillor has a prejudicial interest (unless as a 
Councillor with a Dispensation the Councillor has a 
dispensation to remain) withdraw from the room, chamber or 
place where the meeting of the Planning Committee is taking 
place once they have concluded their representations and 
dealt with any questions asked and in any event before further 
consideration of the Planning Application begins.  

19.40.5 Shall not accept any gift or hospitality from anyone connected 
with the Planning Application in question and take immediate 
steps to register any offers of gifts or hospitality refused in the 
Register kept for that purpose by the Solicitor to the Council. 

 
19.41 Councillors who are not on the Planning Committee are expected to 

undertake training provided by the Council at regular intervals to enable 
them to properly carry out their role as Local Representative.  

19.42 When acting in the role of Local Representative in relation to a specific 
Planning Application a Councillor can attend meetings held in the 
Community by lobby groups and others and participate in those meetings if 
the Councillor so wishes, but the Councillor must not communicate any 
information, views or recommendations arising from such meetings to 

Page 131



SECTION 19 – PLANNING PROTOCOL 
 

 
Version 56 – Effective from 16 December 202115 October, 2020 

 

Section 19 – Page 14 

members of the Planning Committee determining the Planning Application 
in question in advance of a meeting of the Planning Committee and should 
only express any such views  as part of their formal presentations to the 
Planning Committee at a public meeting of the Committee called to 
determine the application. 

19.43 When acting in the role of Local Representative in relation to a specific 
Planning Application, a Councillor who does not have a prejudicial interest 
may decide not to address the Planning Committee, but may submit written 
comments either supporting or objecting to the application prior to the 
meeting to the Professional Lead - Planning. The comments will be 
included in the Planning Officer’s report to the Committee where it is 
practicable to do so and will be displayed on the Planning Portal.  The 
Applicant can make a written response to the Local Representative’s 
written comments. Such a Member is allowed to sit in the public gallery 
during consideration of the application. 

19.44 A Councillor acting as a Local Representative who requires further 
information on the Planning Application in question should seek such 
information from the relevant planning officers and not from members of 
the Planning Committee.  

 
RIGHTS OF LOCAL REPRESENTATIVE 
19.45 For the avoidance of doubt a Local Representative will have those rights 

set out in Rule 19.46 of this Protocol under the heading of “Non-Planning 
Committee member role” that is to say: 

 
19.45.1 Subject to the provisions in this Protocol relating to a Councillor 

with a Personal Interest, Councillor with a Prejudicial Interest 
and Councillor with a Dispensation and to the provisions of the 
Members’ Code of Conduct generally a Councillor who is a 
Local Representative will be free to: 

 
19.45.1.1 discuss any Planning Application with the 

Applicant /Agent /Objector /lobby group etc; 
19.45.1.2 attend any locally organised meeting concerning 

the application  
19.45.1.3 attend any Town or Community Council Meeting 

concerning the application and speak about the 
application (including expressing a view either for 
or against the application) and (if a member of 
the Town or Community Council) vote upon the 
application  

19.45.1.4 relay relevant information about the application to 
a planning officer. 

19.45.1.5 seek information / clarification about the 
application from a planning officer.  

 
PROVIDED ALWAYS that in so doing the Councillor must 
never seek to lobby or improperly influence a Decision Maker, 
the Professional Lead - Planning or a Planning Officer in 
relation to the determination of a Planning Application. 

Page 132



SECTION 19 – PLANNING PROTOCOL 
 

 
Version 56 – Effective from 16 December 202115 October, 2020 

 

Section 19 – Page 15 

 
 
NON-PLANNING COMMITTEE COUNCILLOR ROLE 
19.46 Subject to the provisions in this Protocol relating to a Councillor with a 

Personal Interest, Councillor with a Prejudicial Interest and Councillor with 
a Dispensation and to the provisions of the Members’ Code of Conduct 
generally a Councillor who is not a member of the County Planning 
Committee (whether or not they play or intend to play the role of Local 
Representative) will be free to: 

 
19.46.1 discuss any Planning Application with the Applicant /Agent 

/Objector /lobby group etc; 
19.46.2 attend any locally organised meeting concerning the 

application;  
19.46.3 attend any Town or Community Council Meeting concerning 

the application and speak about the application (including 
expressing a view either for or against the application) and (if a 
member of the Town or Community Council) vote upon the 
application;  

19.46.4 relay relevant information about the application to a planning 
officer; 

19.46.5 seek information / clarification about the application from a 
planning officer.  

 
PROVIDED ALWAYS that in so doing the Councillor must never seek to 
lobby or improperly influence a Decision Maker, the Professional Lead - 
Planning or a Planning Officer in relation to the determination of a Planning 
Application. 

 
MEMBER REPRESENTATIVE 
19.47 A Councillor can act as a Member Representative on behalf of persons 

entitled to speak at meetings of the Planning Committee PROVIDED 
THAT:  

 
19.47.1 the Councillor cannot act for a person living within their electoral 

division unless the Member has handed over their responsibilities 
as Local Representative to another Councillor pursuant to Rule 
19.68.  

19.47.2 the Councillor notifies the Professional Lead - Planning or a 
Planning Officer that they are acting as a Member Representative 
on behalf of an objector entitled to speak at meetings of the 
Planning Committee no later than 4 clear working days in 
advance of the meeting.  

19.47.3 Where a Councillor wishes to act as a Member Representative for 
an applicant s/he must notify the Professional Lead - Planning no 
later than 2 clear working days in advance of the meeting. 

 
19.48 A Councillor acting as a Member Representative cannot: 
 

Page 133



SECTION 19 – PLANNING PROTOCOL 
 

 
Version 56 – Effective from 16 December 202115 October, 2020 

 

Section 19 – Page 16 

19.48.1 be a Decision Maker if they are a member of the Planning 
Committee; 

19.48.2 Call-in an application to the Planning Committee. 
19.48.3 seek to influence / lobby fellow Councillors or officers; 
19.48.4 attend site visits. 
 

19.49 A Councillor acting as a Member Representative at a meeting of the 
Planning Committee must: 

 
19.49.1 when the Chair calls them prior to speaking to advise the 

Committee: 
 

19.49.1.1 that they are not acting in the role of Local 
Representative; 

19.49.1.2 that they are not acting in the role of a County 
Councillor; 

19.49.1.3 that they are acting as a Member Representative; 
19.49.1.4 whether they have a personal or a personal and 

prejudicial interest in respect of the application. 
 

19.49.2 not speak to members of the Planning Committee regarding the 
application; 

19.49.3 sit in the public gallery and not sit with members of the 
Committee 

 
19.50 A Councillor acting as Member Representative who has a personal and 

prejudicial interest must disclose that interest prior to making a 
presentation to the Committee, and having completed their presentation 
must leave the room prior to the Committee discussing the application. 

 
CALL-IN  
19.51 A Councillor (whether a member of the Planning Committee or not) may: 
 

19.51.1 in respect of a Planning Application in their electoral divisions, or 
which affect their electoral division, request, that such Planning 
Application which ordinarily would be determined by the 
Professional Lead - Planning will be determined by the Planning 
Committee and in this Protocol a Councillor making such a 
request will be referred to as exercising “the power of Call-in”. 

19.51.2 in respect of a planning application in their electoral division, or 
which affect their electoral division, where they believe that 
application is likely to be controversial, exercise the power of 
Call-in, but may withdraw that Call-in in accordance with Rules 
19.57. 

 
19.52 A Councillor exercising the power of Call-in will have an automatic right to 

speak.  
19.53 An objection from a Town or Community Council will not automatically 

trigger an application being considered by the Planning Committee. 
 

Page 134



SECTION 19 – PLANNING PROTOCOL 
 

 
Version 56 – Effective from 16 December 202115 October, 2020 

 

Section 19 – Page 17 

Call-in Procedure relating to a Councillor making a request for a planning 
application to be determined by the Planning Committee and not by the 
Professional Lead - Planning. 
19.54. Subject to Rule 19.56 below, a Councillor (whether a member of the 

Planning Committee or not) may, in respect of a Planning Application in 
their electoral divisions, or which affect their electoral division, request in 
writing (by letter, email or fax), in accordance with Rule 19.55 below, that 
such Planning Application which ordinarily would be determined by the 
Professional Lead - Planning be determined by the Planning Committee;  

19.55 A written request (by letter, email or fax) by a County Councillor for a 
Planning Application within their Electoral Division or which affects their 
electoral division to be considered by the Planning Committee shall be 
sent or forwarded to the Professional Lead -  Planning so as to be 
received by them within the period of 21 consecutive days from the 
County Councillor receiving notification of the Planning Application and 
such request must set out the specific planning grounds justifying the 
request; 

19.56 A Councillor shall not be entitled to make a request under Rule 19.54 
above in relation to re-submitted applications where no substantial change 
has been made to an original application which has been refused. 

19.57 A Councillor who has exercised the Call-in of a Planning Application may 
request that the Call-in be withdrawn by written notification to the 
Professional Lead - Planning at any time before the agenda for the 
meeting has been published in accordance with Section 14 of the 
Constitution. 

19.58 The decision of the Chair of the Planning Committee as to whether a 
request complies with the procedure in Rules 19.51 to 19.61 shall be final. 

19.59A Councillor exercising the power of Call-in who has an automatic right to 
speak shall comply with the provisions of this Protocol relating to 
Councillor with a Personal Interest, Councillor with a Prejudicial Interest 
and Councillor with a Dispensation and with the Members’ Code of 
Conduct generally. 

19.60 Members of the Planning Committee are cautioned that if, in exercising 
the power of Call-in: 

 
19.60.1 they express an opinion for or against the Planning Application, 

they will only be able to undertake the role of Local 
Representative; and 

19.60.2 if they have previously discussed the application with Applicant 
and / or Agent and / or Objector and / or third party they will only 
be able to undertake the role of Local Representative. 

 
In these situations, the advice of the Monitoring Officer should be sought. 

 
19.61 Where a Councillor requests determination by the Planning Committee 

and is unable to attend the meeting to speak thereon, consideration of a 
letter from that Councillor relating to the Planning Application will be 
allowed as an alternative to an oral presentation made by that Councillor. 
Alternatively, a Councillor acting as Local Representative, where they are 
unable to attend the meeting of the Committee when the application is 

Page 135



SECTION 19 – PLANNING PROTOCOL 
 

 
Version 56 – Effective from 16 December 202115 October, 2020 

 

Section 19 – Page 18 

considered, may hand over their Local Representative role to another 
County Councillor. 

 
COUNCILLORS WITH PERSONAL AND PREJUDICIAL INTERESTS 
 
COUNCILLOR WITH A PERSONAL INTEREST 
19.62 A Councillor with a Personal Interest in relation to a Planning Application  

who attends a meeting of the Planning Committee (whether as a member 
of the Committee or not) when that Planning Application is considered 
must, in accordance with the Members’ Code of Conduct, disclose orally to 
that meeting the existence and nature of the Personal Interest in question 
before or at the commencement of the consideration of the Planning 
Application or when the Personal Interest becomes apparent to the 
Councillor. The role of a Councillor with a Personal Interest who also has a 
prejudicial interest under the Members’ Code of Conduct is further limited 
as detailed in Rules 19.66 to 19.68 below. 

  
DEFINITION OF COUNCILLOR WITH A PERSONAL INTEREST 
19.63 Under the Members’ Code of Conduct a Councillor (whether a member of 

the Planning Committee or not) must consider whether they have a 
Personal Interest (as defined in the Members’ Code of Conduct) in respect 
of a Planning Application and whether the Members’ Code of Conduct 
requires them to disclose that interest in the event of the Councillor 
attending a meeting of the Planning Committee which considers that 
Planning Application. A Councillor who is required to declare a personal 
interest in respect of a Planning Application at a meeting of the Planning 
Committee will for the purposes of this Protocol be a Councillor with a 
Personal Interest in relation to that Planning Application. 

 
EXAMPLES OF PERSONAL INTERESTS 
19.64 Paragraph 10 of the Members’ Code of Conduct details what will constitute 

a “Personal Interest” for the purposes of the Code and, by extension 
through Rule 19.63 above. Illustrative of the types of interest referred to in 
Paragraph 10 are the categories listed below. They must not be taken as 
authoritative. Reference to Paragraph 10 must always be made to 
ascertain with certainty whether a Councillor is a Councillor with a Personal 
Interest. 

19.65 Planning Applications concerning: 
 

19.65.1 The Councillor  
19.65.2 The Councillor’s family; 
19.65.3 The Councillor’s friends; 
19.65.4 The Business interests of the Councillor; 
19.65.5 The Land or property interests of the Councillor or their family; 
19.65.6 An organisation of which the Councillor is a member (including 

those to which the Councillor has been elected, appointed or 
nominated by the Council; 

19.65.7 Projects and schemes in respect of which the Councillor (or 
members of the family of the Councillor) has drawn plans for 

Page 136



SECTION 19 – PLANNING PROTOCOL 
 

 
Version 56 – Effective from 16 December 202115 October, 2020 

 

Section 19 – Page 19 

their family / friends or for other people or acted as Agents for 
their family friends or for other people. 

 
 
COUNCILLOR WITH A PREJUDICIAL INTEREST 
19.66 A Councillor with a Prejudicial Interest in relation to a Planning Application 

who is a member of the Planning Committee may not in respect of that 
Planning Application (unless granted a dispensation by the Standards 
Committee to be a Decision Maker) be a Decision Maker but may 
undertake the role of Local Representative in respect of that Planning 
Application.  

19.67 A Councillor with a Prejudicial Interest in relation to a Planning Application 
who is not a member of the Planning Committee may undertake the role of 
Local Representative in respect of that Planning Application and may apply 
to the Standards Committee for a dispensation as detailed in the provisions 
of this Protocol below and in Rules 19.71 to 19.72 relating to a Councillor 
with a Dispensation. 

19.68 A Councillor with a Prejudicial Interest in relation to a Planning Application 
whether they are a member of the committee or not, who is undertaking 
the Local Representative Role, may if s/he  determines that their prejudicial 
interest is so significant that it would prejudice their ability to undertake the 
Local Representative role, once they are notified of the application, appoint 
another Councillor to undertake the Local Representative role by giving 
written notice to the Professional Lead - Planning who will arrange for the 
appointment to be placed on the relevant application file. The Councillor 
who takes over the Local Representative role may not be a Decision Maker 
or have a significant Prejudicial Interest which would prejudice their ability 
to act as the Local Representative and must comply with rules 19.34 – 
19.38.  

19.69 A Councillor with a Prejudicial Interest in relation to a Planning Application 
whether they are a member of the committee or not, who is undertaking a 
Local Representative role and are unable to attend the meeting may 
submit a written statement and must advise Planning that they are 
intending to submit a written submission at least 4 clear working days 
before the meeting. The applicant will have a right of response to this 
submission at the committee either orally or in writing. 

 
DEFINITION OF COUNCILLOR WITH A PREJUDICIAL INTEREST 
19.70 Where a Councillor (whether a member of the Planning Committee or not) 

is a Councillor with a Personal Interest in relation to a Planning Application 
that Councillor will, for the purposes of this Protocol, also be a Councillor 
with a Prejudicial Interest in respect of that Planning Application if the 
interest of that Councillor is one which a member of the public with 
knowledge of the relevant facts would reasonably regard as so significant 
that it is likely to prejudice that Councillor’s judgement of the public interest.  

 
COUNCILLOR WITH A DISPENSATION  
 
COUNCILLOR WITH A DISPENSATION 

Page 137



SECTION 19 – PLANNING PROTOCOL 
 

 
Version 56 – Effective from 16 December 202115 October, 2020 

 

Section 19 – Page 20 

19.71 A Councillor with a Dispensation attending a meeting of the Planning 
Committee (whether a member of the Committee or not) to which the 
dispensation is relevant may only participate in the meeting subject to:- 

 
19.71.1 Stating at the Meeting that they are relying on the dispensation; 

and 
19.71.2 Giving to the Solicitor to the Council a written notification before 

or immediately after the close of the Meeting containing: 
 

19.71.2.1 Details of the Prejudicial Interest; 
19.71.2.2 Details of the Planning Application to which the 

Prejudicial Interest relates; 
19.71.2.3 Details of, and the date on which, the dispensation 

was granted; and 
19.71.2.4 The Councillor’s signature. 

 
19.72 A Councillor with a Dispensation making written or oral representations in 

reliance upon the dispensation must provide details of the dispensation 
within such written or oral representations, and in the latter case, provide 
written notification to the Solicitor to the Council within 14 days of making 
the representations. 

 
DEFINITION OF COUNCILLOR WITH A DISPENSATION 
19.73 A Councillor with a Prejudicial Interest who is a member of the Planning 

Committee may  
 

19.73.1 undertake the Role of Local Representative, but shall leave the 
meeting room after making their presentation; or  

19.73.2 if a Local Representative with a Prejudicial Interest wishes to remain 
in the meeting room s/he may apply for a dispensation from the 
Council’s Standards Committee well in advance of the meeting of 
the Planning Committee.  

19.73.3 A Councillor undertaking the role of Local Representative with a 
prejudicial interest is allowed to make written representations in lieu 
of their right to speak at the meeting. 

19.73.4 where he / she does not wish to act as a Decision Maker or Local 
Member but does wish to act as a Member Representative may 
apply for a dispensation from the Council’s Standards Committee 
well in advance of the meeting of the Planning Committee. 

 
19.74 A Councillor with a Prejudicial Interest who is not a member of the 

Planning Committee may undertake the Role of Local Representative (or 
Member Representative), but shall leave the meeting room after making 
their presentation. If a Local Representative (or a Member Representative) 
with a prejudicial interest wishes to remain in the meeting room s/he may 
apply for a dispensation from the Council’s Standards Committee well in 
advance of the meeting of the Planning Committee. A Councillor 
undertaking the role of Local Representative with a prejudicial interest is 
allowed to make written representations in lieu of their right to speak at the 
meeting. 

Page 138



SECTION 19 – PLANNING PROTOCOL 
 

 
Version 56 – Effective from 16 December 202115 October, 2020 

 

Section 19 – Page 21 

19.75 A Councillor who has obtained such dispensation as is mentioned in Rules 
19.73 and 19.74 shall for the purposes of this Protocol be a Councillor with 
a Dispensation. 

 
MEMBERS’ CODE OF CONDUCT 
19.76 The Members’ Code of Conduct in force at the time (as supplemented by 

this Protocol), must be followed at all times. 
 
 
PREDISPOSITION AND PREDETERMINATION 
19.77 A Councillor who is a Decision Maker may be predisposed to a particular 

view. However, the Councillor must be open to the possibility that they will 
hear arguments during the debate about the Planning Application that, will 
change their mind about how they intend to vote.  As long as the Councillor 
is willing to keep an open mind about the Planning Application they are 
entitled to take part on any vote on it. 

19.78 A Decision Maker must exercise care not to predetermine a Planning 
application. Predetermination is where the Councillor’s mind is closed to 
the merits of any arguments which differ from their own about a Planning 
Application. A Decision Maker should avoid giving the appearance that 
they have decided how they will vote at the meeting and that nothing will 
change their mind. 

 
A COUNCILLOR’S DIRECT CONNECTIONS WITH APPLICANTS 

AND OTHERS 
19.79 If a Councillor advises Applicants, Agents, Objectors or other interested 

parties about the likely acceptability of planning proposals then in relation 
to planning applications relating to those proposals that Councillor cannot 
undertake the role of Decision Maker and may need to consider whether 
they fall within the category of a Councillor with a Prejudicial Interest.  

19.80 A Councillor who wishes to ensure that they remain eligible to carry out the 
role of Decision Maker should advise prospective Applicants to contact a 
Planning Officer for advice on both merits and procedures. 

19.81 A Councillor should never seek to influence / lobby fellow Councillors 
or officers in these circumstances. 

 
 
DEVELOPMENT PROPOSALS INVOLVING COUNCILLORS 
19.82 A Planning Application by a Councillor (concerning a business or land in 

which they have an interest) or their family and relatives, close friends and 
business associates can easily give rise to suspicions of impropriety. It is 
vital that it is handled in a way that gives no grounds for accusations of 
favouritism. 

19.83 A serving Councillor who prepares plans or generally acts as an Agent for 
people submitting a Planning Application should never be a Decision 
Maker or Local Representative in relation to that Planning Application and 
should not seek to lobby / influence fellow Councillors or officers. 

 

Page 139



SECTION 19 – PLANNING PROTOCOL 
 

 
Version 56 – Effective from 16 December 202115 October, 2020 

 

Section 19 – Page 22 

19.84 Where a Councillor makes a planning application is the Applicant for a 
planning permission they: 

 
19.84.1 must appoint an independent Agent or Representative to act 

on their behalf; 
19.84.2 must notify, in writing, the Professional Lead - Planning that 

such application has been submitted; 
19.84.3 should take no part in the processing of that application or 

endeavour to influence the final decision on the application; 
19.84.4 must not seek to influence / lobby fellow Councillors or officers; 
19.84.5 must not attend any meeting of the Planning Committee whilst 

it is considering their application; 
19.84.6 must regard themselves as being both a Councillor with a 

Personal Interest and a Councillor with a Prejudicial Interest. 
19.84.7 must not act as a Local Representative and must advise 

Democratic Services who will liaise with neighbouring 
Members and agree a replacement Local Representative and 
advise Planning – as in Rule 19.68. 

 
19.85 Any Planning Application submitted by a Councillor (or relating to a 

councillor's business or land interests) will be determined by the Planning 
Committee and shall never be dealt with by officers under ‘delegated 
powers’. The Council’s Planning Solicitor should confirm in the Planning 
Officer’s report to the Planning Committee that the application has been 
processed normally and therefore must be given the opportunity to review 
the file. 

19.86 Where a Planning Application is made by a member of a Councillor’s 
family, a friend or business associate of the Councillor or an organisation in 
which the Councillor holds a position of responsibility the Councillor shall 
advise the Professional Lead - Planning of the submission of that 
application, and the relationship between the Councillor and that individual. 
The Professional Lead - Planning shall determine whether the nature of the 
relationship would warrant the application being referred to the Planning 
Committee for determination or whether it could be determined by him. In 
any event the Councillor should not seek to influence / lobby fellow 
Councillors or officers in respect of the application. 

19.87 A Councillor must have regard to the Members’ Code of Conduct when 
dealing with a Planning Application involving another Councillor.  

 
COUNCILLORS SHOULD SEEK ADVICE 

19.88 A Councillor in any doubt as to his position under this Protocol or 
Members’ Code of Conduct should always seek the advice of the 
Monitoring Officer. 

 
 
DECISION MAKING PROCESS 
19.89 Subject to Rule 19.90 below the Committee will perform the functions and 

follow the delegation set out in Section 13 (Responsibility for Functions). 

Page 140



SECTION 19 – PLANNING PROTOCOL 
 

 
Version 56 – Effective from 16 December 202115 October, 2020 

 

Section 19 – Page 23 

19.90 The Professional Lead - Planning will not exercise their delegated 
responsibility for functions in the following circumstances whereupon the 
function will be dealt with by the Planning Committee: 

 
19.90.1 the Professional Lead - Planning considers that the Planning 

Function should be dealt with by the Planning Committee and 
not by him / herself; 

19.90.2 a Councillor registers a Call-in request under Rules 19.51 
to19.61 that a Planning Application be referred to the Planning 
Committee for decision and not determined by the Professional 
Lead - Planning; 

19.90.3 the Planning Application in question constitutes a material 
departure from the Development Plan and the view of the 
Professional Lead - Planning is that the Planning Application 
should be approved; 

19.90.4 the Planning Application is made by or on behalf of the County 
Council or relates to or affects Council land or premises 
(whether or not actually occupied by the Council); 

19.90.5 the Planning Application is required to be accompanied by an 
Environmental Statement under the EIA Regulations; 

19.90.6 the Planning Application is submitted by or on behalf of any 
member of the Council or any member of staff employed in 
Planning, the Chief Executive, Strategic Directors and 
Directors, Heads of Service, or officers who are in regular 
contact with Planning. 

 
 
DECISION MAKING BY THE PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 
PLANNING COMMITTEE DETERMINATION PRINCIPLES 
19.91 In considering and determining a Planning Application the Planning 

Committee shall: 
 

19.91.1 have regard to the regulatory and quasi-judicial nature of the 
Committee’s proceedings; 

19.91.2 disregard irrelevant considerations; 
19.91.3 act impartially, fairly and not take into account any political 

considerations; 
19.91.4 determine the application in accordance with the Statutory 

Development Plan unless material planning considerations 
indicate otherwise;  

19.91.5 acknowledge the emphasis in determining applications is upon 
a ‘plan-led’ system; 

19.91.6 reflect the basis of the planning system is the consideration of 
private proposals against the wider public interest; 

19.91.7 recognise much is often at stake in this process and opposing 
views are often strongly held by those involved; 

19.91.8 take into account representations made to the local planning 
authority as a result of consultation with interested bodies or as 
a result of public notice or neighbour notification; 

Page 141



SECTION 19 – PLANNING PROTOCOL 
 

 
Version 56 – Effective from 16 December 202115 October, 2020 

 

Section 19 – Page 24 

19.91.9 decide which representations are material to the decision to be 
made, and, if so, what weight to attach to them; 

19.91.10 not reach any conclusion on the merits until all the relevant 
facts have been considered including the officer’s report and 
the matter appropriately debated; 

19.91.11 ensure that the Public Speaking Provisions are implemented 
fairly. 

 
Statutory Duties 
19.92 The Council is also subject to a number of statutory duties which it must 

comply with when carrying out its statutory functions.  These will apply to 
the planning function except when such matters are clearly immaterial 
because they are not capable of relating to the use of development land.  
Examples of these duties include: 

 
Equality Act 2010 
19.93 Section 149 provides that: 
 

19.93.1 A council must, in the exercise of its functions, have due 
regard to the need to: 

 
19.93.1.1 eliminate discrimination, harassment, 

victimisation and any other conduct which is 
prohibited by or under the Equality Act 2010; 

19.93.1.2 advance equality of opportunity between persons 
who share a relevant protected characteristic and 
persons who do not share it; 

19.93.1.3 foster good relations between persons who share 
a protected characteristic and persons who do 
not share it. 

 
19.93.2 The above powers relate to the following protected 

characteristics: 
 

19.93.2.1 age; 
19.93.2.2 disability; 
19.93.2.3 gender reassignment; 
19.93.2.4 marriage and civil partnership; 
19.93.2.5 pregnancy and maternity; 
19.93.2.6 race (including colour, nationality and ethnic or 

national origins); 
19.93.2.7 religion or belief; 
19.93.2.8 sex; or 
19.93.2.9 sexual orientation. 

Human Rights 
19.94 Section 6(1) of the Human Rights Act 1998 provides that: 
 

“It is unlawful for a public authority to act [or fail to act] in a way which is 
incompatible with a Convention right.” 

 

Page 142



SECTION 19 – PLANNING PROTOCOL 
 

 
Version 56 – Effective from 16 December 202115 October, 2020 

 

Section 19 – Page 25 

Best Value 
19.95 Section 3(1) of the Local Government Act 1999 and Part 1 of the Local 

Government (Wales) Measure 2009 provides that: 
 

“A best value authority must make arrangements to secure continuous 
improvement in the way in which its functions are exercised, having regard 
to a combination of economy, efficiency and effectiveness.” 

 
Crime and Order 
19.96 Section 17(1) of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 provides that: 
 

“Without prejudice to any other obligation imposed on it, it shall be the duty 
of a [local authority] to exercise its various functions with due regard to the 
likely effect of the exercise of those functions on, and the need to do all 
that it reasonably can to prevent, crime and disorder in its area.” 

 
DEFERRALS 
19.97 In the event of consideration of a Planning Application being deferred at a 

meeting of the Planning Committee then (unless deferral of the application 
is agreed at the outset of the consideration of the application by the 
Planning Committee and no further discussion about it takes place at that 
meeting) only those Decision Makers present during the meeting when the 
application is deferred will be eligible to reconsider the application at a 
subsequent meeting of the Planning Committee. Please refer also to Rule 
19.117.8.4. 

19.98 Where the quorum of a meeting falls below 50%, any application where 
this occurs will be automatically deferred and considered at the next 
available meeting. 

 
RECONSIDERED APPLICATIONS 
19.99 Where an application which has been previously considered and / or 

determined by the Committee, is subsequently reconsidered, the 
Professional Lead - Planning in consultation with the Chair and Vice-Chair 
should consider whether: 

 
19.99.1 the application is materially the same as the previous 

application considered. If so only those Councillors who were 
present when the application was considered can take part in 
any subsequent consideration of the reconsidered application. 
Speaking rights at this meeting will be in accordance with Rule 
19.117.8.4 as follows: 

 
“If representations are made by a Councillor acting as a Local 
Representative / an Objector/ a representative of a Town or 
Community Council / an Applicant or their Agent to a Planning 
Committee meeting and the matter is deferred to a subsequent 
meeting, then there will be no right for any of these 
individuals to make a second oral representation to the 
reconvened meeting and any further representations shall 
be made in writing only.  

Page 143



SECTION 19 – PLANNING PROTOCOL 
 

 
Version 56 – Effective from 16 December 202115 October, 2020 

 

Section 19 – Page 26 

 
19.99.2 the application is significantly different to the previous 

application considered. If so the application will be considered 
to be a new application and all members of the Planning 
Committee can take part in any subsequent consideration of the 
reconsidered application and full speaking rights will be allowed. 

19.99.3 the length of time between the original consideration and 
subsequent consideration is 6 months or more. If the length of 
time is 6 months or more (the timescale starts from the date of 
the meeting when the matter was first considered), then it will 
be considered to be a new application and all members of the 
Planning Committee can take part in any subsequent 
consideration of the reconsidered application and full speaking 
rights will be allowed. 

 
DECISIONS CONTRARY TO OFFICER RECOMMENDATION 
19.100 When members of the Planning Committee are minded to either approve 

or refuse a Planning Application contrary to the recommendation  of the 
Professional Lead - Planning (in a written report to the Committee or 
communicated orally at a meeting of the Committee) those members shall 
clearly identify and articulate the planning reasons supporting their view 
before a vote is taken on the application in question and those reasons 
shall be recorded in the Minutes of the meeting if the Planning Committee 
makes a decision contrary to the recommendation of the Professional Lead 
-  Planning and a copy of the minute containing the Committee’s reasons 
shall be placed on the relevant application file.   

19.101 If the Planning Committee is minded to refuse or grant an application 
contrary to Officer recommendation, it may wish to consider whether to 
defer the confirmation of reasons for granting or refusal of the application 
to the next available committee. This will allow members the opportunity to 
obtain further planning and legal advice on the proposed reasons for acting 
contrary to the recommendation based on material planning 
considerations. 

19.102 If the Planning Committee is minded to grant an application contrary to 
Officer recommendation, it may wish to consider whether to delegate the 
conditions to the Professional Lead – Planning or defer the confirmation of 
conditions to the next available committee.  

 
 
MODIFYING PLANNING CONDITIONS 
19.103 Where members of the Planning Committee wish to add, modify or amend 

conditions which are recommended by the Professional Lead - Planning 
those members shall clearly identify and articulate the planning reasons 
supporting their view before a vote is taken on the application and/or the 
conditions in question and those reasons shall be recorded in the Minutes 
of the meeting if the Planning Committee makes a decision contrary to the 
recommendation of the Professional Lead - Planning PROVIDED 
ALWAYS that the wording of the final version of those conditions shall be 
delegated to the Professional Lead -  Planning.  

Page 144

http://clients.bonddickinson.com/SmartPrecedentServer/control/SmartPrecedent/revisitQ?id=0%40%2Ffiles%2Flogic%2FModel+Welsh+Constitution+-v1.lgc%23CMTResponsiblePlanning&returndest=eXC_Paragraph_2949&tag=1966422127
http://clients.bonddickinson.com/SmartPrecedentServer/control/SmartPrecedent/revisitQ?id=0%40%2Ffiles%2Flogic%2FModel+Welsh+Constitution+-v1.lgc%23CMTResponsiblePlanning&returndest=eXC_Paragraph_2949&tag=1966422127


SECTION 19 – PLANNING PROTOCOL 
 

 
Version 56 – Effective from 16 December 202115 October, 2020 

 

Section 19 – Page 27 

19.104 Where the Professional Lead - Planning considers that they would be 
unable to defend a proposed decision of the Planning Committee on 
appeal they shall make this point known to the Committee before the final 
vote is taken.  In such cases the Minutes of the meeting shall record the 
proposer and seconder of the motion to pass a resolution contrary to the 
recommendation of the Professional Lead - Planning. 

 
PREDETERMINATION 
19.105 Where the Monitoring Officer (or their representative at a meeting of the 

Planning Committee meeting) considers that a member of the Planning 
Committee has prejudiced their position as a Decision Maker, by 
expressing a clear and settled view on an application before its 
determination by the Planning Committee, the Monitoring Officer (or their 
representative at a meeting of the Planning Committee) shall advise the 
Councillor in question and the Chair of the Committee of the effect of that 
Councillor continuing to play the role of a Decision Maker. The decision as 
to whether that Councillor shall continue to play the role of Decision Maker 
shall rest with that Councillor. 

 
CORRESPONDENCE AND OTHER RELEVANT INFORMATION RECEIVED BY 
MEMBERS OF THE PLANNING COMMITTEE 
19.106 A member of the Planning Committee may receive from time to time 

correspondence and other relevant information from persons or groups 
who have an interest in the outcome of a planning application to be 
determined by the Planning Committee and there will be pressure to reply.  
A member of the Planning Committee will occasionally receive a significant 
amount of unsolicited correspondence and other information on more 
contentious applications. The Councillor shall not reply or respond to this 
correspondence but instead shall refer it to the Professional Lead - 
Planning. This will prevent any delay in the process.  The Professional 
Lead - Planning shall also: 

 
19.106.1 if time permits, send a copy of such correspondence / other 

information to the Applicant or their Agent (provided neither is 
the author) so as to allow them an opportunity to respond; 

19.106.2 place a copy of all such correspondence/other information on 
the relevant Planning file; 

19.106.3 if time permits, ensure that their report to the Planning 
Committee refers to such correspondence / other information; 
otherwise the Professional Lead - Planning should refer to 
such correspondence / other information orally at the meeting 
of the Planning Committee giving it such prominence and 
weight as its relevance requires.  

 
19.107 On occasions the new information may be so substantial as to lead to a 

deferment of the application. Where the Planning Application is not 
deferred the Chair will allow members an appropriate period of time to read 
the new material before proceeding with consideration of the item. 

Page 145



SECTION 19 – PLANNING PROTOCOL 
 

 
Version 56 – Effective from 16 December 202115 October, 2020 

 

Section 19 – Page 28 

19.108The Professional Lead - Planning shall be responsible for reporting any 
correspondence or new information of relevance to the Planning 
Committee.  

 
SITE INSPECTIONS 
19.109 There will be no Site Inspections undertaken by the Planning Committee 

unless there are exceptional circumstances justifying a site inspection (that 
is to say it must be clearly demonstrated that a site inspection is essential 
to the decision making process i.e. that a proper decision cannot be made 
without a site inspection taking place).  For the avoidance of doubt, it will 
be the expectation that Local Representatives will make any request for 
Site Inspections well in advance of the meeting: 

 
19.109.1 as recommended by the Professional Lead - Planning in 

consultation with the Solicitor to the Council and the Chair and 
Vice-Chair of the Planning Committee; or 

19.109.2 as determined by the Committee itself to deal with unresolved 
site specific planning issues in which case these wholly 
exceptional circumstances justifying the site visit shall be 
recorded in the minutes of the meeting at which the decision is 
taken. 

19.109.3 as determined by the Chair and Vice-Chair of the Planning 
Committee on the application of one or more Councillors in 
whose electoral division(s) the development in question will 
take place or whose electoral division will be affected by the 
development in question subject to consultation with the 
Professional Lead - Planning and the Solicitor to the Council. 

 
19.110 Where Site Inspections are held the following Policies shall apply. 

 
POLICY 1:  ARRANGEMENTS FOR HOLDING SITE INSPECTIONS 
19.110.1 Wherever practicable Site inspections shall be arranged to take 

place on the same day as and immediately prior to the formal 
public Planning Committee meeting considering the application.  

 
POLICY 2: ATTENDANCE AT SITE INSPECTIONS 
19.110.2 ALL members of the Planning Committee shall be invited to 

attend Site Inspections together with planning officers.  
19.110.3 Councillors acting as a Local Representative shall, be allowed to 

attend site visits (but not travel with the committee) to provide 
planning specific information to the committee except where they 
have a Personal and Prejudicial Interest. Alternatively, a Local 
Representative may provide to a planning officer only in writing, 
additional relevant planning information relating to the site, prior 
to a site inspection, and the planning officer will inform those 
present at the site inspection of this additional information except 
where the Member has a Personal and Prejudicial Interest.  

19.110.4 In exceptional circumstances the Chair may, after consultation 
with the Professional Lead - Planning and the Vice-Chair, invite 
other council officers to attend site inspections for the sole 

Page 146



SECTION 19 – PLANNING PROTOCOL 
 

 
Version 56 – Effective from 16 December 202115 October, 2020 

 

Section 19 – Page 29 

purpose of providing information only, in relation to specialist 
matters, concerning the application and to answer such 
questions as Councillors may wish to raise. 

19.110.5 Landowners / representative of a Town and Community 
Council / Applicants / Objectors / supporters or any other 
third party shall not be allowed to attend site inspections. 

 
POLICY 3: NON ATTENDANCE BY COUNCILLORS 
19.110.6 All members of the Planning Committee shall use their best 

endeavours to attend a Site Inspection where they intend to play 
the role of Decision Maker in relation to the Planning Application 
in question. A Councillor’s position to undertake the role of 
Decision Maker in relation to such application may be in doubt if 
they did not attend a relevant Site inspection (i.e. as a 
consequence of which the Councillor is unable to take a decision 
with knowledge of all relevant matters) and in that situation the 
Councillor shall seek the advice of the Monitoring Officer, which 
shall wherever practicable be obtained in writing and a copy 
given to the Chair and Vice-Chair of the Planning Committee 
prior to the commencement of the meeting in question. 

19.110.7 Councillors who, as a result of such advice from the 
Monitoring Officer, conclude that they are unable to 
undertake the role of Decision Maker shall either move to 
the public gallery, or may leave the room during 
consideration of the application in question. 

 
POLICY 4: ACCESS TO PRIVATE LAND  
19.110.8 Where Councillors need to enter onto private land the 

landowner’s prior consent shall be sought by the Professional 
Lead - Planning. If consent is not forthcoming, the site shall, if 
practicable, be viewed from the public highway.  

 
POLICY 5: PURPOSE OF SITE INSPECTION   
19.110.9 The sole purpose of the site inspection will be for the planning 

officers to explain in the context of the site, the planning issues 
relating to the application and for Councillors to view the site.  
There shall be no discussions at the site inspection 
concerning the merits of the application and the site 
inspection will not be used as a forum for debate. No 
recommendations shall be made at the site inspection. 

 
POLICY 6: REPORT TO PLANNING COMMITTEE 
19.110.10 The Chair of the Planning Committee shall report if a Site 

Inspection has been undertaken.  
 

REPORT ON A PLANNING APPLICATION BY THE PROFESSIONAL LEAD - 
PLANNING  
19.111 All Planning Applications considered by the Planning Committee shall be 

the subject of a full written report by the Professional Lead - Planning, 

Page 147



SECTION 19 – PLANNING PROTOCOL 
 

 
Version 56 – Effective from 16 December 202115 October, 2020 

 

Section 19 – Page 30 

including a detailed assessment of the proposal, including any reasonable 
options available to the Committee and a reasoned recommendation.   

19.112 Any new matters that have arisen between the preparation of the report 
and the date of the Planning Committee considering the planning 
application or planning matter in question will be the subject of a written 
update report circulated prior to the commencement of the proceedings of 
the Planning Committee meeting or referred to orally at the meeting.  Only 
exceptionally should planning officers report only orally to the Planning 
Committee.   The update report will be filed with the signed minutes and 
the other reports on the Planning Application and added to the published 
agenda on the Council’s website, where possible, prior to the meeting. All 
submissions should be received where possible no later than 48 hours 
before the meeting of the Planning Committee. 

 
SPEAKING AT PLANNING COMMITTEE MEETINGS 
 
WHO MAY SPEAK 
 
19.113 For the purposes of Rules 19.114 to 19.117 and 19.121, an Applicant and 

Objector may speak either directly or via an Agent, Member 
Representative, or Representative.  

 
19.114 Where in relation to a specific Planning Application to be determined by the 

Planning Committee:  
 

19.114.1 a person or body (other than a statutory consultee) has lodged 
an objection to that application and has notified the 
Professional Lead - Planning (in accordance with Rule 19.116 
below) of their wish to exercise the right to speak against the 
application at the relevant meeting of the Planning Committee; 
or 

19.114.2 a Town or Community Council has indicated a wish to be 
heard regarding that application as a consultee (in accordance 
with Rule 19.116 below); or 

19.114.3 (a) Local Representative(s) has / have indicated a / their wish 
to speak (in accordance with Rule 19.116 below); or 

19.114.4 The Applicant exercises the right to respond to any 
representations made to the Committee by an Objector, 
Town/Community Council or Local Representative(s) 

 
the PUBLIC SPEAKING PROCEDURES set out Rule 19.117 below shall 
apply. 

 
 

MATTERS NOT INCLUDED  
19.115 For the avoidance of doubt Rules 19.113 to 19.116 shall not apply to, (and 

there shall be no right for any person to speak in relation to) the following: 
 

19.115.1 enforcement cases;  
19.115.2 applications for listed building consent;  

Page 148



SECTION 19 – PLANNING PROTOCOL 
 

 
Version 56 – Effective from 16 December 202115 October, 2020 

 

Section 19 – Page 31 

19.115.3 advertisements;  
19.115.4 lawful use certificates;  
19.115.5 appeal decisions and proposals to remove legal obligations 

under Section 106 of the Town & Country Planning Act;  
19.115.6 ancient / important hedgerows. 

 
OBTAINING THE RIGHT TO SPEAK 
19.116 A right to speak at a meeting of the Planning Committee will only be 

obtained in the following situations:- 
 

19.116.1 A member of the public shall be allowed to speak as an 
Objector to a planning application at the Planning Committee 
where: 

 
19.116.1.1 They have duly made, within prescribed time 

limits, a written objection to a planning 
application;  

19.116.1.2 A member of the public will need to register an 
“intention to speak” when a submission is made 
to the Council i.e. advanced notice of an intention 
to speak at the Committee which will need to be 
confirmed at least 4 clear working days before 
the date of the relevant committee; and 

19.116.1.3 Has submitted the request to be heard by the 
Planning Committee with Planning at least 4 
clear working days before the date of the relevant 
meeting of the Planning Committee.  For the 
avoidance of doubt the relevant meeting is the 
first meeting of the Planning Committee where 
that Planning Application is on the agenda. 
Where additional information is submitted, 
additional comments can be allowed at the 
discretion of the Chair in consultation with the 
Vice-Chair at a subsequent meeting. 

 
PROVIDED ALWAYS that: 
 
19.116.1.4 Where more than one person or body (other than 

a statutory consultee) has lodged an objection to 
a planning application (as mentioned in Rule 
19.114.1 above) and the Chair of the Planning 
Committee in consultation with the Vice-Chair 
concludes that the substance of the objections by 
those persons are identical or similar then  only 
one such person so objecting shall be permitted 
to exercise the right to speak against the 
application in accordance with the Public 
Speaking Procedures, and that person shall be 
the individual agreed by all the Objectors who 
have raised the same or similar objection or in 

Page 149



SECTION 19 – PLANNING PROTOCOL 
 

 
Version 56 – Effective from 16 December 202115 October, 2020 

 

Section 19 – Page 32 

the absence of such agreement the individual 
who first submitted an objection in writing to 
Planning. 

19.116.1.5 Where in relation to the above situation the Chair 
of the Planning Committee in consultation with 
the Vice-Chair concludes that different persons or 
bodies have made objections which are different 
in substance each person or body making a 
different substantive objection shall be allowed to 
exercise the right to speak in opposition to the 
planning application in accordance with the 
Public Speaking Procedures. 

19.116.1.6 Where more than one person or body (other than 
a statutory consultee) has submitted an 
objection, the Professional Lead -  Planning shall, 
prior to the meeting of the Planning Committee in 
question, notify (by the most appropriate means) 
the persons or bodies of the conclusions of the 
Chair and Vice-Chair as to whether the 
objections are different in substance and 
accordingly as to those individuals and bodies 
who are entitled to exercise the right to speak 
under the Public Speaking Procedures. 

 
19.116.2 A Town or Community Council (by its clerk or one of its 

members who can be a County Councillor (if a member of the 
Town or Community Council) will be allowed to speak as a 
consultee to a Planning Application at a Planning Committee 
where that Council has submitted a request to be heard by the 
Planning Committee with Planning at least 4 clear working 
days before the date of the relevant meeting of the Planning 
Committee. (A Town or Community Council will need to 
register an “intention to speak” when a submission is made to 
the Council i.e. advanced notice of an intention to speak at the 
Committee) which will need to be confirmed at least 4 clear 
working days before the date of the relevant committee.  For 
the avoidance of doubt: 

 
19.116.2.1 the relevant meeting is the first meeting of the 

Planning Committee where that Planning 
Application is on the agenda. Where additional 
information is submitted, additional comments 
can be allowed at the discretion of the Chair in 
consultation with the Vice-Chair at a subsequent 
meeting. 

19.116.2.2 The County Councillor choosing to speak on 
behalf of a Town or Community Council cannot 
also be a Local Representative. 

 

Page 150



SECTION 19 – PLANNING PROTOCOL 
 

 
Version 56 – Effective from 16 December 202115 October, 2020 

 

Section 19 – Page 33 

19.116.3 (A) Councillor(s) exercising the role of Local 
Representative(s) [including a councillor appointed to take 
this role by another councillor with a significant prejudicial 
interest in accordance with Rule 19.68] will be allowed to 
speak in relation to a Planning Application at a Planning 
Committee where that / those Councillor(s) has/have submitted 
a request to be heard by the Planning Committee with 
Planning at least 4 clear working days before the date of the 
relevant meeting of the Planning Committee unless the 
application has been Called-In by that Councillor in which 
event the Councillor has an automatic right to speak under 
Rule 19.40. For the avoidance of doubt the relevant meeting is 
the first meeting of the Planning Committee where that 
Planning Application is on the agenda. Where additional 
information is submitted, additional comments can be allowed 
at the discretion of the Chair in consultation with the Vice-Chair 
at a subsequent meeting. 

19.116.4 The Applicant will be allowed to speak (if they wish) where an 
Objector, Town or Community Council or Local Representative 
has spoken. 

 
PUBLIC SPEAKING PROCEDURES  
19.117 Where an Objector, and / or representative of a Town or Community 

Council, and / or (a) Councillor(s) in the role of Local Representative has 
duly complied with the above provisions enabling that individual or Council 
to speak at a meeting of a Planning Committee in relation to a specific 
Planning Application then the procedures to be followed at a meeting of the 
Planning Committee will be as follows. 

 
19.117.1 The Chair will briefly outline these procedures that allow 

Councillor(s) acting as (a) Local Representative(s), Objectors, 
and representatives of Town and Community Councils the right 
to address the Committee, and the Applicant’s right of reply. 

19.117.2 Prior to making their representations to the Planning 
Committee these individuals shall sit in the public gallery or 
wait outside the meeting room. 

19.117.3 For the purposes of making their representations to the 
Planning Committee an individual entitled to address the 
Planning Committee under these provisions will be invited by 
the Chair to take a seat allocated for this purpose where a 
microphone will be available. A maximum time limit of 5 
minutes will be available for each presentation which will be 
strictly observed save for: 

 
19.117.3.1 in applications where there are multiple speakers 

objecting to the application, the Applicant will be allowed 
the same aggregate time allowed to the Objectors.  

19.117.3.2 In Planning Applications classified by the 
Professional Lead - Planning as major applications a 
maximum time limit of 8 minutes will apply but this will 

Page 151



SECTION 19 – PLANNING PROTOCOL 
 

 
Version 56 – Effective from 16 December 202115 October, 2020 

 

Section 19 – Page 34 

be subject to Rule 19.117.3.1 above (e.g. those 
applications with a Welsh Office Planning Statistics 
(WOPS) Code 1 to 6 inclusive plus any application 
subject to an Environmental Impact Statement (EIA).  

 
19.117.4 Those making presentations cannot ask questions of one 

another, members of the Committee or officers 
19.117.5 Those individuals making representations under these 

provisions must avoid making personal or derogatory remarks, 
confine their presentation to relevant planning issues and shall 
not use plans, photographs or other display material (but may 
refer to plans, documents etc included in the formal application 
material to be considered by the Committee).   

19.117.6 At the end of the each presentation, the individual making the 
presentation will either take a seat in the public gallery or leave 
the meeting room PROVIDED ALWAYS that a Local 
Representative who is also a Councillor with a Prejudicial 
Interest having completed their presentation to the Committee 
and answered any questions shall (unless they have received 
a dispensation from the Standards Committee to remain 
throughout the proceedings) immediately leave the room or 
chamber where the meeting is taking place. 

19.117.7 The order in which individuals shall exercise their right in 
making representations to a Planning Committee shall be as 
follows: 

 
19.117.7.1 The Local Representative (s). 
19.117.7.2 Representative(s) of Town or Community 

Council. 
19.117.7.3 Objector(s) entitled to speak under Rule 

19.115.1. 
19.117.7.4 Applicant and / or Agent(s). 
19.117.7.5 Professional Lead - Planning 

 
PROVIDED ALWAYS that the Applicant is not obliged to 
exercise a right of reply to representations / objections made to 
the committee if they do not wish to do so. 

 
19.117.8 For the avoidance of doubt 

 
19.117.8.1 where an Applicant does exercise the right to 

reply to representations / objections the time 
limits and other procedures referred to in Rules 
19.117.3, 19.117.3.1 and 19.117.3.2 above shall 
apply.  

19.117.8.2 An Applicant has no right to make 
representations to a Planning Committee in the 
absence of presentations by the Local 
Representative(s), and / or representatives of 
Town or Community Councils, and / or Objector. 

Page 152



SECTION 19 – PLANNING PROTOCOL 
 

 
Version 56 – Effective from 16 December 202115 October, 2020 

 

Section 19 – Page 35 

19.117.8.3 In respect of proposals where there are lodged 
duplicate applications or several linked 
applications relating to the same site, these shall 
be deemed to relate to one overall development 
and the rights to address the Committee will be 
interpreted accordingly. 

19.117.8.4 If representations are made by a Councillor 
acting as a Local Representative / an Objector / a 
representative of a Town or Community Council / 
an Applicant to a Planning Committee meeting 
and the matter is deferred to a subsequent 
meeting, then there will be no right for any of 
these individuals to make a second oral 
representation to the reconvened meeting and 
any further representations shall be made in 
writing only. However public speaking and 
additional comments are allowed at the 
discretion of the Chair in consultation with 
the Vice-Chair at the subsequent meeting 
where there has been a change of 
circumstances. 

19.117.8.5 A Councillor who chooses to be a Local 
Representative shall not also make 
representations on behalf of a Town or 
Community Council under the Public Speaking 
Procedures set out above. 

19.117.8.6 A Councillor who is a Decision Maker shall not 
make representations on behalf of a Town or 
Community Council under the Public Speaking 
Procedures set out above. 

19.117.8.7 Public speaking is expected to take place at the 
first meeting where the application is determined 
unless the application is deferred, a site meeting 
recommended or there is additional information 
submitted, in which case additional comments 
can be allowed at the discretion of the Chair in 
consultation with the Vice-Chair. 

 
19.117.9 Following oral presentations by individuals under the above 

provisions, the Chair of the Planning Committee shall invite the 
Professional Lead - Planning (if he / she wishes) to respond as 
necessary to those presentations before proceeding with his / 
her presentation of the application in the normal way including 
where appropriate an update to the Committee concerning 
any correspondence or additional information received 
since publication of the Committee Agenda papers.  

19.117.10 The Professional Lead - Planning shall keep a record of all 
notices received under these provisions. 

19.117.11 At a meeting of the Planning Committee where representations 
under these provisions fall to be made in respect of a specific 

Page 153



SECTION 19 – PLANNING PROTOCOL 
 

 
Version 56 – Effective from 16 December 202115 October, 2020 

 

Section 19 – Page 36 

Planning Application every effort should be made for that 
application to be dealt with at the earliest opportunity. 

19.117.12 The relevant plans shall be displayed as appropriate and a 
description of the application given before any oral 
representations are heard. 

19.117.13 The minutes of the Planning Committee shall record the receipt 
of representations made under these arrangements but shall 
not record the substance of the representations. 

 
 
ROLE AND DUTIES OF THE COMMITTEE CHAIR / VICE CHAIR  

 
ELECTION OF THE CHAIR 
19.118 The Chair of the Planning Committee shall: 
 

19.118.1 be a Councillor elected by the Committee at the first meeting 
of the Committee following the Annual Meeting of the Council 
or at an ordinary meeting in the event of a vacancy occurring 
between Annual Meetings.  

19.118.2 hold office until: 
 

19.118.2.1 the Annual Meeting of the County Council next 
following their appointment; or 

19.118.2.2 they resign from the office; or 
19.118.2.3 they are suspended from being a Councillor 

under Part III of the Local Government Act 2000 
(although they may resume office at the end of 
the period of suspension); or 

19.118.2.4 they are disqualified from being a Councillor 
under Part III of the Local Government Act 2000; 
or 

19.118.2.5 a vote of no confidence in the Chair of the 
Planning Committee is passed by the Council 
following a Notice on Motion; or 

19.118.2.6 they are no longer a Councillor; 
 

whichever shall first occur. 
 
ELECTION OF VICE-CHAIR 
19.119 The Vice-Chair of the Planning Committee shall: 

 
19.119.1 be a Councillor elected to that position by the Planning 

Committee at the first meeting of the Committee following the 
Annual Meeting of the Council, or in the event of a vacancy 
occurring at the next convenient meeting of the Committee 
following the occurrence of the vacancy. 

19.119.2 hold office until: 
 

19.119.2.1 the first meeting of the Planning Committee 
which follows the next Annual Meeting of the 

Page 154



SECTION 19 – PLANNING PROTOCOL 
 

 
Version 56 – Effective from 16 December 202115 October, 2020 

 

Section 19 – Page 37 

County Council after the Councillor’s 
appointment; or 

19.119.2.2 they resign from the office; or 
19.119.2.3 they are suspended from being a Councillor 

under Part III of the Local Government Act 2000 
(although they may resume office at the end of 
the period of suspension); or 

19.119.2.4 they are disqualified from being a Councillor 
under Part III of the Local Government Act 2000; 
or 

19.119.2.5 in the event of a vote of no confidence in the 
Vice-Chair of the Planning Committee being 
passed by the Council following a Notice on 
Motion; or 

19.119.2.6 they are no longer a Councillor; 
 

whichever shall first occur. 
 

CHAIRING THE PLANNING COMMITTEE 
19.120 In the absence of the Chair for the whole or part of a meeting of the 

Planning Committee the Vice-Chair shall preside. If the Vice-Chair shall be 
absent the Planning Committee shall choose one of its number present to 
preside as Chair for that meeting or part of it until the Chair (or Vice-Chair) 
returns to the meeting. 

 
RESPONSIBILITY OF THE CHAIR PRESIDING AT A MEETING OF THE 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 
19.121 The Councillor presiding as Chair at a meeting of the Planning Committee 

shall have the following general responsibilities:- 
 

19.121.1 to preside over the meeting so that the Committee’s business 
can be carried out efficiently and with proper regard to the 
rights of Councillors, Applicants, Objectors, officers and the 
interest of the community as a whole. 

19.121.2 to ensure that the Committee meeting is properly conducted as 
a forum for debate on planning applications. 

19.121.3 to ensure that the business of the meeting is carried out in 
accordance with the relevant provisions contained within the 
Council’s Constitution, the Members’ Code of Conduct, the 
Protocol on Member / Officer Relations, and this Protocol; and 
shall in particular have the following duties, obligations and 
responsibilities: 

 
19.121.3.1 at the commencement of the meeting: 

(a) to request declarations of interests from 
members of the Committee relating to items 
to be considered on the agenda; 

(b) to receive notification that a Member of the 
Planning Committee is a member of a Town 
and Community Council, and in relation to 

Page 155



SECTION 19 – PLANNING PROTOCOL 
 

 
Version 56 – Effective from 16 December 202115 October, 2020 

 

Section 19 – Page 38 

an application to be considered by the 
Planning Committee whether they: 
(i) took part in a meeting of the Town and 

Community Council where the 
application was considered – in which 
case they can only take a Local 
Representative Role; or 

(ii) left the room during the meeting of the 
Town and Community Council where 
the application was considered – in 
which case they can continue to 
undertake a Decision Maker Role. 

 (c) to receive declarations from members of the 
Committee that they will be acting as Local 
Representative in respect of an individual 
application being considered by the 
Committee; 

(d) to receive details of Councillors (who are not 
members of the Committee) who will be 
acting as Local Representative in respect of 
an individual application being considered 
by the Committee. 

 
19.121.3.2 prior to the consideration of each application to 

call out the application number (whereupon any 
Councillor undertaking the role of Local 
Representative in relation to that application, and 
who is a member of the committee, will withdraw 
to the public gallery and the withdrawal of the 
Local Representative will be recorded in the 
minutes of the committee); 

19.121.3.3 to amend if necessary the order in which 
planning applications are to be considered by the 
committee in order wherever practicable that 
Planning Applications where members of the 
Planning Committee will; be undertaking the role 
of Local Representative are dealt with first; 

19.121.3.4 to introduce each agenda item for discussion or 
for information; and  

19.121.3.5 to report where a site inspection has taken place.  
19.121.3.6 following the officer presentation relating to a 

Planning Application to facilitate the debate of 
Councillors and allow them to participate in the 
discussion in the order in which they 
acknowledge their wish to speak;   

19.121.3.7 to consider whether an officer of the Council 
other than an officer of Planning should be 
allowed to address the Planning Committee or 
answer questions and to ensure that only such 
officers as they consider necessary do so (it 

Page 156



SECTION 19 – PLANNING PROTOCOL 
 

 
Version 56 – Effective from 16 December 202115 October, 2020 

 

Section 19 – Page 39 

being acknowledged that it will not normally be 
the practise for such officers to address the 
Committee or answer questions); 

19.121.3.8 to consider whether a representative of a 
statutory consultee should be allowed to address 
the Planning Committee or answer questions and 
to ensure that only such representatives as they 
consider necessary do so (it being acknowledged 
that it will not normally be the practise for such 
representatives to address the Committee or 
answer questions); 

19.121.3.9 not to differentiate between Councillors 
(Members of the Planning Committee represent 
the whole community of Powys) and not to afford 
any preferential treatment of or special privileges 
to a Councillor on the basis that they are the local 
electoral division Councillor for the application; 

19.121.3.10 to ensure so far as is reasonable that all 
Councillors and Officers attending the meeting 
shall abide by the provisions of the Council’s 
Constitution, the Members’ Code of Conduct, the 
Protocol on Member / Officer Relations, and this 
Protocol; 

19.121.3.11 to ensure that Decision Makers refrain from 
making speeches and address the Committee on 
material ‘planning matters’ only. (The Chair will 
be expected to intervene and curtail Councillors 
who are making repetitious, or irrelevant 
statements); 

19.121.3.12 where officers’ response to comments or 
questions from Councillors is required to ensure 
that officers are given that opportunity; 

19.121.3.13 a general discretion in relation to the protocol in 
consultation with the Professional Lead -  
Planning and Legal Officers. 

 
BRINGING DISCUSSIONS TO A CONCLUSION 

19.121.4 at the conclusion of the discussion relating to a specific 
Planning Application the Chair shall not sum up but shall 
request those Councillors on the Planning Committee 
exercising the role of Decision Maker to move and second 
motions and any amendments and to vote on them (taking 
amendments first); 

19.121.5 to ensure that votes are properly recorded and that the result is 
clearly communicated to the meeting so that the outcome is in 
no doubt;  

19.121.6 to rule on all questions of procedure and process at the 
Committee meeting (the Chair’s decision shall be final and not 
open to discussion);   

Page 157



SECTION 19 – PLANNING PROTOCOL 
 

 
Version 56 – Effective from 16 December 202115 October, 2020 

 

Section 19 – Page 40 

19.121.7 to ensure that proper regard is had by all Councillors to the 
advice given by officers at the Committee meeting. 

 
THE ROLE OF OFFICERS IN SUPPORTING THE CHAIR 
19.122 The Lead Professional, Legal and the Professional Lead - Planning and 

relevant officers representing them shall provide professional advice to the 
Councillor presiding as Chair of a meeting of the Planning Committee in 
order to assist the Chair in discharging the duties of the post and in 
particular officers shall provide advice as follows: 

 
19.122.1 at pre-Committee meetings so that the Chair and Vice-Chair 

are fully briefed on issues that may arise at meetings; 
19.122.2 at any post-Committee meetings (if relevant); 
19.122.3 during Committee meetings where questions are directed 

towards the Chair for response. 
 
RESPECT FOR OFFICE OF CHAIR 
19.123 All Councillors and officers shall respect the position of Chair. 
 
 
PLANNING 
 
CONDUCT OF OFFICERS 
19.124 Officers who are Chartered Town Planners are guided by the Royal Town 

Planning Institute (RTPI) Code of Professional Conduct.  All officers 
whether members of the Institute or not shall abide by the same principles 
namely they shall:  

 
19.124.1 act with competence, honesty and integrity;  
19.124.2 fearlessly and impartially exercise their independent 

professional judgement to the best of their skill and 
understanding; 

19.124.3 discharge their duty to their employers, clients, colleagues and 
others with due care and diligence in accordance with the 
provisions of this Planning Code of Conduct; 

19.124.4 Shall not bring the profession or the Royal Town Planning 
Institute into disrepute; 

19.124.5 not disclose or use to the advantage of themselves or the 
Authority information acquired in confidence in the course of 
their work; 

19.124.6 decline any discounts, gifts or commissions offered by any 
third parties in connection with their work as professional 
planners. 

 
19.125 Any officer supporting or advising the Planning Committee if they have a 

personal and prejudicial interest relating to an application being 
considered, should disclose the interest at the meeting and leave the 
room whilst the application is being considered. 

 
RELATIONSHIPS BETWEEN COUNCILLORS AND OFFICERS 

Page 158



SECTION 19 – PLANNING PROTOCOL 
 

 
Version 56 – Effective from 16 December 202115 October, 2020 

 

Section 19 – Page 41 

19.126 In order to engender a committed professional relationship between both 
planning officers and Councillors each shall have respect and regard for 
the roles both play within the decision making process.  Councillors and 
officers have different, but complementary, roles.  Both serve the public but 
Councillors are responsible to the electorate, while officers are responsible 
to the Council as a whole.  Officers must act in accordance with their 
professional codes of conduct.  As a result, planning officers’ views, 
opinions and recommendations will be presented on the basis of their 
overriding obligation of professional independence, which occasionally 
may be at odds with the views, opinions or decisions of the Committee or 
its members. Officers should also have regard to, and comply with the 
Protocol on Member / Officer Relations (Council Constitution Section 21). 

 
REPORTS AND PRESENTATIONS TO THE PLANNING COMMITTEE 
19.127 The report by the Professional Lead - Planning to the Planning Committee 

in relation to a Planning Application shall:   
 

19.127.1 be a report based on the professional judgement of planning 
officers;  

19.127.2 include the observations, recommendations and comments of 
consultees, Objectors and others including other departments 
of the Council; 

19.127.3 be supported by the use of still photographs, video etc., to 
assist Councillors in determining that application (i.e. to provide 
a balanced view of the site, including a 360˚ view of the site, 
contours and topography) which shall specifically include 
points and issues raised by the Councillor for the electoral 
division concerned and address and deal with the 
observations, recommendations, comments of other 
departments of the Council. 

 
19.128 Recommendations in such report may not always accord with the views 

and opinions of individuals, groups, statutory consultees etc.  However, the 
report will always follow this Protocol.  A Councillor acting as a Decision 
Maker shall respect the advice given by planning officers at the Committee 
or when dealing with delegated applications and shall not lobby, seek to 
influence, or bring pressure to bear on a planning officer for a particular 
recommendation or decision.   

 
PRE-APPLICATION AND PRE-DETERMINATION DISCUSSIONS BY OFFICERS 
WITH APPLICANTS ETC 
19.129 In any discussions involving the Professional Lead - Planning or a member 

of their department regarding proposed development or other planning 
issues, it shall always be made clear at the outset, that such discussions 
shall not bind the local planning authority to make a particular decision, 
and that any views expressed are based on the officers’ provisional 
professional judgement but do not commit the local planning authority to 
any particular decision. 

19.130 Any advice given by the Professional Lead - Planning or a member of their 
department shall be consistent and based upon the Development Plan and 

Page 159



SECTION 19 – PLANNING PROTOCOL 
 

 
Version 56 – Effective from 16 December 202115 October, 2020 

 

Section 19 – Page 42 

other material considerations.  Furthermore any advice given shall be 
impartial; the best that the officer can give in the circumstances and shall 
highlight any apparent problems and where appropriate discuss possible 
options that may be open to the developer or other party to the 
discussions. 

 
PUBLIC MEETINGS RELATING TO DEVELOPMENT PROPOSALS 
19.131 Officers involved in the processing or determining of planning applications 

or planning matters should not attend public meetings in connection with 
development proposals or submitted planning applications, unless their 
attendance has been authorised by the Monitoring Officer.  In some 
situations, attendance by officers at such meetings could lead to 
allegations of bias or prejudice in relation to a particular point of view.  If 
authorised to attend such meetings officers should take great care to 
maintain impartiality, concentrate on providing factual information, listen to 
comments and avoid giving views on the merits or otherwise of the 
proposal.  

 
GIFTS AND HOSPITALITY 
19.132 Officers during the course of carrying out their duties may be offered 

hospitality from people with an interest in a planning proposal.  Officers 
should refuse offers of gifts and hospitality in accordance with the Council’s 
policy.  Officers must record any offers of hospitality refused in a register to 
be kept by the Professional Lead - Planning.  

 
RECORD KEEPING 
19.133 Every planning file (including one relating to an enforcement matter) shall 

contain an accurate account of events throughout its life including minutes 
and notes of meetings of all descriptions.  Where appropriate, the case 
officer shall visit each site to which the file relates and a record shall be 
maintained on file. Managers and team leaders within Planning will 
undertake monitoring of record keeping on a regular basis. 

 
 
DECISION MAKING BY THE PROFESSIONAL LEAD - PLANNING 
19.134 Section 13 (Responsibility for Functions) stipulates those Planning 

Functions which are the responsibility of the Professional Lead - Planning. 
 
DELEGATED DECISION MAKING 
19.135 In determining Planning Applications under the delegated powers the 

Professional Lead - Planning shall have regard to:  
 

19.135.1 the Planning Committee Determination Principles; and 
19.135.2 the necessity of ensuring that Councillors are made aware of 

such Planning Applications which relate or affect their electoral 
division; 

 
19.135.2.1 when submitted; and 
19.135.2.2 when approved or refused (together with the 

officer’s report).   

Page 160



SECTION 19 – PLANNING PROTOCOL 
 

 
Version 56 – Effective from 16 December 202115 October, 2020 

 

Section 19 – Page 43 

 
19.13353 the requirement for the relevant line manager to countersign 

case officer reports on delegated decisions. 
 
19.136 Where the Professional Lead – Planning has a conflict of interest in 

relation to a planning application to be determined under the Scheme of 
Delegation, determination of that application will be taken by 2 Principal 
Planning Officers in his / her place. 

 
PLANNING APPLICATIONS SUBMITTED BY OFFICERS 
19.137 Proposals for development by officers of Planning and their relatives and 

close friends can easily give rise to suspicions of impropriety.  It is vital that 
they are handled in a way that gives no grounds for accusations of 
favouritism. 

19.138 Any member of staff within Planning shall not prepare plans or act as 
Agent for any person or body (including themselves, members of their own 
family) pursuing a planning application or planning matter with the Council. 
If such an officer submits their own application, they shall take no part in 
the processing of that application and shall appoint an Agent or 
Representative.  Such proposals shall be reported to the Planning 
Committee for consideration and determination. The Solicitor to the 
Planning Committee must confirm that these requirements have been 
complied with. 

19.139 A Planning Application by an officer within Planning must be processed by 
an officer under different line management  

19.140 A Planning Application submitted to the Council by an officer within the 
Senior Leadership Team or any other officer who has regular contact with 
Planning in the planning process shall be determined by the Planning 
Committee. In the event of any doubt the matter shall be determined by the 
Solicitor to the Planning Committee in consultation with the Chair and Vice-
Chair of the Planning Committee. 

19.141 Any officer who is related to a Member, when submitting a planning 
application should refer to Rule 19.86. 

19.142 An officer (not within Planning) shall not prepare plans or act as Agent for 
any person or body other than themselves or close members of their family 
(i.e. spouses, partners, parents, grandparents, children, brothers or 
sisters). 

 
 
PLANNING APPEALS  
 
PROCEDURE FOR DEALING WITH APPEALS  
19.143 The Lead Professional, Legal is responsible for determining who should 

present a case at appeal / examinations and which witnesses should be 
called on behalf of the planning authority and generally for the care and 
conduct of the Appeal or hearing.  

19.144 Officers of Legal and Planning will organise the Council’s case and 
generally the latter will appear as witnesses at planning inquiries and other 
proceedings on behalf of the Council.  In some circumstances it may be 

Page 161



SECTION 19 – PLANNING PROTOCOL 
 

 
Version 56 – Effective from 16 December 202115 October, 2020 

 

Section 19 – Page 44 

necessary to appoint consultants to appear for the Council, particularly 
where specialist support is necessary. 

19.145 In giving evidence Planning officers will present the best possible case on 
behalf of the Council whilst also complying with the RTPI Code of 
Professional Conduct. 

19.146 Where a Planning Committee decision contrary to officer recommendation 
is subject to an appeal and officers have previously made known to the 
Planning Committee that they are unable to defend such decisions, the 
Professional Lead - Planning shall report notice of the appeal to the next 
planning meeting of the Planning Committee.   

19.147 Where a Planning Committee decision contrary to the recommendation of 
the Professional Lead - Planning is the subject of an appeal and officers 
have previously made known to the Committee that they are unable to 
defend such decisions, members of the Planning Committee who 
supported the decision may be called to present evidence at the appeal if 
deemed necessary by the Lead Professional, Legal. Councillors shall be 
provided with support in preparing their submissions for an Inquiry by the 
Council’s own officers or by consultants. The Lead Professional, Legal 
shall provide a level of professional support for Councillors who are 
required to present an appeal to a Planning Inquiry. 

19.148 The Professional Lead - Planning shall regularly report on appeal decisions  
19.149 The Professional Lead - Planning will advise the Planning Committee of 

the outcome of enforcement appeal decisions. 
 
TRAINING 
 
TRAINING OF PLANNING COMMITTEE COUNCILLORS 
19.150 The Council shall ensure that members of the Planning Committee 

satisfactorily complete Induction Training before first serving on the 
Planning Committee and undertake from time to time additional / refresher 
training in accordance with a training programme agreed by the Council. 

19.151 Attendance records for planning training events shall be monitored. A 
Member who fails to attend the training sessions shall not be permitted to 
sit on the Planning Committee, until such training has been completed. A 
new member of the Council shall undertake a training session before they 
are permitted to sit on the Planning Committee. 

 
TRAINING OF OTHER COUNCILLORS 
19.152 Appropriate training for Councillors who do not sit on the Planning 

Committee will be arranged at regular intervals so as to enable them to 
properly discharge the role of Local Representative. 

 
 
REVIEW OF DECISIONS 
19.153 Visits to application sites previously considered by the Council shall be 

organised in tandem with visits to current application sites, as appropriate.  
Briefing notes shall be prepared in each case. 

19.154 Attendance at the review site visits shall be restricted to Members of the 
Committee. 

 

Page 162


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the previous meeting
	4 Planning applications for consideration by the Committee
	4.2 20/1314/FUL Land at Brynygroes Farm, Ystradgynlais, SA9 1LF
	20.1314.FUL Location Plan

	4.3 21/1399/FUL Station House, Talerddig, Llanbrynmair, Powys, SY19 7AL
	21.1399.FUL Location Plan

	5 Decisions of the Head of Property, Planning and Public Protection on Delegated Applications
	6 Planning Protocol

